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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS.

This report and the documents incorporated by eefar herein contain “forward-lookingtatements within the meaning of Section 27
the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchakgethat are based on managemsmtssumptions, expectations and projections atsywng th
industry within which we operatdhat have been made pursuant to the Private Sesuliftigation Reform Act of 1995 which reflect «
expectations regarding our future growth, resulteperations, performance and business prospedtpportunities. Wherever possible, wc
such as “anticipate”, “believe”, “continue”, “estate”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “potential’, “predit’, “expect”, “should”, “will” and simila
expressions, or the negative of these terms or ammparable terminology, have been used to idetitiése forwardeoking statements. The
forward-looking statements may also use differenthrapes. These statements regarding our expedatioeflect ou
current beliefs and are based on informatiarrently available to us. Accordingly, thedatesments by their nature are subject to risks
uncertainties, including those listed under ItemRi&k Factors, which could cause our actual growghults, performance and business pros
and opportunities to differ from those expressedan implied by, these statements. We may notadigtiachieve the plans, intentions
expectations disclosed in our forward-looking stegats and you should not place undue reliance offiooward{ooking statements. Actual rest
or events could differ materially from the planstentions and expectations disclosed in the ford@oling statements we make. Excep
otherwise required by federal securities lavg ave not obligated to update or revise eliesvardiooking statements to reflect new event
circumstances. We caution you that a variety ofdies, including but not limited to the factors ddised below under Item 1A Risk Factors anc
following, could cause our business conditions masdilts to differ materially from what is containedorward-looking statements:

- changes in the rate of economic growth in the Wn8&ates and other maj
international economies;
- changes in investment by the nuclear and fossitrdeutility industry, the chemical and petrochealiindustries and the U.S. milita
- changes in the financial condition of our custom
- changes in regulatory environme
- changes in project design or schedu
- contract cancellation:
- changes in our estimates of costs to complete @s
- changes in trade, monetary and fiscal policies dvade;
- currency fluctuations
- war and/or terrorist attacks on facilities eithemed or where equipment or services are or maydaded;
- outcomes of future litigatior
- protection and validity of our trademarks and otingllectual property righte
- increasing competition by foreign and domestic canigs;
- compliance with our debt covenar
- recoverability of claims against our customers atters; anc
- changes in estimates used in our critical accogrgoiicies.

Other factors and assumptions not identified abo®ee also involved in the formation of these foravkroking statements and the fail
of such other assumptions to be realized, as getither factors, may also cause actual resultsffeer dnaterially from those projected. Most
these factors are difficult to predict accuratehd are generally beyond our control. You shouldsater the areas of risk described abov
connection with any forward-looking statements thady be made by us. You should not place unduanedi on any forwartboking
statements. New factors emerge from time to tame, it is not possible for us to predict which fastwill arise.




We undertake no obligation to publicly update aopnardiooking statements, whether as a result of newrinétion, future events
otherwise. You are advised, however, to consyltaatditional disclosures we make in proxy states\equarterly reports on Form ID-and currer
reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC.

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

GSE Systems, Inc. (“GSE Systems”, “GSE”, the “Comya‘“our”, “we” or “us”), a Delaware corporation organized in March 1994
world leader in reatime, high fidelity simulation. The Company prog& simulation, educational, and engineering saistiand services to t
nuclear and fossil electric utility industry ane tthemical and petrochemical industries. As ofdbswer 31, 2011, GSE was the parent compar

GSE Power Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation;

GSE Power Systems, AB, a Swedish corporation;

GSE Engineering Systems (Beijing) Co. Ltd., a Ch@kmited liability company;
GSE Systems, Ltd., a Scottish limited liability quany;

TAS Engineering Consultants Ltd., an English limit@bility company.

GSE EnVision, Inc., a New Jersey corporation; and

EnVision Systems (India) Pvt. Ltd., an Indian liedtliability company.

> S 6 6 O oo

The Company has a 49% minority interest in Q8-S Simulation Technology Co., Ltd. a Chinese tedi liability company and has
10% minority interest in Emirates Simulation Acadetl. C (“ESA”), a United Arab Emirates limited liability companyhe Company has or
one reportable segment.

The Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, quarteglyorts on Form 10-Q, current reports on ForK &nd all amendments to the
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 18fal5(d) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78m(ay8o(d) will be made available free of che
through the Investor Relations section of the Camim Internet website (http://www.gses.com) as soorprasticable after such materia
electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEG addition, the public may read and copy anyemals we file with the SEC at the SEPublic
Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington2@8219. The public may obtain information on thempion of the Public Reference Roon
calling the SEC at 1-800-SE@330. The SEC maintains an Internet site thatasostreports, proxy and information statements, atitd|
information regarding issuers that file electroflicvith the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.




Recent Developments.

The continued dramatic increase in global energyatal is well documented and, we believe, will cwnti to grow for decades
come. Today there are some 435 nuclear poweramsagperating in 30 countries plus Taiwan; in 28H&se provided about 14% of the wosld’
electricity. Per the World Nuclear Associationerh are currently 60 power reactors under constru¢h 13 countries and Taiwan, plus ano
163 reactors on order or planned in 28 countriesstrof these being in Asia. According to the Wdxdclear Association, 50 countries with
current nuclear power capability have announcedidenations to add nuclear energy to their poweegdion capabilities (15 in the Middle E
and North Africa, 14 in Asia-Pacific, 6 in Africa2 in Europe, and 3 in South America). In the Uti® Nuclear Regulatory Commission (“NRC”
is actively reviewing 13 combined construction apmkrating license applications for 21 nuclear powactors. On February 9, 2012, the M
approved plans to build the first new nuclear popkant in the U.S in more than 30 years. The néamtpwill use AP1000 reactors built
Westinghouse Electric, a standardized design apprdy the NRC in December 2011. Each new plaiitbei required to have a full scc
simulator ready for operator training and certifica about two years prior to fuel loading. Withrdeading market share, excellent reputation
world-class technology, GSE is poised to capitatizehe world-wide nuclear energy growth by prowgltraining and simulation solutions.

On September 21, 2011 the Company announced thas ibeen selected to provide a real-time, figglity engineering simulator for tl
B&W mPower™ Small Modular Reactor (SMR) design. ®aaulator will be used as a platform for validatiof plant system designs and
development of control and logic strategies, amdesas a key part of the human factors enginegningram. Generation mPower LLC is work
to fully develop and deploy the B&W mPower™ readiechnology. The reactor is a First-okaid (FOAK), scalable, modular, passively s
advanced light water system. The B&W mPower™ ragaistbeing designed to provide 160 MWe of cleampzamissions energy for four years
operation without refueling. The agreement with \B&solidifies the Company’s position as the induskepder in providing higliidelity
engineering simulation for FOAK reactor designse Tlexible platform helps mitigate risk by allowirgstomers to verify and validate systems
processes at the design stage, when changes caademore easily and casffectively than during plant construction. The Gamy and B&V
will work together beyond this initial phase to exg the scope of the simulator and synchronizeutiirout the design process. The Com|
views the application of our higfidelity simulation in the engineering phase asatural, and increasingly necessary, extensiorsaise in existin
nuclear and non-nuclear energy facilities. Thiseagrent represents the Companghgoing efforts to diversify its business modeld leverage tt
Company’s benchmark technical and human assets.

On March 11, 2011 a 9.0 magnitude earthquake abdesuent tsunami occurred along the northeast afa¥apan. The Fukushii
Daiichi | Nuclear Power Plant, which is maintairgdthe Tokyo Electric Power Company (TEPCO), wagpted by a tsunami estimated at 46 1
nearly 2.5 times the height of the 19 foot seawadtecting the plant. The reactors shut down aatmally after the earthquake, with emerge
generators providing power to the facilgyelectronics and cooling systems. However, thadflog was too severe and caused a power failuige
the facility that prevented the cooling systemsrfiworking, thus leading to overheating and a plactiee meltdown.




Most countries with nuclear programs have reaateth¢ Fukushima disaster by announcing the delayeof nuclear plants while th
conduct reviews of their programs. On March 23,22Ghe NRC issued a Temporary Instruction (“Tiéparding a special NRC inspection tc
holders of operating licenses for nuclear reactdise objective of the Tl was to independently asgbe adequacy of actions taken by the
Nuclear licensees in response to the Fukushimaaiuclear accident and was used to evaluatenthestry's readiness for a similar event an
aid in determining additional regulatory actionstbg NRC. In February 2012, the NRC voted to igbaefirst three new rules to deal with sa
issues based on eight changes identified by the’BIRGkushima task force, with implementation expgtiethe end of 2016. The rules, subje
review and commission action, will require all Uriiclear operators to develop plans to deal witheexe situations, such as earthquakes, fl
and other natural disasters that could affect pleltieactors operating at a single site. In addljtadl plants would have to improve instrumente
in the pools used to store spent nuclear fuel aw lto make changes to containment “vesitlictures at plants similar in design to the D
nuclear plant.

In Japan, new Prime Minister, Yoshihiko Noda, spokSeptember 2011, at a meeting on nuclear safetysecurity at the United Natic
General Assembly, of Japantontinuing need for nuclear energy while raigimg safety of nuclear plants to the highest lewét. Noda has als
stated that he is determined to restart the cosnitje reactors by the summer of 2012. At Decem®ie 2011, GSE Swedish subsidiary h
projects in progress in Japan with a backlog 06 $dillion. None of these projects have been delagr affected by the Fukushima disaster.
the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2@V&nue recognized on projects with Japaneseoroess totaled 12.4% and 12.
respectively, of the Company’s consolidated revenue

The German government announced in May 2011 tiet would phase out all of the counsyhuclear power plants by 2022. -
country’s seven oldest reactors, which were taken offimmeafsafety review immediately after the Japaneseschave been permanently shutdc
In the three and twelve months ended December @B1,,2KSG Kraftwerks-simulator Gmbh provided 8.7%d a&2% of the Company’
consolidated revenue. We have been informed by K8, provides training services for the Germanteieatilities and has 13 specific full scc
simulators for 17 German nuclear power plants, tduthe phasing out of the countsyhuclear power plants, that GSE should not amtieign'
additional significant orders for simulator upgradeom KSG beginning in 2012, however, there wél o impact on GSE’current projects.
December 31, 2011, the Company has backlog of appately $1.9 million related to KSG projects.

In early March 2012, the statan China Daily cited Deputy Director of the Comimé of Population, Resources and Environment ¢
CPPCC National Committee, Wang Yugqing, as sayimg the ban on the proposed new atomic energy pthatswvas put in place following t
Fukushima disaster would soon be removed as a eapsive plan on nuclear safety control has belemittied to the State Council.




Previous nuclear accidents have resulted in newlaggns requiring additional operator traininggheér fidelity models and new test
scenarios. Accordingly, as evidenced by the nefetpaules that the NRC has recently voted to issoe the comments in the China Daily,
likely that additional governmental regulations &ed in the aftermath of the Fukushima nucleardsstti will result in the requirement for pl.
modifications and new testing scenarios that effiult in the need for higher simulator fidelitychuas that designed and supplied by GSE. GS
developed PSA-HD™, an engineeriggede nuclear simulation solution that allows ofiens personnel to train for and develop respotsasver
accident scenarios based on the operations ofgpetific facility. PSA-HD’s real-time code can inéegrated with a nuclear plant’s existing full-
scope training simulator and is applicable to altrent nuclear plant designs. PSA-HD can be usedatidate the utilitys severe accide
management guidelines, demonstrate the safetyrofrduplant designs to regulators and stakeholded,identify potential issues with exist
plant design that may require modification. PSB-lcludes high-fidelity models of the plastteactor core, containment structures and spei
pool. The models simulate severe accident comwitishich mirror those that occurred at the Fukushfiatility, such as the release of radioac
materials due to overheating of the core, expostitiee fuel rods in the spent fuel pool, and hyémguild up in the containment building.

In order to meet the world’needs, all forms of energy will play a part, just nuclear power. Per the ExxonMobil 2012 thel@uk for
Energy: A View to 2040, “By 2040 electricity gengoa will account for more than 40% of global enempnsumption. Oil will remain the mos
widely used fuel, but natural gas will grow fasbagh to overtake coal for the numbiem position. For both oil and natural gas, arréasing
share of global supply will come from unconventiosurces, such as those from shale formationsnade for natural gas will rise by more tl
60% through 2040.” For more than three decadeg, &S leveraged the simulation capability that eeetbped for nuclear power for noniclea
projects. Globally we have delivered 121 fossilvpoplant simulators and 96 process full scopestrgsimulators.

According to the U.S. Energy Information Adminisioa, world energy consumption is forecasted taease by 52% from 505 quadrilli
BTU in 2008 to 770 quadrillion BTU in 2035. Newrsumption means new production, which means nemtglaew workers, and an enorm
amount of training to provide a skilled workforc8SE recognized this growing need for energy ingustining several years ago and be
developing various training solutions leveraging tise of our simulation technology. GSE creat&@3amodule, fivesimulator training course tt
was sold to the Emirates Simulation Academy LLCthia UAE, a training academy that was created bl @&d two other partners in 2007.
Company worked with the University of Strathclyde Glasgow, Scotland to incorporate GSE’s simulafitio the Universitys degreed ar
industrial education programs. GSE developed av@ék “Nuclear Operator Jump Start Training Progrdor’ Southern Nuclear Company
Augusta, GA utilizing the Comparg/VPanel™ interactive visual training simulatomeTadvantage of the VPanel™ simulator is its sdéhabnd
ease of configuration for both team and individwaining, plant specific or cross training. Thearie|™ allows customers to utilize their exis
simulator load while bringing many full scope simtar capabilities directly into the classroom fdraction of the cost. The “Operator Jump Start”
program helps customers screen and train new apezandidates. This training program is desigreedrovide essential knowledge and skill
potential nuclear plant operators and to deternfirrandidates have the ability to successfully clatgpthe customes’ own operator licensi
programs. The program includes instruction on &mental sciences (including Generic Fundamentadsrithations “GFES”)plant systems al
operations. Additionally, in 2011 GSE began prowidinstructors to teach Senior Reactor Operat&RQ”) certification training for a maji
southeastern U.S. utility. GSE differentiatedagproach by leveraging its VPari#l technology and generic pressurized water reacteP{W/R")
simulator load to reinforce the instructor-led iag with hands-on exercises.

In order to expand its simulatidrased training programs, on January 4, 2011, GSfired EnVision Systems, Inc., subseque
renamed GSE-EnVision Inc., which provides interatinulti-media tutorials and simulation models, primarilythe petrochemical and oil & ¢
refining industries. EnVisios’ products provide a foundation in process fundaafenas well as plant operations and interactibinis acquisitio
gives GSE a tiered offering when it comes to siitimfa as well as a large library of training coritén multiple languages. GSERVision is
product-oriented business model with signficanttyhler margins than our core business.




A compounding problem is facing the energy indusifyhile experiencing rapid growth requiring nevamis and new workers, |
incumbent industry workforce is aging and facingrdatic turnover. Per the Nuclear Energy Institatepf 2008 nearly 38% of the U.S. nuc
power industry would be eligible to retire by 2018ccording to the Center for Energy Workforce Diepenent, an estimated 46% of the cur
energy industry workforce may need to be replageddi5 due to attrition and retirement. While tla¢a is readily available in the nuclear indu
because it is so heavily regulated, similar demuigis exist in the fossil, oil & gas, chemical goetrochemical industries. While this issue
been looming for some time, the impact has beenesdrat delayed due to the recent global economicntlow. Some employees that w
planning on retiring in the near future saw theiviegs significantly reduced and were forced totpamse their retirements. Accordingly,
Company anticipates that in the near future, eelangmber of employees are likely to retire withishorter time span and the need to find qua
employees to replace them will become an acuteissu

Except for some insightful early adopters, many panies tend to put off spending on training ufi#yt absolutely have to or they ar:
trouble. Often it is viewed as a cost rather tlaninvestment, and aside from travel, it is onehef first things to be cut during econo
downturns. However, the statistics associated néth plant builds and the aging workforce are urat#e, and training will be required to sup
the skilled employees that will be needed to dteffnew plants and replace the retirees. Thergfdren the energy industry recognizes the ne
train, they will want training that is faster andtter than what is traditionally available. Additally, they will have to consider the nature cd
next generation workforce who has grown up withomputer and vast amounts of interactive multime@tandard classroom training will |
provide the efficacy that will be needed nor sgtibk interest level of the new workforce.

In fact, according to the NTL Instituestatistics on learner retention only 5% of infation is retained from lecture, and only 10% f
reading. However, 75% retention is accomplishedmwlearners practice by doing. These statistiggo@t GSES success with the Nucl
Operator Jump Start Training Program at Southerolddém Company, as our design combines traditiomstructorted classroom training wi
structured simulator exercises supporting the qotsdearned. This model is transportable glob@llgnywhere a new energy workforce is needed.

Case studies demonstrate that the inclusion ofdisergaming’technology such as immersive 3D environments cdnce training tim
and improve learning significantly. In fact, theyrRl Canadian Army was able to reduce the cogstaafihg and increase the pass rate of studer
incorporating gaming into the curriculum. Duelte advancement of computer processing power amtigsatechnology, immersive commercii
viable off-theshelf 3D game engines are readily available. Aalddtly, this style of learning also lends itsalfthe next generation workforce, :
as such GSE is investing significantly in 3D viszetion. This investment comes in the form of tetgic hires, investment in technology,
software product development. Through developreéintts already undertaken, GSE’s engineers haa@uered how to link our industigading
high fidelity models to commercially off-th&helf game engines. This enables us to make th&hbte visible, for example seeing the inside o
operating reactor, steam generator, or turbine rgéme Blending the learning strategy by incorpioa 3D visualization interfacing high fidel
real time simulation models will allow GSE to prdeithe energy industry with better, faster, lesstlgdraining ideally suited for the ne
generation workforce. We received our first 3Duaiization order in July 2011 and recognized modegénue from 3D visualization sales
2011. However, we anticipate 3D visualization rexeto scale dramatically over the coming years.




Background.

GSE Systems was formed on March 30, 1994 to cafetelithe simulation and related businesses of $Bribdogies, General Phys
International Engineering & Simulation and EuroSieach separately owned and operated by ManTecmatienal Corporation, GP Stratec
Corporation and Vattenfall AB, respectively.

In December 1997, the Company acquired 100% obthstanding common stock of J.L. Ryan, Inc. (“Rya®’ provider of engineerii
modifications and upgrade services to the powentpdamulation market. The combination of the Comps preexisting technology with tt
technical staff of the acquired Ryan busingsgsitioned the Company to be more competitive fodifications and upgrade service projects w
the nuclear simulation market.




In October 2002, GSE purchased the stock of ManTagtomation Systems (Beijing) Company Ltd, from Mach Internationi
Corp. The Chinese company, which has fifteen eygas, was renamed GSE Systems Engineering (Beffiog)pany Ltd. This acquisition ge
the Company a base in China to pursue and implesigndation projects in that emerging market.

In 2007, the Company formed a subsidiary, GSE 8ysied., in the United Kingdom. The British subaig was established to prov
training solutions to the nuclear power industry.

On April 26, 2010, the Company completed the adtioisof TAS Holdings Ltd (“TAS”). TAS, located iStockton-on¥ees in the Unite
Kingdom, provides engineering consulting, speciadjzin electrical system design, instrumentationl aontrols engineering and automa
engineering. The majority of TAS’s customers residihe petroleum refining, oil and gas, chemiacal @etrochemical industries.

On July 28, 2010, the Company received a formainess license from the Chinese government for thieg3e joint venture, GSBNIS
Simulation Technology Co., Ltd. (“GSE-UNIS”), a lired liability company. GSEJNIS is 51% owned by Beijing UNIS Investment Cadl.
(“UNIS™) and 49% owned by GSE. The largest shareholder MfSUis Tsinghua University, a prestigious technglogniversity ir
China. Established in 1988, UNIS has been actingraincubator company transferring new technofofyiam the Universitys research laboratc
to the commercial sector. The origin of its sintiola platform can be traced back to 1984, a natiemeardwinning technology developed
Tsinghua University. Over the past 20 years, hedsliof simulators have been built based upon ¢kisniblogy for approximately 200 customet
the fossil fueled electric power industry, accongtfor about 50% of the total Chinese fossil fugedver market. Its solid customer base
strong relationships with the academic and govermrsector will help GSEINIS service contracts in both the fossil fueledwasl as nucle:
power markets in the Chinese market.

On January 4, 2011, the Company completed the sitiqni of EnVision Systems, Inc. (“EnVision™acquiring 100% ownership
EnVision for a purchase price of approximately $#ilion in cash and contingent consideration. Eih, which has been renan
GSE EnVision Inc., provides interactive muitiedia tutorials and simulation models, primarily the petrochemical and oil & gas refin
industries. EnVision is headquartered in Madiddh, has an Indian subsidiary based in ChennaiaJraid was founded in 1991. EnVision’
tutorials and simulation models serve the entrgllavaining market for the oil & gas refining angesialty chemicals industries. EnVisien’
products provide a foundation in process fundantemtad plant operations and interaction. EnVigdias completed more than 750 installatior
over 28 countries and its approximately 130 cliemttude Shell Oil Company, BP, Total and Chevron.
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Nuclear and Fossil Fuel Power Simulation.

Industry History

The realtime simulation industry grew from the need tortirpeople on complex and potentially dangerous dipei without placing lif
or capital assets at risk. Rdafe simulation has been used for the traininglahpoperators for the power industry, includingtbouclear powe
plants and conventional fossil fuel power plants.{icoal, oil, and natural gas), since the ea®ly0s. Reatime simulation usage has tradition:
centered on initial training of operators and fafton training of operators in emergency conditiorst ttan best be achieved through simulz
replicating actual plant operations.

In the U.S. nuclear power industry, use of a sitaulthat accurately reflects the current actuahptiesign is mandated by the U.S. Nuc
Regulatory Commission (“NRC")This mandate resulted from the investigation ofabeident at the Three Mile Island nuclear plarit9@9, whicl
was attributed, at least in part, to operator eriidie NRC requires nuclear plant operators to taein licenses through simulator testing. Eac8.
nuclear plant simulator must pass a certificatioogpam to ensure that the initial plant design athdubsequent changes made to the actual
control room or plant operations are accurateljectéd in the simulator. U.S. plant operating niges are tied to simulator certification. O
countries throughout the world look to the NRCdaidance in establishing their local controls faclkear plants.

Full scope power plant simulators are a physicptagentation of the entire plant control room. Blaler plants, the control panels
connected to an input/output (I/O) system, whichvests analog electrical signals to digital signatslerstood by the simulation computer.
newer plants, the control rooms consist mainly igftal control systems and a series of computeeests used by the operator to control
plant. The simulation computer houses the mathiealahodels which simulate the physical performaotéhe power plang systems such as
reactor core, steam boiler, cooling water, steatirie, electrical generator, plant system contaold electrical distribution systems. Partial st
simulators can be viewed as a subset of a full s@mulator. Instead of simulating the entire perfance of the power plant, a partial sc
simulator might represent one or two critical sgstesuch as the steam turbine and/or electricalrgiveoperation.

In the past, training simulators had to strike kcdée balance between providing an accurate ergimg representation of the plant, wl
still operating in “real-time”in order to provide effective training. As commgtipower has increased, so too has the capacisymaflators t
provide more accurate plant representations in-the@ based upon simulation models developed frogineering design codes. The
sophisticated and accurate engineering codes almstomers to use the simulator to help validatatpdiesign, control system strategies, col
system displays, and develop plant operating praesdand training material.

Simulation also is used to validate proposed maoipment changes and to confirm the results di shanges, prior to making the cha
in the plant, which can save time and money, atagaleduce the risk of unsafe designs, for tHiyuti

The importance of nuclear power to the U.S. enexgpply is resulting in the extension of the usdiubs of U.S. nuclear pow
plants. Any service life extension of a nucleawppplant is likely to require major upgrades te thant's equipment and technology, includin
simulator.

Fossil fuel plant simulators are not required by lar regulation, but are justified as a ceffective approach to train operators on
digital control systems being implemented at mawssil fuel power plants. The size, complexity gmite of a fossil plant simulator are mi
lower than for simulators used for nuclear plarEsssil plant simulators have traditionally usediédo fidelity (less sophisticated) mathemati
models to provide an approximate representatiguiaft performance. The demand for highly accunadelels did not exist in the early market
fossil simulators since the main use of the sinmulatas to train operators on the functionality @tgbuted control systems for plant stap-
activities.
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As control system vendors aggressively pursuedepkcement of old style control systems and comgroms with modern digit
control systems ("DCS"), the fossil simulation netrilso changed. Utility customers demanded sitmndas part of the control system upgre
and DCS vendors recognized the value in using sitotd early in the design process. Control stiasegnd equipment set points are validate
the simulator prior to plant start up to ensure dbptrol schemes work properly and the expectedtgarformance is achieved. Performing tl
tests on a high fidelity simulator saves days oekgein the plant start up, thereby reducing cost emsuring quicker revenue generation by
utility.

Industry Future

According to ExxonMobils 2012 The Outlook for Energy, the global demamdefeergy is expected to rise by 30% by 2040 an@0%6 ir
non-OECD countries. Electrical generation will @aat for 40% of global energy consumption.

Viewed as a clean, nazarbon producing source of energy, the public geiwe of nuclear power became more favorable okerpgas
decade. The anticipated renaissance was slowebebgconomic downturn in 2008, yet nuclear consitaovorldwide continued. The natu
disasters that caused the destruction of the FiukasbBaiichi plant in Japan dominated the indusews in 2011. Industry reaction to the event
mixed. Germany decided to phase out of nuclearepdoy 2021. However other countries are continaéguild new nuclear reactors, includ
the U.S. In February 2012, the U.S. NRC issued Gbenbined Operating License for the Vogtle Units 31&AP1000 reactors for South:
Nuclear. The Company is building the simulatorstfmse reactors through Westinghouse Electric GomhLC (“Westinghouse”).

The NRC is evaluating what direction to give thdustry as a result of the events at Fukushima. Qdmpany anticipates the need
U.S. utilities to extend the capabilities of thgiimulators to simulate long lasting events withi@aes electrical system issues, degradation of ky
backup systems and other equipment problems. ditiad, the Company anticipates the need for tiwaé simulation of core damage resulting fi
the lack of available cooling capacity. Enginegroodes used to calculate the safety margins oftplean be used to accurately simulate
damage resulting from extensive reactor fuel damade Company has developed a method to implethese engineering codes in the réale
simulator environment to provide the most accusataulation solution available on the market. PI3BI is the Company'’s redime solution fo
severe accident simulation. PSA-HD will enablditigs to better test, validate and train on Severeident Management Guidelines.

The Company sees the continued construction of meslear plants both domestically and internatignélat will provide significar
opportunities for expansion of the Companyusiness. Westinghouse and its consortium teambar The Shaw Group are under contra
provide two Westinghouse AP1000™ nuclear powertplahthe Vogtle site, located in Burke County @G&ar The new units are expected to b
commercial operation in 2016 and 2017. In additmthe Vogtle plant, the Westinghouse consortismdnstructing two AP1000 nuclear po
plants at SCANA Corporation’s V.C. Summer Nucletati®n in Jenkinsville, S.C.

Internationally, there are currently over 60 nucle@actors under construction in 14 countries. ter World Nuclear Associatir
(“WNA"), China has 13 nuclear power reactors in coencial operation, and 27 under construction. Ckirsam is to have a six fold or mu
increase in nuclear capacity by 2020. In Russigntdarge reactors are under active construcsenen further reactors are then planned to re
some existing plants, and by 2016 ten new reastwosld be operating. Further reactors are platmedid new capacity by 2020. New plants
on the drawing board or under construction in Atgen Canada, Brazil, Bulgaria, Finland, Franceada India, Pakistan, Romania, Slovakia, S
Korea, Taiwan, Ukraine and the United Arab Emirat®sher Middle East and Asia Pacific countriesaatively evaluating the potential for nucl
power.
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The U.S. Department of Energy believes that there meed and a market in the U.S. for Small Modrksictors ("SMRs"), and starte
program in 2011 to advance the licensing and comialezation of SMR designs. The anticipated bdsedi these designs are lower capital ¢
faster construction, scalable power production anbanced safety. Two of the primary SMR desigrees using the Comparg/’simulatiol
technology and engineering expertise to help iretiy design phase of these plants.

Beyond new construction, numerous U.S. and intemnatl utilities are extending the useful life ofeth current assets. These lice
extension processes in the nuclear industry wslliitein significant changes in plant equipment aadtrol room technology. Based upon U.S. I
regulations, each training simulator is requiredeftect all changes that are made in the actualtpthus when changes in plant equipmen
control room technology are made, the nuclear poplants must either upgrade existing simulatorsporchase brand new simulators,
January 2010, The Shaw Group, a major nuclear eaging and construction company, estimated thabu§¥ reactors in the future could be up-
rated to produce more power, creating a $25 billi@arket for plant modifications in the U.S. alone.

A second phenomena affecting the industry is thegagf the nuclear and fossil plant operator woréfowhich will result in the need 1
simulation to train the next generation of planéi@gtors. Per the Nuclear Energy Institute, a00Bxearly 38% of the U.S. nuclear power indt
would be eligible to retire by 2013. Accordingttee Center for Energy Workforce Development, ammeded 46% of the current energy indu
workforce may need to be replaced by 2015 duettiti@t and retirement. Thus, the industry is fheéth an aging workforce at the same time
capacity is needed, thereby placing significantsguee on the industry to find and train the nextegation of operations and maintene
personnel. In their employment outlook for thditigls industry, the Bureau of Labor Statisticsteta‘Because on-thib training is very intensi
in many utilities industry occupations, preparingeav workforce will be one of the industry’s highpsorities during the next decade”.

Therefore, the Company believes that these tréhtt®gy come to fruition in whole or even in pamrtpresent a market opportunity for
real-time simulation, education and training, eeegiting services for new plants and next gener&i@ming products and services.

GSE's Solutions

The Company’s Power Simulation business is a lead¢he development, marketing and support of Higklity, realtime, dynami
simulation software for the electric utility indegt The Company continues to invest in the develapimof sophisticated simulation solution:
address emerging technical and training needs efitlustry. These developments focus on more adhmodeling of reactor and electr
system phenomena, as well as applications thabsuaptomated testing and lifecycle managementasft@nd simulator data.

The sophistication of the Compasyproprietary simulation technology enables the @amy to serve not only the operator training ma
but to support the engineering and plant desigrketarThe Compang’ technology is used for multiple purposes in ptiegign, including creatic
of the initial plant logic and control design priorimplementation by the DCS company; as a tedtfbeequipment sizing assumptions, and tc
the efficacy of the human factors design of thetimmoom screens.
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The Company has also developed integrated traisihgtions which combine the power of the Comparsimulation technology wi
training content to provide turkey training for the power and process industriEsese training programs will help industry bridde ga|
between university level training and real worldpesience through simulation. Recognizing the wamté development challenges facing
power industry, the Company has invested in newlireg platforms based upon 3D visualization andosisrgaming technology. This technoli
has numerous applications from visualizing the demphenomena inside a nuclear reactor to captuhiaegxperience of a subject matter expe
how to maintain key plant equipment. This techggl@ also focused at a new generation of powartplerkers that learn differently and expe
more interactive and technology based deliveryesgstThe result is the Company’s VizSim-3D™ leagnémvironment.

In addition to operator training, the Comyansimulation products and services permit plantexamand operators to simulate
effects of changes in plant configuration and penénce conditions to optimize plant operation. sehteatures allow the Compasycustomers
understand the cost implications of replacing acgief equipment, installing new technology or hoeddiout-ofservice assets. GSE has
developed a suite of tools based on sophisticatgrlsanalysis and simulation techniques to hedgitstomers manage their assets by detern
equipment degradation before it severely impaaatgberformance.

GSE provides both turkey solutions, including simulated hardware andppetary software, to match a specific plant, anstrebte
simulation technology for specific uses throughauplant. Its substantial investment in simulatteshnology has led to the developmen
proprietary software tools. These tools signifitbarreduce the cost and time to implement simutatigolutions and support lorgrm
maintenance. The Company’'s high fidelity, rée simulation technology for power plant fluidhggic and control, electrical systems
associated real-time support software, JADE, islable for use primarily on UNIX, Linux and Windowsomputer platforms. The Compasy
Xtreme tools were designed for the Windows envirentn Both technologies were specifically desigteefrovide user friendly graphic interfa
to the Company’s high fidelity simulator.

Our Power Simulation products include:

+ Java Applications & Development Environment (JADEa Javabased application that provides a window into tineutation instructc
station and takes advantage of the web capabibfidava, allowing customers to access the simukatd run simulation scenarios fr
anywhere they have access to the web. JADE insltidefollowing software modeling too

JFlow™, a modeling tool that generates dynamic modelsléov &nd pressure networks.

JControl™,a modeling tool that generates control logic moftels logic diagrams.

JLogic™,a modeling tool that generates control logic moftelsy schematic diagrams

JElectric™,a modeling tool that generates electric system msddam schematic and one-line diagrams.

JTopmere®, a modeling tool that generates two phase netwonlahjc models

JDesigner™a JADE based intuitive graphic editor for all JARI®Is.

JStation™ a JADE based web-enabled Instructor Station.

* & & 6 6 o
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Xtreme Tools™a suite of software modeling tools developed urigdemMicrosoft Windows environment. It includes:
+ Xtreme Flow™, a modeling tool that generates dynamic models fox #md pressure networks.

+ Xtreme Control™a modeling tool that generates control logic modedsnflogic diagrams.

+ Xtreme Logic™a modeling tool that generates control logic moétels1 schematic diagrams.

+ Xtreme Electric™, a modeling tool that generates electric systerdaisadrom schematic and one-line diagrams.

RELAP:-HD ® , a realtime version of the safety analysis code RELAPS etleped by the Idaho National Laboratory.
Companys High Definition version of RELAP5 R/T enables thregineers to understand and control all of theri@l functions ¢
RELAP5, making this solution unique in the marl

PS/-HD ™ | a realtime environment for running the Electric Power &ash Institute's (EPRI) MAAP 5.0 severe accidemdlysis
code. The MAAP 5.0 code is used by safety analgsigineers to estimate the effects of core damagbeyond design ba
scenarios. PSAID provides an integrated simulator environmeat tfives engineers and operators a view of theeeplant response
severe accident events and allows for validatiothefplant's Severe Accident Management Guidel

SimExec®andOpenSinT™, real-time simulation executive systems that coratbieal-time simulation activities and allow fan offdine
software development environment in parallel wikle ttraining environment. OpenSim targeted for users of Microsoft Windc
operating systems, while SimExec is targeted fersusf Microsoft Windows, UNIX and Linux operatisgstems

SmartTutor™ | complementary software for instructor statiotisprovides new capabilities to help improve tramimethodologies a
productivity. Using Microsoft Smart Tag technoleogymartTutor allows the control of the simulatoftware directly from Microso
Office products. The user can run training scemsadirectly from a Microsoft Word document, or lenlot and show transients |
within a Microsoft PowerPoint slids

SmartTools™, are a suite of tools that assist the simulator teaeance staff in automatically testing and documgrthe performance
the simulator against baseline data to ensureithelator continues to perform correctly. The toaisre specifically designed to supg
the Scenario Based Testing requirements of the ANNS 3.5 2009 standard being adopted by the nuabelaistry.

Xtreme 1/S™, a Microsoft Windows based Instructor Station #&dws the use of Microsoft Word and PowerPointaatrol the reatime
simulation environment. Xtreme 1/S is a user-frignobol for classroom training and electronic repgeneration. It provides retine
plant performance directly from the simulator dgrialassroom training, which drastically increasssming efficiency

Pegasus Surveillance and Diagnosis Syste, a software package for semitomatic plant surveillance and diagnostics, ipooate
sophisticated signal processing and simulation rigeles to help operators evaluate the condition @ediormance of pla
components. Pegasus permits plant managemergntfiddegraded performance and replace compoheftse they fail

SIMON™ | a computer workstation system used for monitostapility of boiling water reactor plants. SIMONs#sts the operator
determining potential instability events, enablawgrective action to be taken to prevent unnecggdant shutdowns
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+ VPanel™, an interactive visual training solution. Forstamers that already have a full scope ANS 3.5if@ettsimulator, the VPan
provides a second hardware platform that will foe ASN 3.5 Simulator software model at a fractibthe cost of building a second 1
scope simulator. The VPanel Simulator providesstmae fidelity of operation as their existing siatat but the VPanel offers portabi
and versatility at a very affordable price. Alltbk features and functions of the full scope ANSSimulator are duplicated in the VPe
simulator but the VPanel can be used in a classieiting or as a second simulator to alleviate n@rthe time pressures our custon
are experiencing with their current simulators.r Rations considering entry into the nuclear poimdustry the VPanel is the ideal too
help build a base of experienced nuclear workeheeat a university or industrial training fagjlit Since the VPanel uses a software
from an ANS 3.5 Certified simulator it will accuedy reflect the operations and response of an tipgrauclear power plant. The VPa
provides nations entering the nuclear power inglusith realistic hands on experience of the operatf a nuclear facility long befc
they begin construction on their facilitie

The Power Simulation business also provides cdngulend engineering services to help users plarsigde implement, ar
manage/support simulation and control systems.i@minclude application engineering, project mamagnt, training, site services, mainten:
contracts and repairs.

Strategy

The goal of the Power Simulation business is taiseithe needs of the industry at the interseatioam growing global demand for ene
and reduction in qualified energy operations preifasals. This will take place on three fronts:

+ Continue serving its traditional customer baselding new full scope simulators for newly constedtiplants, and upgrading technol
and services within the installed ba

+ Combine its simulation capability with training ¢ent and new visualization technology to provideltg integrated training solutions
the new workforce

+ Expand the use of high fidelity simulation beyonairting to help with plant design, control systeesidn and verification, and cont
room human factors desig

Traditional Simulation Market. Nuclear power currently accounts for about 20%heftotal electrical output in the United States tnig
percentage will likely remain the same even asl ttapacity increases. Any new nuclear power plavite electric output greater than 1,(
megawatts will likely be of the advanced reactosigles created by Westinghouse, General Electric/megta. These new designs require
simulators and training programs, as they are wiffefrom the nuclear power plant designs curreintlpperation. Additionally, the market
Small Modular Reactors, for plants producing 45 aveafts —200 megawatts will require new simulators and trgjnprograms for the sar
reasons. In addition to new power plants, existinglear power plants will likely be required torr@in onfine for a longer period than origina
expected. In order to stay in operation, many tglavill require life extension modifications. Senoearly all existing U.S. nuclear power pli
went ontine before 1979, their designs and technologyatao benefit from the substantial advances in plastgn and technology developed «
the past 30 years. For example, several of thepaags U.S. utility customers have been replacing tbgisting hard panel control rooms w
modern distributed control systems (DCS) as arencom in fossil fuel plants and which have been immated in Europe for seve
years. Significant changes to control room ins&ntation and overall control strategy from hardgban DCS generally require modification
replacement of the plant simulator. With the latgestalled base of nuclear plant simulators i World, the Company believes it is uniqt
positioned to serve this market segment with nemukition products and services. GSE has receiegdral projects in the last few years
implementing digital turbine control systems in Up&ants.
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As plants extend their useful life, many plan tg-hate” the existing capacity to increase electrical yiely. changing the capacity
certain equipment in a plant, the utility can gapwards of a 10945% increase in output. Again, any such changest bureflected in the cont
room simulator, and operators must be trained em#w equipment before implementation.

In addition to the United States markets, sevararging regions of the world are expanding thedctlcal capacity with both nuclear ¢
fossil fuel power plants. This is particularly tb&se in China and India.

Education and Training One of the most effective ways for adults tordeand retain knowledge is through experientiatrigsay, o
learning by doing. The Company continues to dgveimulation products and learning materials thgttly couple experiencing plant operati
through the use of a simulator, in a variety offéag environments. For example, increased trgimgguirements and demands for perform
improvement have resulted in simulator trainingetibecoming scarce. By providing the actual trgréimulator models in a classroom seti
through VPanel solutions, the value of the simulégdncreased by allowing more personnel the ingiradvantages of interactive, dynamic real-
time simulation. Traditionally the plant contralam simulator asset was primarily used by the ptpdrating staff. These portable simula
devices are being used by nwaditional simulator users to become familiar witant operations, practice scenarios prior to @n@ntation in tr
plant, and for other system familiarization andigta by various departments throughout the utility.

Beyond traditional simulator applications are tt@rpanys VizSim 3D products which merge high fidelity silation with serious gamir
and visualization. The benefits of this combinpgraach are:

Allows for situated learning

Combines high engagement and powerful content

Triggers profound reflections

Permits a rapid understanding of complex envirortmen

Shows how actions affect context

Avoids repetitiveness and boredom associate waitittonal earning methods

> & 6 O o o

Engineering Simulation. The resurgence of the nuclear industry has producaady new nuclear designs, resulting in more iigeit
control rooms and more complex digital control aafbty systems. In addition to new nuclear “Fifs&&Kind” (FOAK) plant design, new types
energy plants such as Integrated Gasification CoetbiCycle plants integrate chemical and power geioer technologies through a variety
control platforms. A reafime, dynamic simulator supports the design ofpfaat in a way that was not available for the poesigeneration of pla
design.

The simulator becomes a tool to: (1) reduce prajektduring the design process, (2) provide arlimable platform for demonstrating
new design to regulators, customers and stakelsylderd (3) train operators for licensing prioptant commissioning.
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Building a simulator when the design is not completesents significant challenges. The Compaaplis to accomplish the task bece
its staff of senior engineers have modeled up to &0 different power plants in both nuclear and-naclear power generation. This gives
Company the ability to create workable interim siols until the plant design is finalized. The keythe Companyg success with this is its lal
engineering team experienced in nuclear power glasign and operation. Also, the high fidelity miaue products which are necessary to
possible the development of accurate models basetksign data giving the plant designer the confidethat the simulator truly represents
performance of the future plant.

Optimize Existing Engineering Resource&SES Power domestic service organization focuses ioilator upgrades and retrofits.
addition to domestic resources, GSE has developerdveork of trained engineers in Russia, Ukraineeesh Republic, Bulgaria, and China. Tt
foreign resources provide low cost engineering software development capabilities and are readibilable to supplement the United Sti
engineering staff as necessary.

Strategic Alliances

GSE's strategic alliances have enabled the Compangenetrate regions outside the United Statescdambining the Company’
technological expertise with the regional preseaid knowledge of local market participants. Thsisategic alliances have also permitted
reduction of research and development and marketists by sharing such costs with other companies.

In recent years, a significant amount of the Corgpginternational business has come from contractastern Europe, including f
republics of the former Soviet Union, and the Radiim. In order to acquire and perform these @mis, the Company entered into strat
alliances with various entities including: All Rims Research Institute for Nuclear Power Plant @y@n (Russia); Kurchatov Institute (Russ
Risk Engineering Ltd. (Bulgaria); Samsung ElectesnfKorea); Toyo Engineering Corporation (Japari}j® (China) and Westinghouse Elec
Company LLC (U.S)).

Competition

The Power Simulation business encounters intensgetition. In the nuclear simulation market, G®npetes directly with larger firr
primarily from Canada and France, such as L-3 MARRS, a subsidiary of 13 Communications, CORYS T.E.S.S and Western Ses
Corp. The fossil simulation market is represerttgdsmaller companies in the U.S. and overseaser8ewof the Compang’ competitors ha
greater capital and other resources than it hafyding, among other advantages, more personnebesater marketing, financial, technical
research and development capabilities. Customexhpsing decisions are generally based upon phieequality of the technology, experienc
related projects, and the financial stability of Supplier.

Customers

The Power Simulation business has provided apprateiy 200 simulation systems to an installed bdseer 75 customers worldwide.
2011, approximately 66% of the Compasmyevenue was generated from end users outsidgriied States. Customers include, among ot
ABB Inc., American Electric Power, Bernische Kraffilke AG (Switzerland), British Energy Generatiod.L{UK), Comision Federal 1
Electricidad (Mexico), Concern Tita®d{Russia), Emerson Process Management, GeorgiarPdtirnkraftsakerhet och Utbildning AB (Swed
Kraftwerks-SimulatoiGesellschaft mbH (Germany), Nuclear Engineering L{dapan), PSEG Nuclear, Inc., Slovenské elektraras
(Slovakia), and Westinghouse Electric Co.
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The following Power Simulation customers have piledi more than 10% of the Company’s consolidateedma® for the indicated periods:

Years ended December

2011 2010 2009
Slovenské elektrarne, a 10.0% 22.0% 13.5%
Emerson Process Managem 6.8% 11.1% 12.1%
Titan-2 Concerr 0.6% 5.0% 10.7%

Sales and Marketing

The Company markets its Power Simulation produots services through a network of direct sales stdents and representati
systems integrators and strategic alliance partridesketoriented business and customer development teaffirse dend implement speci
campaigns to pursue opportunities in the power gtpléce.

The Company’s ability to support its muléeility, international and/or multinational Pow8mulation clients is facilitated by its netw:
of offices and strategic partners in the U.S. avelrseas. Power Simulation offices are maintainddanyland and Georgia, and outside the U.<
Sweden, China and the United Kingdom. In additiorthe offices located overseas, the Compamapility to conduct international busines
enhanced by its multilingual and multicultural wdidrce. GSE has strategic relationships with systémegrators and agents representin
interests in the Czech Republic, Bulgaria, Japaexitb, Peoples Republic of China, South Africa, South Korea,weai, Ukraine and the Unit
Kingdom.

Il. Process Industries.
Industry

Throughout the process industries there is contgnebmpetitive pressure, reduction of technicabueses, and an aging workforce wr
is forcing process manufacturers to turn to advdrteehnologies for realme optimization, training, and advanced processtrol. Operation:i
efficiency is vital for companies to remain compeé where many of the manufacturing industriesrafgeon very thin margins. In addition,
process industries are facing increasing safetydstas via legislation and national and internaiatandards and codes of practice. The Gt
Mexico oil spill disaster in 2010 raised the puldiawareness of the financial, environmental andtgassues associated with human oper:
errors and this has added pressure to the praugsstiies to ensure that their operators are frdiymed and that safety issues are addressed.

The Future

The process industries such as oil refining, arecisfty chemicals have long relied on steady ssateulation for plant design a
optimization. The trend going forward is to levggahe investment in steadyate models into a dynamic simulation environmbat can be us:
both in the design process and for operator trginlihe industry phrase is multipurpose dynamic &timn. Equally important are the same e
issues that are facing other sectors of the eniedypstry and manufacturing in general, and thalhésaging workforce. Compounding the prok
for the process industries versus the nuclear ingissthe lack of regulation surrounding operajoalifications and training.
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The Company sees the same opportunity to proviggiated simulation and training solutions to thecpss industries as it does for
power generation industry. In addition to planéigting personnel the supporting engineering antralsystem suppliers face the same challe
as subject matter experts retire and the next génarof workers has little practical experiencgtoalong with their formal education.

GSE'’s Solutions

The acquisitions of TAS Engineering Consultants. L{fTAS") and and EnVision Systems, Inc. ("EnVisipncombined with th
Companys traditional simulation capabilities, combine tifeo the full spectrum of training, simulation aedgineering solutions. GSE off
interactive multimedia tutorials and simulation retedfor teaching the fundamentals of various refirend petrochemical plant operations, dyn:
realtime simulation capabilities for process operataming and plant design validation and verificatiand consultancy services for enginee
design and safety regulations compliance.

With the acquisition of EnVision on January 4, 2q&tbsequently renamed GSE EnVision Inc.), GSE affers a full range of trainir
products for the oil & gas, refining, petrochemieald specialty chemicals industry. The EnVisioitesof products provides Computer Ba
Tutorials and Process Specific Simulation Modelptovide a sound fundamental knowledge of key mses and equipments. These proc
support both self-paced and instructor led leareimgronments. Each product fits a specific psgpand phase of the training cycle.

In 2010 GSE introduced JPro™ simulation softwarettie process industries, an upgraded versionrafS8ite Pro™. JPro consists of
integrated software suite which can build, test aumd simulation models, dynamically and in realdinThese models are used for proces:
control system design, process scale up and ei@y&ngineering study, advanced process contiblogrerator training. The models can be |
alone or connected to virtually any control systelRro provides an easier to use interface to #meeshighly sophisticated model build
environment of SimSuite Pro. JPro uses the sameseface as GSE’ JADE tool suite, thereby making it easier fortomeers of integrate
gasification and combined cycle and other plaras thquire a combination of chemical plant and paplent modeling capabilities.

TAS Engineering Consultants Ltd. is a leading $iepfin the UK of engineering consultancy servigdsch satisfy many of the needs
high availability, high hazard industries typifieg a requirement to register under Control of Mdj@zard Accident (COMAH) legislation in t
United Kingdom. TAS’s key engineering consultanéfgiings include:

¢ Arc flash hazard studies,

+ Electrical safety management,

+ Functional safety (IEC 61508) support,

+ Potentially explosive atmosphere support,

+ Alarm management, and

+ Preventative maintenance procedures incorporatinggh factors.
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Building on client relationships developed in thievision of specialist consultancy, TAS seeks teeliep long term relationships basec
support in electrical, instrumentation, control @udomation projects, electrical switchgear replaeat and new automation systems.

In 2011, with the support of GSE UK, GSR&S continued to make good progress. The compasybkan delivering Arc Flash stuc
across 23 sites in Europe, the Middle East anccAfiiom the $600,000 contract secured in 2010, fagiobal tooling, engineered components
advanced materials supplier. The remaining fa@ssin Europe are scheduled for completion in 20IRe Company expects to undertake stt
for the same organization in 2012 across their\&ailities and is developing relationships wither major companies for similar services. Du
2011 the GSH-AS subsidiary secured a contract in excess of $®U0from a major global engineering company indhe@nd gas market to as:
them in the delivery of a major North Sea oil pobjby providing expertise in electrical and instentation engineering. This work commer
in December 2011 and is expected to complete n2nd 2.

T he GSE culture and expertise is one of customizefqt execution and delivery. This marketplacgcpk a high value on experier
both companywide and for the individuals on the project teas®s,GSE promotes its long history in training sinbig, while also seeking n
applications.

Strategy

GSE is uniquely positioned in the process simutatitarket to provide the full continuum of trainieglutions which combine compu
base learning, generic and plant specific simuatath the training infrastructure and course matdo enable the customer to truly benefit fi
the simulator investment. The core concepts oégs® simulation make the technology a basis fagrgtbtential process improvement activit
such as Advanced Process Control and Process @atiani, which is where some of the major GSE coitipethas more business focus thar
operator training. GSE will continue to emphasiseoperator training focus and strengths, as wetha application of the process simulatol
change management, where changes in the procedgsylgirategy, or operating procedures can beuetad in real time before they are applie
the actual process units. Gtream time is an important economic factor, amueths recognizable value in avoiding the risk mplanned proce
disturbances from unvalidated changes.

The Company will continue to pursue solutions foneeging market segments such as Fracking, Liquelletlural Gas (LNC
and Integrated Gasification Combined Cycle (“IGC@dwer plants. These new plants produce electrivitye efficiently than traditional pow
plants by first converting existing refinery wastaterials into synthetic gas that is used to poavgas turbine. The gas is then burned to ¢
steam to turn a steam turbine. The unigue natiutieese plants requires expertise both in chenpicatess simulation and power simulation. ¢
is one of the few simulator companies in the warith expertise in both areas.

TAS is well positioned to meet the increasing dednfor specialist support, as recognition of Arcdrlghazards develop in the Uni
Kingdom and Europe. Through cooperation with GIBS is poised to expand into new markets such asofgeu and the Midd
East. Additionally, the opportunity for the closetegration of sales and support activities betw&SE and TAS will allow for cross selli
between GSE and TAS clients. As an example of TAS is now supporting the GSE Sweden office arsldupported GSE Inc. bids in the pror
industry.
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Customers

Hydrocarbon and chemical process customers includegerous large oil refineries and chemical planthss BP (Germany), Statoil A
(Norway), Bayernoil (Germany), Chevron, Emersoncess Management, Saudi Basic Industries Corporéandi Arabia), Shell Oil, Savanr
River Nuclear Solutions, LLC, Total (Belgium), aBdchtel Hanford National Laboratory.

Upstream and downstream oil and gas, chemical raaturfng, power generation and pharmaceutical caiepaepresent the majority of
TAS’s current clients.

Competition

GSE'’s process simulation competitors are a varied grobpre are major corporations offering a wide eanfproducts and services t
include operator training simulators. There amoaompanies focused on process technology andfatming enhancement, such as Inve
and Honeywell who are Distributed Control Systeld@S”) distributors to the refining industry and provideecator simulation as part of th
DCS offering. There is a collection of companiethwpecific industry niches that enables themamgete in operator training simulation, suc
Kongsberg and RSI Simcon. There are also the smiaining companies that compete at the lower ¢teatls of Computer Based Train
(“CBT") or simple simulations close to CBT such&imtronics.

The GSE focus on dynamic simulation for training aesign validation is a business strength, aneeitslor independence, with the ab
to integrate to different vendor’s process conggatems, is also a value which is appreciated Btoaters. GSE can be seen as a bebtadd typ
of supplier because it is not tied to a major cgnglystem, nor is it providing simulation softwdoe engineering and business management
high annual license fees.

Sales and Marketing

The Company will market its Process Simulation tedbgies through a combination of techniques iniclgdts existing direct sal
channel, sales agents, and strategic alliancegrartrSales representatives and partners are doitat&zerbaijan, Bulgaria, China, Egypt, Mexi
Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Malaysia, Romania, Singapdiegiland, UAE, and Vietnam. Relationships devetbpeith typical power plant DC
companies are now expanding to process plant apiolics as the DCS companies target an increaseaiketmshare in the process industries
addition, the acquisition of EnVision Systems pd®& access to a large installed base of compusedtaarning customers that may require |
plant specific simulator solutions.
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Competitive Advantages.
The Company believes that it is in a strong pasitcompete in the Simulation markets based uperfidiiowing strengths:

+ Reputation for Customer SatisfacticAs part of its ISO3000 Quality Program Certification, GSE measuresauer satisfaction acrc
numerous factors such as @ime Delivery, Problem Solving, and Customer Comioation. In each category measured we routi
exceed customer expectatic.

+ Technical and Applications ExpertiseGSE is a leading innovator and developer of-tiea¢ software with more than 38 years
experience producing high fidelity retilre simulators. As a result, the Company has iaedsubstantial applications expertise in
energy and industrial process industries. The Gompemploys a highly educated and experienced matiltinal workforce of 2€
employees, including approximately 189 engineerd secientists. Of the 189 engineers, approximadlyo of these engineers ¢
scientists have advanced science and technicakeegn fields such as chemical, mechanical andtriglgc engineering, appli¢
mathematics and computer sciences, while an additid4% have master degrees, and another 11% haoterate degrees in t
aforementioned field:

+ Proprietary Software Tool. GSE has developed a library of proprietary safeawvtools including autoede generators and sys
models that substantially facilitate and expedhie tesign, production and integration, testing ameHification of software ar
systems. These tools are used to automaticallgrgenthe computer code and systems models redoiregecific functions commor
used in simulation applications, thereby enablingy iits customers to develop high fidelity réiahe software quickly, accurately anc
lower costs. GSEnVision Systems has added a substantial libraBrofess Specific Simulation models and Computse&&earnin
Modules aimed at the oil and gas, refining and igftgcchemicals marke

¢ Open System ArchitectureGSE’s software products and tools are executestandard operating systems with third-party bé-<ghel!
hardware. The hardware and operating system imdiemee of its software enhances the value of ddymts by permitting customers
acquire less expensive hardware and operatingrsgst&he Companyg’ products work in the increasingly popular Micfbsperating
environment, allowing full utilization and integi@t of numerous o-the-shelf products for improved performan

¢ Training Curricula. The Company has developed hundreds of detadedses and simulator exercise material or sigeiciflustria
applications including oil and gas refining, -oil production and separation and desalinal

+ International Strength. Approximately 66% of the Comparsy2011 revenue was derived from international saléts products ar
services. GSE has a multinational sales force wifites located in Beijing, China, Nykdping, Swedeétockton-orFees, UK an
agents, representatives and partners in 20 othertries. To capitalize on international opportigsitand penetrate foreign markets,
Company has established strategic alliances andgvahips with several foreign entities and uniiiers.
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Intellectual Property.

The Company depends upon its intellectual propegiyts in its proprietary technology and informatidGSE maintains a portfolio
trademarks (both registered and unregistered), rigitg (both registered and unregistered), anchdies. While such trademarks, copyrights
licenses as a group are of material importanckeédompany, it does not consider any one trademagiright, or license to be of such importe
that the loss or expiration thereof would mateyialffect the Company. The Company relies upon abioation of trade secrets, copyright,
trademark law, contractual arrangements and teahnieans to protect its intellectual property riglf&SE distributes its software products u
software license agreements that grant customerexctusive licenses for the use of its productsicivlare nontransferable. Use of the licel
software is restricted to designated computerpatied sites, unless the customer obtains alisgéase of its use of the software. Software
hardware security measures are also employed temrenauthorized use of the Compangbftware, and the licensed software is subjetgrin:
and conditions prohibiting unauthorized reproduciid the software.

The Company does not own any patents. The Comipeligves that all of the Compamsytrademarks (especially those that use the ¢
"GSE Systems") are valid and will have an unlimithdation as long as they are adequately proteatedsufficiently used. The Compasy’
licenses are perpetual in nature and will have rdimited duration as long as they are adequatedyepted and the parties adhere to the ma
terms and conditions.

GSE has seven registered U.S. trademarks: GSEBg8; JTOPMERET®, Openexec®, RELAP5-HD®, REMITS-RBae Emergenc
Management Interactive Training System®, RETACT®d aSimExec®.Some of these trademarks have also been registarddreigr
countries. The Company also claims trademark sight BRUS™, ESmartM , GAARDS ™ | GCONTROL+™, GFLOW+™, GLOGIC+™
GPower+™  |ISIST™™M | Java Application and Development Environment (BAlY, OpenSim™ , PEGASUS Plant Surveillance and Diagn
System™, PSA-HDM | RACS™, Sens Base™, SIMON™, SimSuite Power™, SiteSro™ , SmartTutor™ | THOR ™ VPanel™, Vist
PIN™, and Xtreme I/S™.

In addition, the Company maintains federal stayutmpyright protection with respect to its softwgregrams and products, has regist
copyrights for some of the documentation and manwehted to these programs, and maintains tradetg@otection on its software products.

Despite these protections, the Company cannot feetisat it has protected or will be able to protecintellectual property adequately, 1
the unauthorized disclosure or use of its intellattproperty will be prevented, that others havé oo will not develop similar technolo
independently, or, to the extent it owns any pateint the future, that others have not or will na hble to design around th
patents. Furthermore, the laws of certain coestiim which the Company’products are sold do not protect its productsiatadlectual proper
rights to the same extent as the laws of the UrStatks.

Industries Served.

The following chart illustrates the approximate qegitage of the Company's 2011, 2010, and 2009 kdateaml revenue by industr
served:

2011 2010 2009
Nuclear power industr 67% 72% 73%
Fossil fuel power industr 16% 18% 21%
Process industr 15% 8% 4%
Training and education industry 2% 2% 2%
Total 100% 100% 100%

Contract Backlog.

The Company does not reflect an order in backlag itrhas received a contract that specifies #rens and milestone delivery date:
other payment terms. As of December 31, 2011, tben@anys aggregate contract backlog totaled approxima$&ly.5 million of whicl
approximately $34.3 million or 66.6% is expectecbt converted to revenue by December 31, 2012.fA3e0ember 31, 2010, the Compasy’
aggregate contract backlog totaled approximatebySillion.

Employees.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had 262 erapkogs compared to 248 employees at December B1, 20
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ITEM 1A,

The following discussion of risk factors contairferivard-looking statementsds discussed on pages 3 and 4 of this Annual Rep
Form 10-K. These risk factors may be importananderstanding any statement in this Annual Reporffarm 10K or elsewhere. The Compe
believes that the following risk factors may catise market price for its common stock to fluctuagerhaps significantly. In addition, in rec
years the stock market in general, and the share®obnology companies in particular, have expeeéenextreme price fluctuations. 1
Companys common stock has also experienced a relativelyttading volume, making it further susceptibleetdreme price fluctuations. T
following information should be read in conjunctiaith Item 7 Managemerd’ Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditior d&esults ¢
Operations and the consolidated financial statesnemdl related notes under Item 8 Financial Statenzer Supplementary Data.

We routinely encounter and address risks, somehi€hvmay cause our future results to be differentnetimes materially, than
presently anticipate. Discussion about importg#rational risks that we encounter can be founiieim 1, Business and Item 7, Management’
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &wbults of Operations. We have described centafroitant strategic risks below. Our react
as well as our competitors’ reactions to materitiife developments may affect our future results.

The Company’s business is largely dependent on sales to the taar power industry. Any disruption in this industry would have a materia
adverse effect upon the Company’s revenue.

In 2011, 67% of GSE'revenue was from customers in the nuclear pawekrsiry (72% in 2010 and 73% in 2009). The Compaxpect
to derive a significant portion of its revenue framstomers in the nuclear power industry for thee$eeable future. The Compasiyability tc
supply nuclear power plant simulators and relatediycts and services is dependent on the continpedation of nuclear power plants and,
lesser extent, on the construction of new nucleavep plants. A wide range of factors affect thatewed operation and construction of nuc
power plants, including the political and regulgtenvironment, the availability and cost of altdivemeans of power generation, the occurren
future nuclear incidents, such as the one whicliwed at the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear plant, aedegal economic conditions.
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The Company’s global growth is subject to a numbeof economic and political risks.

The Company conducts its operations in North Angerieurope, Asia and the Middle East. Global ecdnodevelopments affe
businesses such as GSE, and the Company’s operatiersubject to the effects of global competitidhe Company global business is affec
by local economic environments, including inflatiorcession and currency volatility. Political obas, some of which may be disruptive,
interfere with the Compang’supply chain, its customers and all of its até&siin a particular location. While some of theis&s can be hedg
using derivatives or other financial instrumentsd ssome are insurable, such attempts to mitigateethésks are costly and not alw
successful. The current global recession has ebhgd a material impact on the Companusiness and the Company has seen no sign
delays or cancellations to the projects it is aufyeworking on. We are not aware of any significalelays or cancellations to projects tha
expect to secure in 2012. However, we may sempadt on our operations due to uncertainties aradutions as the economy recovers.

Risk of international sales and operations.

Sales of products and services to end users outsél&nited States accounted for approximately @8%he Companys consolidate
revenue in 2011, 71% of consolidated revenue id28hd 65% of consolidated revenue in 2009. Thegamy anticipates that international s
and services will continue to account for a siguaifit portion of its revenue in the foreseeablerfutlAs a result, the Company may be subje
certain risks, including risks associated with #pplication and imposition of protective legislatiand regulations relating to import or ex|
(including export of high technology products) dherwise resulting from trade or foreign policy aridks associated with exchange
fluctuations. Additional risks include potentialgdverse tax consequences, tariffs, quotas and b#reiers, potential difficulties involving t
Companys strategic alliances and managing foreign salestagr representatives and potential difficultreaccounts receivable collection. ~
following countries have provided more than 10%haf Company’s revenue for the indicated period:

Year Ended December !

2011 2010 2009
Japar 13% 9% 6%
United Kingdom 12% 5% 5%
Federal Republic of Germai 12% 9% 8%
Slovak Republic 10% 22% 14%
Russian Federatic 0% 6% 12%

Risks related to contract with Slovenské elektrarnga.s.

In 2009, the Company entered into a contract witihvéhské elektrarne, a.s. (“SE”) to provide a fidbpe simulator for a two unit reactor
plant in Slovakia. To date, the Company has re@egh$21.0 million of revenue under the terms ofdetract. In September 2011, the Company
received a $3.0 million change order for this cacitwhich increased its total contractual valug26.8 million. $2.1 million of the $3.0 million
change order related to compensation provided bto3$fie Company for a nine and half month delaysediby SE.

In November and December 2011 and January 2012ndified the Company of various alleged breachedhef contract. In tf
notification, SE claimed a contractual penalty @®lay in the amount of $1.0 million related to tBempanys failure to complete Factc
Acceptance Testing (“FAT") for the simulator andspacified potential damages for other alleged liresof the contract.

Based upon the schedule for the completion of Féftained in the contract, which currently doestake into account the acknowledged
nine and a half month delay caused by SE, the Coyngl@aes not believe that it was responsible fordtblay in FAT completion. After engaging in
discussions with SE, the Company formally resportdeall of the claims in January 2012. The Compang SE are currently discussing a
resolution of all of their outstanding issues. Huerme at December 31, 2011, the Company has $5l@mdf recoverable costs and accrued profit
not billed, and a $2.9 million performance bongiace to secure completion of the contract.

The Company’s expense levels are based upon its expectationstaduture revenue, so it may be unable to adjustpending tc
compensate for a revenue shortfall. Accordingly, @y revenue shortfall would likely have a disproporionate effect on the Companyg
operating results.

The Companys revenue was $51.1 million, $47.2 million, and 34@illion for the years ended December 31, 20101,02 and 200!
respectively. The Compars/operating income (loss) was $2.2 million, $(r#@ljion, and $563,000 for the years ended Decerihef011, 201(
and 2009, respectively. The Compangperating results have fluctuated in the pastraag fluctuate significantly in the future as aule®f &
variety of factors, including purchasing pattertisiing of new products and enhancements by the @oam@nd its competitors, and fluctual
global economic conditions. Since the CompareXpense levels are based in part on its expasadis to future revenue and includes certain
costs, the Company may be unable to adjust spemdiadgimely manner to compensate for any revemoetfall and such revenue shortfalls wc
likely have a disproportionate adverse effect oeraping results.
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Our backlog is subject to reduction and cancellatio.

Backlog represents products or services that ostooers have committed by contract to purchase ftmm Our backlog as
December 31, 2011, was $51.5 million. Our backdogubject to fluctuations and is not necessanitiidative of future backlog or sales. Moreo
cancellations of purchase orders or reductionfhi@fservices requesting in existing contracts csulastantially and materially reduce our bac
and, consequently, future revenues. Our failumeptace canceled or reduced backlog could residtwer revenues.

The Company is dependent on product innovation andesearch and development, which costs are incurregrior to revenue for new
products and improvements.

The Company believes that its success will deperdrge part on its ability to maintain and enhaiteeurrent product line, develop n
products, maintain technological competitiveness meet an expanding range of customer needs. ®hgéhy's product development activi
are aimed at the development and expansion ofhitary of software modeling tools, the improvemeftits display systems and workstal
technologies, and the advancement and upgradiitg simulation technology. The life cycles for tsedre modeling tools, graphical user interfa
and simulation technology are variable and largieliermined by competitive pressures. ConsequehyCompany will need to continue to m
significant investments in research and developrieeahhance and expand its capabilities in thesa&saand to maintain its competitive advantage.

The Company relies upon its intellectual property ights for the success of its business; however, ttsteps it has taken to protect it
intellectual property may be inadequate.

Although the Company believes that factors suchlhastechnological and creative skills of its persnnew product developmer
frequent product enhancements and reliable pragiaftenance are important to establishing and miaing a technological leadership posit
the Company's business depends, in part, on é@ddaotual property rights in its proprietary teckogy and information. The Company relies up:
combination of trade secret, copyright, and trad&niaw, contractual arrangements and technical sdanprotect its intellectual prope
rights. The Company enters into confidentialityesggnents with its employees, consultants, jointwenand alliance partners, customers and
third parties that are granted access to its petgosi information, and limits access to and distidn of its proprietary information. There canrm
assurance, however, that the Company has protectedll be able to protect its proprietary techrgjoand information adequately, that
unauthorized disclosure or use of the Company'srigiary information will be prevented, that othdrave not or will not develop simil
technology or information independently, or, to theéent the Company owns any patents in the futhet, others have not or will not be abl
design around those future patents. Furthermbee,ldaws of certain countries in which the Compamysducts are sold do not protect
Company's products and intellectual property righthe same extent as the laws of the United State
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The industries in which GSE operates are highly copetitive. This competition may prevent the Companyfrom raising prices at the sam
pace at which its costs increase.

The Company's businesses operate in highly coriygeghvironments with both domestic and foreign petitors, many of whom ha
substantially greater financial, marketing and othesources than the Company. The principal factdfecting competition include pric
technological proficiency, ease of system confitjara product reliability, applications expertisgineering support, local presence and fina
stability. The Company believes that competitiorttie simulation fields may further intensify iretfuture as a result of advances in techno
consolidations and/or strategic alliances amongpaiitors, increased costs required to develop mehnology and the increasing importanc
software content in systems and products. As thapganys business has a significant international compprodianges in the value of the do
could adversely affect the Company's ability to pete internationally.

GSE may encounter difficulties in effectively integating acquired businesses.

As part of our business strategy, we have acquioedpanies with compatible or related products. &hesd any future acquisitions
make will be accompanied by the risks commonly entered in acquisitions of companies, which inc|udaong other things:

+ potential exposure to unknown liabilities of thejaiced companies;
+ higher than anticipated acquisition costs and es@&n

+ difficulty and expense of assimilating the openasiand personnel of the companies, especiallyeifatquired operations
geographically distan

+ potential disruption of our ongoing business aneédiion of management time and attention;

+ failure to maximize our financial and strategicifioa by the successful incorporation of acquirechinology;

+ difficulties in adopting and maintaining unifornastiards, controls, procedures and policies;

+ loss of key employees and customers as a resciitasfges in management; and

+ possible dilution to our shareholders.

We may not be successful in overcoming these askany other problems encountered in connectioh waiity of our acquisition:
We may make a strategic acquisition knowing thattthnsaction may adversely affect our shentn profitability, perhaps because the acquis
candidate may be experiencing operating losses.make believe that acquiring such a company outveeifjle operating losses the candida
experiencing and the losses that we expect to exqer before being able to make the acquisitiomicite profitable. The completion of suct
acquisition in the future would negatively affectr grofitability and may cause a decline in ourcktprice. While we believe we have establis
appropriate and adequate procedures and processaitigate the risks of such an acquisition, thisr@o assurance that the transaction wi
successful and not have a negative effect on piufity.

A failure to attract and retain technical personnelcould reduce our revenues and our operational efé¢iveness.

There is a continuing demand for qualified techingeasonnel. We believe that our future growth andcess will depend upon our ab
to attract, train and retain such personnel. Cesigh and development efforts depend on hiring letdining qualified technical persont
Although we currently experience relatively lowes of turnover for our technical personnel, thte & turnover may increase in the future.
inability to attract or maintain a sufficient nunmla technical personnel could have a material extveffect on our contract performance or or
ability to capitalize on market opportunities.
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The nuclear power industry, the Companys largest customer group, is associated with a nureb of hazards which could create significar
liabilities for the Company.

The Companys business could expose it to third party clainthwéspect to product, environmental and otherlamfiabilities. Althoug!
the Company has sought to protect itself from thestential liabilities through a variety of legatdacontractual provisions as well as thra
liability insurance, the effectiveness of such potibns has not been fully tested. Certain of tben@anys products and services are used b
nuclear power industry primarily in operator traigi Although the Company’contracts for such products and services typicalhtain provisior
designed to protect the Company from potentialilliéds associated with such use, there can bessurance that the Company would no
materially adversely affected by claims or actiatisch may potentially arise.

The use of derivative instruments by the Company ithe normal course of business could result in fimgcial losses that negatively impact tt
Company’s net income.

GSE periodically enters into forward foreign exaparcontracts to manage market risks associatedtingtHuctuations in foreign curren
exchange rates on foreiglenominated trade receivables. The Company ceglupnize financial losses as a result of volatititthe market value
of these contracts or if a counterparty fails tof@en. The Company minimizes credit exposure bgitihg counterparties to internatione
recognized financial institutions.

The issuance of performance bonds and bid bonds ltige Company in the normal course of business coul@sult in financial losses that
negatively impact the Company’s net income.

The Company is often required to issue performdrmels to its customers as a normal part of itsnessi activities. The Compasy’
customers may have the ability to draw upon thestopmance bonds in the event the Company faitaite a material breach of the contract wi
30 days of receiving notice from the customer réigay the nature of the breach. As of DecembefB1], the Company has issued bid
performance bonds on eight contracts totaling $&l6on, of which $4.2 million have been cash ctdialized; the largest of these performs
bonds was for $2.9 million. Although the Compampects no material breaches to occur on theseamistrif such a breach were to occur ant
Company failed to cure such breach, the Companiddonour a loss of up to $5.6 million.

Cybersecurity incidents could disrupt business opetions, result in the loss of critical and confidetial information, and adversely impact
our reputation and results of operations.

Global cybersecurity threats can range from undoatdd individual attempts to gain unauthorizedeascto our informatic
technology (IT) systems to sophisticated and tadj@eteasures known as advanced persistent threhie W& employ comprehensive measure
prevent, detect, address and mitigate these thfieatsding access controls, data encryption, wah#ity assessments, continuous monitorin
our IT networks and systems and maintenance ofugaakd protective systems), cybersecurity incidetgpending on their nature and scope, ¢
potentially result in the misappropriation, destimt, corruption or unavailability of critical datnd confidential or proprietary information (
own or that of third parties) and the disruptionbafsiness operations. The potential consequencesnoéterial cybersecurity incident inch
reputational damage, litigation with third partidgninution in the value of our investment in resia development and engineering, and incre
cybersecurity protection and remediation costsctvim turn could adversely affect our competitiveiand results of operations.

The Company is subject to a wide variety of laws ahregulations.

The Companys businesses are subject to regulation by U.Srdeéded state laws and foreign laws, regulatiors palicies. Changes
laws or regulations may require the Company to fiyoith business objectives if existing practicesdrae more restricted, subject to escal:
costs or prohibited outright. Particular risks irt# regulatory risks arising from federal laws,lsas laws regarding export of sensitive technok
or technical information. The Compasybusiness and the industries in which it operatesalso at times being reviewed or investigate
regulators, which could lead to enforcement actifines and penalties or the assertion of privitigation claims and damages.

The Company’s stockholder protection rights agreement and clagfied Board of Directors could deter acquisition poposals and make
difficult for a third party to acquire control of t he Company, which could have a negative effect ohd price of the Companys Commor
Stock.

The Company has a stockholder protection righteeagent and a classified board of directors, whathctdiscourage potential acquisit
proposals and could delay or prevent a changeritralof the Company. This deterrent could advgraéfect the price of the ComparsyCommoi
Stock and make it difficult to affect a changetie tomposition of the Board of Directors or a cleaimgmanagement of the Company.
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The price of our common stock is highly volatile ad could decline regardless of our operating performance.
The market price of our common stock could fluctuatresponse to, among other things:

+ changes in economic and general market conditions;

+ changes in the outlook and financial condition eftain of our significant customers and industiresvhich we have a concentration
business

¢ changes in financial estimates, treatment of ouaisets or liabilities or investment recommendetiby securities analysts following

business

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidano#erpretations or principles;

sales of common stock by our directors, officers significant stockholders;

our failure to achieve operating results consistétit securities analysts’ projections; and

the operating and stock price performance of coitgpet

* & & o

These factors might adversely affect the tradingepof our common stock and prevent you from sgliiour common stock at or above
price at which you purchased it. In addition, écent periods, the stock market has experiencetfisant price and volume fluctuations. T
volatility has had a significant impact on the netrgrice of securities issued by many companieddting ours and others in our industry. Tt
changes can occur without regard to the operagmfppnance of the affected companies. As a rethdtprice of our common stock could fluctt
based upon factors that have little or nothingdavith our company, and these fluctuations couldenialy reduce our share price.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS .

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

The Company is headquartered in a facility in Syltles Maryland (approximately 40,000 square fe&t)e lease for this facility expires
June 30, 2018.

In addition, the Company leases office space daoadlst in St. Marys, Georgia, Madison, New Jers&ary, North Carolina ar

Tarrytown, New York and internationally in BeijinGhina, Chennai, India, Nykoping, Sweden and StotkinTees, England. The Comps
leases these facilities for terms ending betwedr2 20d 2014.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS .

The Company and its subsidiaries are from timéne involved in ordinary routine litigation incidexh to the conduct of its business. -
Company and its subsidiaries are not a party td,i@nproperty is not the subject of, any matepiahding legal proceedings that, in the opinic
management, are likely to have a material advefseten the Company’s business, financial conditio results of operations.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCOLSURES .

Not applicable.
PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

The Company’s common stock is listed on the NYSEeAr8tock Exchange, where it trades under the syf@eéP”. The following tabli
sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high kmdsale prices for the Compasytommon stock reported by the NYSE Amex Stock Brge fo
each full quarterly period within the two most netfiscal years:

2011
Quarter High Low
First $ 3.8t $1.9(
Second $ 2.4( $ 2.1
Third $2.3¢ $1.6¢
Fourth $2.1C $1.5¢
2010
Quarter High Low
First $ 5.9¢ $4.7¢
Second $5.7¢ $ 4.0¢
Third $ 4.1 $3.3¢
Fourth $3.71 $ 3.2]
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC.
FORM 10-K
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

The following table sets forth the equity compeimsaplan information for the year ended December281.1:

Number of Securities
Number of Securities to Weighted Average Remaining Available for
be Issued Upon Exercise Exercise Price of Future Issuance Under Equity
of Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Compensation Plans (Excluding
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Securities Reflected in Column (a)
Plan categor (@) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans 3,340,583 $3.36 747,746
approved by security holdg
Equity compensation plans - $-- -
not approved by security
holders
Total 3,340,58: $3.36 747,746

There were approximately 1,038 holders of recorthefcommon stock as of December 31, 2011. The @oynbas never declared or [
a cash dividend on its common stock. The Compamently intends to retain future earnings to ficeuthe growth and development of its busi
and, therefore, does not anticipate paying any dastiends in the foreseeable future on its comstogk.

The Company believes factors such as quarterlyuaiions in results of operations and announcen@ntew products by the Company
by its competitors may cause the market price ®@fcttmmon stock to fluctuate, perhaps significanttyaddition, in recent years the stock mark
general, and the shares of technology companipariicular, have experienced extreme price fluebnat The Compang’common stock has a
experienced a relatively low trading volume, makihdurther susceptible to extreme price fluctuatio These factors may adversely affec
market price of the Company's common stock.

On September 4, 2009, the Company raised $15.bmihrough the sale of 2.5 million shares of itenenon stock, $.01 par value
share. The shares were sold under a shelf registratatement which was declared effective by $leeurities and Exchange Commissior
August 21, 2009. On September 23, 2009, the Coynpaised an additional $2,250,000 when the Compmamyiderwriter exercised an over-
allotment option in full to purchase an additioB@b,000 shares of the Compasmgommon stock at the public offering price of $6p@r share. Tl
aggregate net proceeds received by the Companytfrertwo transactions were approximately $15.9iomll The Company paid the underwrit
fee in the amount of 6% of the gross proceedsveddiy the Company from the offering ($1,035,000) paid $339,000 in other transaction fees.

Effective April 26, 2010, GSE Systems Inc., throughwholly owned subsidiary GSE Systems, Ltd. (G8E), completed the acquisiti
of TAS Holdings Ltd. (“TAS"), a provider of engineering consulting, specializiimgelectrical system design, instrumentation andtrode
engineering and automation engineering. GSE UK iaeduL00% of the outstanding common stock of TABe purchase price for the comn
stock of TAS was equal to (i) the consolidatedasstet value of TAS as of April 26, 2010, approxeha$600,000, and (ii) four times the adjus
consolidated pre-tax income of TAS for the yearezh8eptember 30, 2009, approximately $1.7 millitbe (Adjusted Profit Considerationjor a
total of approximately $2.3 million in cash, GSEsfms, Inc. common stock and contingent considerati
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Approximately $500,000 of the consolidated net tagakie was paid on the closing date and the reng$il00,000 of the consolidated
asset value was paid during the third quarter 2@®0.the closing date, the TAS Shareholders wetidezhto receive approximately $683,000 (4
of the Adjusted Profit Consideration) payable inEs&mmon stock. Based upon the formula agreedytthé parties, the TAS Shareholc
received 122,617 shares of GSE common stock.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
On March 21, 2011, the Board of Directors authatitee purchase of up to $3.0 million of the Compamyommon stock in accordai

with the safe harbor provisions of Rule 1D®-of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Dutiing year ended December 31, 2011, the Con
repurchased 824,374 shares at an aggregate ckiki6afillion .

Total number of shares Approximate dollar
purchased as part of  value of shares that may

Total number of shares  Average price paid publicly announced yet be purchased under
Month purchased per share program the program

January - January 3: - - - -
February J- February 2¢ - - - -
March 1- March 31 - - - $ 3,000,0(
April 1 - April 31 - - - $ 3,000,0(
May 1- May 31 9,0( $ 2. 9,0( $ 2,979,3
June 1- June 3( 141,8t¢ $ 2. 150,8t¢ $ 2,664,0:
July 1- July 31 109,7¢ $ 2. 260,6¢ $ 2,418,5(
August 1- August 31 239,3: $ 2. 500,0( $ 1,910,4(
September - September 3 21,4 $ 1.1 521,4( $ 1,872,4:
October 1- October 31 201,3¢ $ 1. 722,7¢ $ 1,538,6:
November 1- November 3( 82,2¢ $ 1. 805,0( $ 1,388,2¢
December - December 3. 19,3 $ 1 824,3" $ 1,350,7:
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the Compangumulative total shareholder return since Decer@bg2006 throuc
December 31, 2011 with that of the NYSE Amex Conitpdadex and a peer group index. The Peer Grongists of companies selected on a line-
of-business basis and includes Aspen Technology, 1IR3 Communications Holdings and Honeywell InternaionThe graph assumes an in
investment of $100 on December 31, 2006 in the Gmyp common stock and each index. There were no efidsl declared or paid by
Company during the five year period. The Compaay hever paid a dividend on its common stock. ifilees are raveighted daily, using tt
market capitalization on the previous tracking day.e comparisons shown in the graph below aredbapen historical data. The stock p
performance shown in the graph below is not necidgs$adicative of, or intended to forecast, thet@atial future performance of the Company’
common stock. The graph was prepared for the Coynpg Research Data Group, Inc.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*®

Among GSE Systems, Inc., the NYSE Amex Composite Index, and a Peer Group

50
1213172006 1203172000 121312008 1213172008 1213172010 1213172011

—8— G 5E Systems, Inc. —-a—- NYSE Amex Composite ---a---- Peer Group

2100 invested on 12/31/06 in stock orindex, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fizcal yvear ending December 31.

12/31/200¢€ 12/31/2007 12/31/200¢ 12/31/200¢ 12/31/201C 12/31/2011
GSE Systems, Inc 100.0 153.9¢ 88.71 82.34 54.43 29.37
NYSE Amex Composite 100.0 122.4¢4 73.91% 100.1§ 127.3] 128.9¢
Peer Group 100.0 137.14 79.43 97.64 122.2] 127.53
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

GSE SYSTEMS, INC.

FORM 10-K

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

Historical consolidated results of operations aalkhice sheet data presented below have been déwedhe historical financial

statements of the Company. This information shbeldead in connection with the Company’s consatiddiinancial statements.

Years ended December !

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Contract revenu $ 51,12¢ $ 47,210 % 40,06( $ 29,00« 31,90(

Cost of revenue 34,78: 36,08 29,73¢ 21,18" 22,217

Gross profit 16,34¢ 11,13: 10,32« 7,817 9,68:

Operating expense

Selling, general and administrati 12,67: 11,68 7,74¢ 7,38: 7,214

ESA related charge - - 1,50¢ - -

Depreciatior 497 57¢ 504 44¢€ 25¢

Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets 94¢ 10z - - -

Total operating expenses 14,11% 12,36¢ 9,761 7,82¢ 7,47

Operating income (los! 2,22¢ (1,232 563 (12 2,211

Interest income (expense), 1 131 19 56 13C (433)

ESA related charge - - (865) - -

Gain (loss) on derivative instrumet (68) (913 763 (453 (11)

Other income (expense), net 72 83 (397) (22€) (55F)

Income (loss) before income ta> 2,36¢ (2,047) 12C (561) 1,21z

Provision (benefit) for income taxes (564) 20€ 917 12¢ 43

Net income (loss $ 2,927 % (2,249 $ (797 $ (690 1,16¢

Basic income (loss) per common share (1) $ 0.1t $ (0.12) $ (0.0 $ (0.09) 0.0¢

Diluted income (loss) per common share (1) $ 0.1t $ (0.12) $ (0.0 $ (0.09 0.0¢
Weighted average common shares outstani

-Basic 18,95: 18,97¢ 16,93¢ 15,747 12,927

-Diluted 19,12: 18,97t 16,93¢ 15,747 14,81¢

As of December 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Working capital $ 30,24 % 30,04C $ 31,46¢ $ 13,88¢ 14,71

Total asset 58,81: 53,61« 49,52( 31,01t 28,36¢

Long-term liabilities 2,352 79¢ 20€ 90¢€ 69t

Stockholders' equit 38,78: 36,90¢ 37,14 20,70( 20,36¢

(1) In 2007, $49,000 of preferred stock dividendsewdeducted from net income to arrive at net ireattributed to common shareholde
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC.
FORM 10-K
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

ITEM7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

At December 31, 2011, the Company had cash and egsivalents of $20.3 million. The Company hasermd into 2012 wit
$51.5 million of backlog; $34.3 million of which expected to convert to revenue in 2012. The Compaticipates that its normal operations
generate all of the funds necessary to fund itsalatated operations during the next twelve months.

Additionally, in November 2011 the Company enteietb a Master Loan and Security Agreement and RéwglCredit Note witl
Susquehanna Bank (“Susquehannd@®e Company and its subsidiaries, GSE Power Systéms and GSE EnVision Inc., were jointly ¢
severally liable as co-borrowers. The Loan Agreemnpeovides a $7.5 million revolving line of crediitr the purpose of (i) issuing stabg-letter:
of credit and (ii) providing working capital. Worlg capital advances bear interest at a rate equhktWall Street Journal Prime Rate of Inte
floating with a floor of 4 %:%. The twgear agreement is to expire on November 1, 20t® Company believes that it will have suffici
liquidity and working capital during the next twelmonths without additional financing.

As collateral for the Company’obligations, the Company granted a first lien aadurity interest in all of the assets of the Cany
including but not limited to, accounts receivalieentory, proceeds and products, intangibles etreatks, patents, intellectual property, machi
and equipment.

Initially, all (i) issuances of stand-by letters afedit and (ii) advances of working capital (cotieely referred to as the “Advancés”
required that the Company maintain cash balandes “@ash Balance Requirement]) the Bank in an amount equal to the Advanced) e
minimum of $3.0 million at all times. The Cash &ate Requirement was to be reduced to the minimuouat if the Companyg consolidated n
income after taxes (exclusive of (a) gains anddssm derivatives and (b) stock option expensejiefised (“Net Income”)was positive for th
year ending December 31, 2011. Thereafter, thé Batance Requirement will remain at the minimunoant as long as the Compasyjuarterl
Net Income commencing for the quarter ending M&th2012, remains positive and the Company is mpt@nce with the covenants. If -
Companys quarterly Net Income, is negative or the Comgampot in compliance with the covenants, the Caalace Requirement will revert
the amount of the Advances, until the Company ragtaositive Net Income for two consecutive quartéfke credit agreements contained ce
restrictive covenants regarding future acquisitjcarsd incurrence of debt. In addition, the cregjteements contained financial covenants
respect to the Company's cash flow coverage maiimmum tangible capital base, quick ratio, andytble capital base ratio. At December 31, Z
and throughout all of 2011, the Company had nad paly interest or principal payments related to laogrowings for over one year. As such,
cash flow coverage ratio is not applicable at Ddwen31, 2011.

As of
Covenan December 31, 201
Minimum tangible capital bas Must Exceed $26.0 millio $31.3 million
Quick ratio Must Exceed 2.00 : 1.C 2.71:1.0C
Tangible capital base rat Not to Exceed .75 : 1.C .64 :1.0C

As the Compang’ Net Income for the year ended December 31, 2@iElpositive, the Company currently will only leguirec
to maintain cash balances of $3.0 million at Sukgnaa. At December 31, 2011, the Company had 8200n Advances, all of which consistec
outstanding stand-by letters of credit.

On January 4, 2011, the Company completed the sitiqni of EnVision Systems, Inc. (“EnVision™acquiring 100% ownership
EnVision for a purchase price of approximately $#ilion in cash and contingent consideration. Eiwh, which has been renan
GSE EnVision Inc., provides interactive muitiedia tutorials and simulation models, primarily the petrochemical and oil & gas refin
industries. EnVision is headquartered in Madiddh, has an Indian subsidiary based in ChennaiaJraiid was founded in 1991. EnVision’
tutorials and simulation models serve the entrgllavaining market for the oil & gas refining angesialty chemicals industries. EnVisien’
products provide a foundation in process fundantemtad plant operations and interaction. EnVigdias completed more than 750 installatior
over 28 countries and its approximately 130 cliemttude Shell Oil Company, BP, Total and Chevron.

36




Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.

As further discussed in Note 2 to the consoliddirdncial statements, in preparing the Comparfyiancial statements, managen
makes several estimates and assumptions that #fte@ompanys reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revemmelsexpenses. Those accour
estimates that have the most significant impacth@ Companys operating results and place the most significlethands on manageme
judgment are discussed below. For all of theséips] management cautions that future eventsyralevelop exactly as forecast, and the
estimates may require adjustment.

Revenue Recognition on Long-Term Contract¥he majority of the Comparg/revenue is derived through the sale of uniquebighe:
systems containing hardware, software and otheenmadt under fixedsrice contracts. In accordance with U.S. generaligepted accounti
principles ("GAAP"), the revenue under these fixgibe contracts is accounted for on the percentdg@mpletion method. This methodolc
recognizes revenue and earnings a®rk progresses on the contract and is based @stimate of the revenue and earnings earned to ldat
amounts recognized in prior periods. The Compaaseb its estimate of the degree of completion efctintract by reviewing the relationshi
costs incurred to date to the expected total cthsis will be incurred on the project. Estimatechicact earnings are reviewed and rev
periodically as the work progresses, and the cutiwelaeffect of any change in estimate is recognigedhe period in which the change
identified. Estimated losses are charged agammstiregs in the period such losses are identifieldle Company recognizes revenue arising
contract claims either as income or as an offsainatja potential loss only when the amount ofcl@n can be estimated reliably and realizatic
probable and there is a legal basis of the claim.

Uncertainties inherent in the performance of catgranclude labor availability and productivity, tagal costs, change order scope
pricing, software modification and customer acceptaissues. The reliability of these cost estisate critical to the Company’ revenu
recognition as a significant change in the estisasn cause the Compasyevenue and related margins to change significénoim the amoun
estimated in the early stages of the project.

As the Company recognizes revenue under the pagemfeompletion method, it provides an accrual for eatad future warranty co:
based on historical and projected claims experiedtee Company’s long-term contracts generally eor a oneyear warranty on parts, lat
and any bug fixes as it relates to software emigtddthe systems.

The Company’s system design contracts do not n&yrpedvide for “post customer support servic€GS) in terms of software upgrac
software enhancements or telephone support. lera obtain PCS, the customers normally must @mseha separate contract. Such
arrangements are generally for a geer period renewable annually and include custaupport, unspecified software upgrades, and mzaniz
releases. The Company recognizes revenue frora tuegracts ratably over the life of the agreements

Revenue from the sale of software licenses whicmatorequire significant modifications or custontiaa for the Companyg modeling
tools are recognized when the license agreemesigied, the license fee is fixed and determinatiédivery has occurred, and collectior
considered probable.

Revenue for contracts with multiple elements isoggized in accordance with ASC 605-Bevenue RecognitiorMultiple Elemer
Arrangements

Revenue from certain consulting contracts is rezmghon a time-and-material basis. For time-aralerial type contracts, revenut
recognized based on hours incurred at a contrdaibed rate plus expenses.
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Capitalization of Computer Software Developmentt€odn accordance with U.S. generally accepted adaugiprinciples, the Compa
capitalizes computer software development costsriad after technological feasibility has been ldi&hed, but prior to the release of the softy
product for sale to customers. Once the produetailable to be sold, the Company amortizes ¢is¢scon a straight line method, over the t
year estimated useful life of the product. As oécBmber 31, 2011, the Company has net capitalizétivase development costs
$1.8 million. On an annual basis, and more fretjyeas conditions indicate, the Company assesses rédtovery of the unamortiz
software development costs by estimating the ndisaounted cash flows expected to be generatetidogale of the product. If the undiscoul
cash flows are not sufficient to recover the undmed software costs the Company will writewn the investment to its estimated fair valuesb
on future discounted cash flows. The excess ofuaramortized computer software costs over theeelaet realizable value is written down
charged to operations. Significant changes instiles projections could result in an impairmenhwispect to the capitalized software thi
reported on the Company'’s consolidated balance.shee

Valuation of Contingent Consideration for Businéggjuisitions. Acquisitions may include contingent considenatmayments based
future financial measures of an acquired compa®gntingent consideration is required to be recagphiat fair value as of the acquisition date.
estimate the fair value of these liabilities basedinancial projections of the acquired comparsed estimated probabilities of achievement.
believe our estimates and assumptions are reasnablvever, there is significant judgment involved. each reporting date, the conting
consideration obligation will be revalued to estietafair value and changes in fair value subsequaetiite acquisition will be reflected in income
expense in the consolidated statements of opesatamd could cause a material impact to our operatsults. Changes in the fair value
contingent consideration obligations may resulirfrohanges in discount periods and rates, changt#®itiming and amount of revenue an
earnings estimates and changes in probability gssoms with respect to the likelihood of achievihg various earn-out criteria.

Deferred Income Tax Valuation Allowancéeferred income taxes arise from temporary fiees between the tax basis of asset
liabilities and their reported amounts in the ficiah statements. Management makes a regular asses®f the realizability of the Company’
deferred tax assets. In making this assessmemiageaent considers whether it is more likely thanthat some or all of the deferred tax as
will not be realized. The ultimate realizationd#ferred tax assets is dependent upon the genegdtioiture taxable income during the period
which those temporary differences become deductiblanagement considers the scheduled reversatfefréd tax liabilities and projected fut
taxable income of the Company in making this assest A valuation allowance is recorded to redingetotal deferred income tax asset ti
realizable value. As of December 31, 2011, the @amy's largest deferred tax asset of $4.9 million prilpaelates to a U.S. net operating |
carryforward of $13.2 million which expires in vawmis amounts between 2017 and 2030. The amouniSfldss carryforward which can be u
by the Company each year is limited due to chamgéise Company’s ownership which occurred in 2008us, a portion of the Compasyfos:
carryforward may expire unutilized. We believetttiee Company will achieve profitable operationglture years that will enable the Compan
recover the benefit of its net deferred tax asseitswever, other than a portion of the net defeteedassets that are related to the Compamgdiar
subsidiary, the recovery of the net deferred tesetscould not be substantiated by currently abvigilmbjective evidence. Accordingly,
Company has established an $6.9 million valuatlmwance for its net deferred tax assets.
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Results of Operations.

The following table sets forth the results of opierss for the periods presented expressed in tmaissaf dollars and as a percentag
contract revenue.

(% in thousands) Years ended December 3.
2011 % 2010 % 2009 %

Contract revenu $ 51,12¢ 100.(% $ 47,21 100.% $ 40,06( 100.(%
Cost of revenue 34,78: 68.(% 36,08: 76.4% 29,73t 74.2%
Gross profit 16,34¢ 32.(% 11,13: 23.6% 10,32« 25.8%
Operating expense

Selling, general and administrati 12,67: 24.&% 11,68 24.% 7,74¢ 19.2%
ESA related charge - 0.C% - 0.C% 1,50¢ 3.&%
Depreciatior 497 1.C% 57¢ 1.2% 504 1.2%
Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets 94¢ 1.5% 10z 0.2% - 0.C%
Total operating expenses 14,117 27.1% 12,36¢ 26.1% 9,761 24.2%
Operating income (los! 2,22¢ 4.2% (1,232 (2.6)% 568 1.4%
Interest income, ne 131 0.2% 18 0.C% 56 0.1%
ESA related charge - 0.C% - 0.C% (865) (2.2)%
Gain (loss) on derivative instrumet (68) (0.1)% (913 (1.9% 763 1.%
Other income (expense), net 72 0.1% 83 0.2% (397) (0.9%
Income (loss) before income tay 2,362 4.€% (2,043 (4.9% 12C 0.2%
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (43¢€) (0.9% 20€ 0.4% 917 2.2%
Net income (loss $ 2,801 55% $ (2,249 (4.9% $ (797) (2.00%

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2011 Becember 31, 2010.

Contract Revenue Contract revenue for the year ended Decembe2(®ll], totaled $51.1 million, which was 8.3% higtiean the
$47.2 million of revenue for the year ended Decenie 2010. The Company recorded total orderstdf4million in the year ended
December 31, 2011 versus $47.4 million in the weated December 31, 2010. Included in the 2011reras $3.0 million in change orders for a
contract to build a new nuclear power plant sinarlébr a two unit reactor plant in Slovakia whicttieased the total contract value from
$23.8 million to $26.8 million. In the years end@dcember 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company recogfz€dmillion and $10.4 million of contract
revenue, respectively, on this project using thegeage-of-completion method, which accountedl®8% and 22.0% of the Company’s
consolidated revenue, respectively. The decreasevenue generated from the Slovak utility ordaspartially offset by the additional revenue
generated due to the acquisitions of EnVision aA8 Engineering Consultants Ltd. (“TAS”). EnVisiomhich was acquired by the Company on
January 4, 2011, generated approximately $2.5anithf revenue for the year ended December 31, 20AS, which was acquired by the Comp
on April 26, 2010, generated revenue of $3.7 mrilimd $2.4 million, for the year ended December2B11, and for the period commencing on the
closing date of the acquisition and ending on Ddmmm31, 2010, respectively. In addition, reveneregated from various contracts that the
Company has received from a German customer ineddasapproximately $2.1 million for the year eddecember 31, 2011 as compared
December 31, 2010. Furthermore, in 2011, the Compaceived a $2.9 million change order on its @mitto provide a full scope AGR
replacement simulator with a British utility whigficreased the total contract value from $4.7 millio $7.6 million. This change order order
resulted in a $2.5 million increase in revenue geied on this contract from the year ended Dece®be?2010, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2011.
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At December 31, 2011, the Company’s backlog wasSsillion, of which $5.8 million related to thedsfakia contract. The Compay
backlog decreased 7.9% from December 31, 2010 wee@ompany’s backlog totaled $55.9 million.

Gross Profit. Gross profit totaled $16.3 million for the yeanded December 31, 2011 versus $11.1 million f@& year ende
December 31, 2010. As a percentage of revenues gnwfit increased from 23.6% for the twelve menthded December 31, 2010 to 32.0%
the twelve months ended December 31, 2011. Thiease in gross margin reflects the following items.

The Company has a contract to provide a full sodB® replacement simulator with a British utilityn 2010, disagreements arose \
the customer over the extent and composition oftimeilator testing procedures, the scope of cephint systems being included in the simul
and the project schedule. These issues were sghulith the customer in early 2011; however, tisolgion significantly increased the Company’
costs to complete the contract. In the fourth 010, the Company revised its estimates to tetmgthe project and recorded a $1.2 million
on the project. Negotiations with the customerddditional funding on the project were completedhie fourth quarter 2011, and the Comy
received a change order which increased the totdtact value from $4.7 million to $7.6 million.

The lowermargined $26.8 million full scope simulator anditdigcontrol system order received in 2009 froml@8k utility made up 10¢
of the Company’s total revenue in 2011 versus 22%ewenue in 2010. The $3riillion change order that was received on this i@mtin 201
increased the overall gross margin on the projgetdproximately $585,000 in 2011.

In 2011, the Company’s newly acquired subsidianyigion, generated revenue of $2.5 million. Enbigs gross margins are higher t
the Company’s normal gross margin.

Selling, General and Administrative ExpenseSelling, general and administrative (“SG&ABxpenses totaled $12.7 million
$11.7 million for the years ended December 31, 241id 2010, respectively. Fluctuations in the conemts of SG&A spending were as follows:

+ Business development and marketing costs increfased$4.2 million for the year ended December 311 @to $5.6 million in th
year ended December 31, 2011. During the firsttquaf 2011, the Company underwent an internatgaaization whereby
number of operational personnel were reallocatedbtisiness development activities on a full timeidbas TAS anc
EnVision incurred approximately $764,000 of busmedevelopment and marketing costs for the twelventh® ende
December 31, 2011, compared to $216,000 incurre@Asy for the twelve months ended December 31, 204180 contributing t
the increase in business development costs in 2@klthe hiring of a business development managérerinited Kingdom i
May 2010. Bidding and proposal costs, which are tbsts of operations personnel assisting with piteparation of contra
proposals totaled $1.5 million for the year endet@&@nber 31, 2011, an $84,000 increase from the yer.

¢ The Companys general and administrative expenses totaled #lion and $6.8 million for the years ended DecemB1, 201
and 2010, respectively. The decrease of $8009pfimarily attributable to the followint

o The change in the fair value of contingent consitien related to the TAS and EnVision acquisitioesulted in a ga
of $322,000 for the year ended December 31, 2051, campared to a loss of $147,000 for the year ¢
December 31, 201!

o The Company incurred approximately $206,000 of ezpe related to acquisition efforts for the yeadee
December 31, 2011. These acquisition costs wempesed of legal, travel, due diligence, valuatiord audi
expenses. The Company incurred $710,000 of atiguiselated costs in 201
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+ Gross spending on software product developmenvéidpment”)expenses, for the twelve months ended Decemb&(031, totale
$1.8 million, as compared to $1.6 million for thveetve months ended December 31, 2010. The Comgapijalized $838,000 a
$903,000 for the twelve months ended December@ll 2and 2010, respectively. Net development spendicreased fro
$663,000 for the twelve months ended December@1Q 2o $1.0 million for the twelve months ended &aber 31, 2011

o The Company created a 3D visualization team in @an@011 to develop 3D technology to add to ouming
programs. The Company incurred $300,000 of coststed to this effort for the twelve months er
December 31, 201:

o Spending on other software product development lemta$l.5 million for the twelve months ent
December 31, 2011. For the twelve months endea@iB@ker 31, 2010, development expense totaled $1li6mmiThe
Companys development expenses were mainly related to adwaents on a new configuration management s
which is a central data warehouse that supporisusforms of data on a simulator, new feature aobments to ol
JADE platform and advancements to our MAAP HD seveccident platform. EnVision incurred $90,00(
development expense for the twelve months endeérmleer 31, 2011

Depreciation. Depreciation expense totaled $497,000 and $57%@0the years ended December 31, 2011 and 20&pectvely. |
2007, the Company had purchased approximately 880&f computers and furniture for a training cemteStrathclyde University in the UK an
demonstration center at its Sykesville headquartérase items were fully depreciated at the er2DaD.

Amortization of definite-lived intangible assefsmortization expense related to definitieed intangible assets totaled $948,000
$102,000 for the years ended December 31, 20112@h6, respectively. Amortization is recognized astraightine basis over the estima
useful life of the intangible assets, except fontcactual customer relationships and contract lwagklvhich are recognized in proportior
the related projected revenue streams. As gatieo Companys acquisition of TAS in 2010, the Company recorideedngible assets totali
approximately $740,000 with estimated lives of émé¢en years. The Company also recorded intangibdets of $1.5 million with estimated Ii
of three to eight years as part of the EnVisiorugition.

Operating Income (Loss) The Company had operating income of $2.2 mil([#:3% of revenue) in the year ended December @11 2a
compared with an operating loss of $1.2 millior6¢a. of revenue) for the year ended December 31,.20h@ variances were due to the fac
outlined above.
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Interest Income, NetThe Company interest income, net totaled $131,000 and $19%@0the years ended December 31, 2011 and
respectively.

At December 31, 2011, the Company had a revolvirditagreement for a revolving line of credit wbsquehanna which is schedule
expire on November 1, 2013. The credit facilityeles the Company to borrow funds to support warkiapital needs and to collateralize lettel
credit which will be issued as performance bon@ke line of credit, which is in the principal amoéuwrf up to $7.5 million, bears interest at a
equal to the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate ofrb# floating with a floor of 4 %2%.

The deferred financing costs incurred when the Seisgnna line of credit was first established in12@ie amortized over the tweal
term of the line of credit. Amortization began irowember 2011. The deferred financing costs incuiredonjunction with the Compars/
terminated Bank of America (“BOA'ljnes of credit were fully amortized as of DecemBgy 2010. Amortization of deferred financing castslec
$2,000 and $92,000 for the twelve months ended mbee 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company hadoappately $4.2 million and $179,000, respectivaly, cash in Certificates
Deposit with BOA that were being used as collatéwalvarious bid and performance bonds. An add#lds1.8 million and $600,000 was helc
other Certificates of Deposit as of December 31,12@nd 2010, respectively. The Company recomdeuiast income of $27,000 and $18,000 1
the Certificates of Deposit in the years ended érizlecember 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

The Company had $8.2 million deposited in a moneyrket account with Susquehanna on December 31, 2Di@ Company h:
$17.0 million deposited in a money market accouith BOA on December 31, 2010. Interest income eduon the money market accounts tot
$35,000 and $84,000 for the years ended 2011 ah@l 28spectively.

In May 2007, the Company deposited $1.2 milliom iatrestricted, intereftearing account at the Union National Bank in thmétédl Arat
Emirates as a partial guarantee for the $11.8anmiltiredit facility that UNB has extended to ESASKsrecorded no interest income in the y
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respective\2009, the Company determined that its investmenE$SA was impaired. As such,
Company established a full reserve for the amonrrestricted cash amount as of December 31, 2002011 and 2010, Union National Bt
withdrew a total of $78,000 and $294,000, respebtifrom the cash GSE had on deposit with them partial guarantee against ESAline o
credit; at December 31, 2011 the Company had $92G&maining in the restricted UNB account.

Interest income on deposits held by the Companysdish subsidiary increased from $8,000 in the gedied December 31, 2010 to
$65,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011.inkdnease was primarily attributable to the highestcbalance held by the subsidiary during
2011.

The Company had other interest income in the yede@ December 31, 2011 of $6,000 and $1,000 foyehes ended December 31, 2
and 2010, respectively. The increase was primdrilyen by the acquisition of EnVision in JanuaBi2.

Gain (Loss) on Derivative InstrumentsThe Company periodically enters into forward fgneexchange contracts to manage market
associated with the fluctuations in foreign curserexchange rates on foreigienominated trade receivables. As of Decembe2@®l1, th
Company had foreign exchange contracts outstarmfimgpproximately 3.1 million Pounds Sterling, 1&a0lion Euro, and 383.5 million Japan:
Yen at fixed rates. The contracts expire on varidates through May 2016. The Company had nogdatdd the contracts as hedges anc
recognized a gain on the change in the estimateddlue of the contracts of $73,000 for the twalvenths ended December 31, 2011.

At December 31, 2010, the Company had foreign engb&ontracts outstanding of approximately 1.6iomlPounds Sterling, 10.6 milli
Euro, and 865.2 million Japanese Yen at fixed rdthe contracts expire on various dates throughmuget 2014. The Company had not desigr
the contracts as hedges and had recognized aridk® @hange in the estimated fair value of thdreots of $745,000 for the twelve months er
December 31, 2010.
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The estimated net fair values of the contractsextdinber 31, 2011 and 2010 were a net asset of(RIB&nd $81,000, respectively, .
were recorded on the balance sheets as follows:

December 31

(in thousands) 2011 2010
Asset derivative
Prepaid expenses and other currenta.  $ 39 $ 20¢
Other assets 9C 117
483 32E
Liability derivatives
Other current liabilitie: (25¢) (209
Other liabilities (56) (40)
(314 (244)
Net fair value $ 16¢ $ 81

The foreign currency denominated trade receivathesunbilled receivables that are related to thetanding foreign exchange contr:
at December 31, 2011 are remeasured at the endcbf geriod into the functional currency using therent exchange rate at the end of
period. For the years ended December 31, 20112860, the Company incurred a loss of $141,000 ab@éB 900, respectively, from t
remeasurement of such trade and unbilled receisable

Other Income (Expense), Net The Company recognized $72,000 of other incone¢,for the year ended December 31, 2011 v
$83,000 of other income, net for the year endeceBber 31, 2010.

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company files in the United States federakgliation and in several state and foreign jurisditd. Because of the net operating
carryforwards, the Company is subject to U.S. fadend state income tax examinations from yeard B9l forward and is subject to foreign
examinations by tax authorities for years 2006 famalard. Open tax years related to state and dargirisdictions remain subject to examina
but are not considered material to our financiaifgan, results of operations or cash flows.

An uncertain tax position taken or expected toaken in a tax return is recognized in the finanstatements when it is more likely tt
not (i.e., a likelihood of more than fifty percettat the position would be sustained upon exanandty tax authorities that have full knowledg:
all relevant information. A recognized tax positisnthen measured at the largest amount of bethefitis greater than fifty percent likely of be
realized upon ultimate settlement. Interest andlies related to income taxes are accounted forcasne tax expense.

The Company, through its acquisition of EnVision &amuary 4, 2011, recognized deferred tax liagditof $1.0 million resulting in
reduction of the Company's U.S. net deferred tmetalgy the same amount. As a result of this aitipuisin accordance with ASC-80Busines
Combinationsthe Company reduced the valuation allowance od.&s net deferred tax assets and recognized thegetia the valuation allowan
($1.0 million) through the income tax provision.

The Company, through its acquisition of EnVision danuary 4, 2011, recorded $320,000 of unrecogniarchbenefits as well as
receivable from the EnVision shareholders for thens amount as indemnity for this tax position. iBgir2011, the Company also recor
$126,000 of unrecognized tax benefits in 2011 &tain foreign tax contingencies.

The Companys tax benefit in 2011 was $438,000 and consistef1 81,000 state income taxes, $108,000 foreigmmectaxes incurred |
the Company’s foreign subsidiaries, $62,000 U.&eraative minimum tax, $85,000 for foreign incor@x withholding on several ndd:-S.
contracts, $126,000 of foreign income tax contiryerand $1.0 million valuation allowance adjustméné to the EnVision acquisition, previot
discussed.

The Companys tax provision in 2010 was $206,000 and consiste®9,000 state income taxes, $382,000 foreignrmectaxes incurred |
the Company'’s foreign subsidiaries, and a $185r@Qredit for foreign income tax withholding onveeal nonU.S. contracts. In the first quar
2010, the Company reversed a $400,000 accruabfergn income tax withholding on a contract thatdimpleted in China. Partially offsetting 1
credit were withholding taxes totaling approximgat$215,000 on various contracts completed in Mex8muth Korea and Canada.

The Company has a full valuation allowance on itS.ldnd Scottish net deferred tax assets at Dege3ib2011.
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2010 Becember 31, 2009.

Contract Revenue.Contract revenue for the year ended Decembe2®I) totaled $47.2 million, which was 17.9% higltlean th
$40.1 million total revenue for the year ended Deoer 31, 2009. The Company recorded total ordér$4d.4 million in the year end
December 31, 2010 versus $54.4 million in the wrated December 31, 2009. Included in the 2009sndas an $18.4 million contract to buil
new nuclear power plant simulator for a two undéater plant in Slovakia. The contract included ragpmately $12.0 million for hardware, t
largest portion being a distributed control systfeom Siemens that the customer requested be aop#ne contract in addition to approximai
$6.0 million related specifically to the simulatdn 2010, the Company received three change otdéating $5.4 million for this contract whi
included approximately $4.4 million for revisiottsthe Siemens digital control system. Due todigaificant hardware portion of the project,
overall margin on the project is lower than the @amy’s normal gross margin. In the years ended DeceB8he2010 and 2009, the Comp
recognized $10.4 million and $5.4 million of comtraevenue, respectively, on this project using pleecentage-ofompletion method, whic
accounted for 22.0% and 13.5% of the Company’s a@a@ed revenue, respectively. In 2010, the Camgjs newly acquired subsidia
TAS Engineering Consulting Ltd, had total revendieb®.4 million. At December 31, 2010, the Companiacklog was $55.9 million, of whi
$7.9 million related to the Slovakia contract. eTBompany’s backlog increased 3.7% from Decembe2@®19 when the Comparsybacklo
totaled $53.9 million.

Gross Profit. Gross profit totaled $11.1 million for the yeanded December 31, 2010 versus $10.3 million for year ende
December 31, 2009. As a percentage of revenuss gnofit decreased from 25.8% for the twelve memthded December 31, 2009 to 23.6%
the twelve months ended December 31, 2010. Thedse in gross margin reflects the following items:

¢ The Company had a $4.7 million contract to provaddull scope AGR replacement simulator with a Bhtiutility. In 201C
disagreements arose with the customer over thatexiel composition of the simulator testing proceduthe scope of certain pl
systems being included in the simulator and thgeptoschedule. These issues were resolved withctiséomer in early 201
however, the resolution had significantly increased Companys costs to complete the contract. Although the Eamg i
currently in negotiations with the customer for iiddal funding, the Company revised its estimatesomplete the project in t
fourth quarter 2010 and recorded a $1.2 milliors|

¢ The lowermargined $23.8 million full scope simulator anditdicontrol system order received in 2009 froml@av8k utility mads
up 22.1% of the Compa’s total revenue in 2010 versus only 13.5% of reeeni2009
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Selling, General and Administrative Expense3elling, general and administrative (“SG&A") exyses totaled $11.7 million and
$7.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2812009, respectively. Fluctuations in the congpts of SG&A spending were as follows:

¢ Business development and marketing costs increfased$3.2 million for the year ended December 3Q2to $4.2 million in th
year ended December 31, 2010. Bidding and propossts, which are the costs of operations persoassisting with th
preparation of contract proposals totaled $1.4ionilfor the year ended December 31, 2010, a $482i0€ease from the pri
year. TAS, which was acquired on April 26, 20X@urred $216,000 of business development expenséle period commencil
on the date of acquisition and ending on Decembe2@10. During 2010, the Company hired both anass development mana
in the United Kingdom and a business developmemtager in the United States for its 3D visualizatiwagram. During 2009, t|
Company hired business development managers faritsgbrocess simulation business and its educatihtraining business an
marketing specialist for the nuclear simulationibess. Additionally, the Company incurred costsapproximately $200,000 f
hosting the Company’s September 2010 Simworld ssmhference in Stockholm, Sweden. The Companyatichost a Simwor
conference in 200¢

¢ The Companys general and administrative expenses increased $4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 266
$6.9 million in the year ended December 31, 20I8e increase of $2.7 million is primarily attribbte to the following

o TAS, which was acquired on April 26, 2010, incur&®49,000 of G&A expenses for the period commencinghe
closing date of the acquisition and ending on Ddmam31, 2010

o The change in the fair value of contingent consitien (accretion expense) related to the TAS adtprswas
$147,000 for the year ended December 31, 2

o The Company incurred approximately $710,000 of egpe related to its acquisition efforts for the ryeader
December 31, 2010. These acquisition costs wereposed of legal, travel, due diligence, valuatiord audi
expenses. The Company incurred no acquisitioteleosts in 200¢

o The Company recognized approximately $297,000 ofeidm currency losses for the vyear er
December 31, 2010. The losses were mainly reltdethe Company BOA Euro denominated operating accc
intercompany receivable/payable accounts, and a-gemominated value added tax receivable. For tlae gade
December 31, 2009, the Company had recognizedgforirrency gains of $130,0(

o The Company incurred bad debt expense of approglyn$249,000 in 2010 versus none in 2C

o The Company incurred approximately $197,000 ofcosfated to changes in the Compangxecutive managemen
2010. Mr. Jim Eberle started with the Company aneJl, 2010 as Chief Operating Officer and was ptenh tc
Chief Executive Officer on November 1, 2010 upos titirement of Mr. John Moran as Chief Executiféo®r.

+ Gross spending on software product developmentvéidpment”) totaled $1.6 million in the year ended December2®l0 a
compared to $1.3 million in 2009. For the year eshdecember 31, 2010, the Company expensed $66&080capitalize
$903,000 of its development spending. For the ywealed December 31, 2009, the Company expensedB2&nd capitalize
$861,000. The Company’s capitalized developmepeeditures in 2010 were mainly related to the auiation of RELAP5HD
software (which simulates transient fluid dynamiesutronics and heat transfer in nuclear powertg)ao run on the Compary’
realtime executive software; the replacement of theecurGraphic User Interface of SimSuite Pro wittDEADesigner; and featt
enhancements to Jtopmeret, a modeling tool thagrgees two phase network dynamic models. The Coynpaticipates that i
total gross development spending in 2011 will agpnate $1.5 million

45




ESA Related ChargesGSE is a 10% owner of the Emirates Simulation Aoadd_LC in the United Arab Emirates.

Based upon various events which occurred in 1a@92the Company determined that its remaining itaeat in ESA had been impai
and established reserves for the trade receivabke flom ESA at December 31, 2009 and the cash @&@E had on deposit w
Union National Bank as a partial guarantee for ESéredit facility. Partially offsetting these chas was the reversal of the remaining deft
profit related to the Comparg/’sale of five simulators to ESA in prior years dne remaining agent fee that was due upon paywofetite fina
outstanding receivable. The charges recorded la@rtesentation in the statement of operationgheryear ended December 31, 2009 we

follows:

(in thousands)

Trade receivabl
Accrued agent fee
Operating expense

Restricted cas- bank guarantee anaccrued interest incon

Investment in ES/
Deferred profit
Other expense, net

Total

Year endec
December 31, 200

$ 1,60¢
(96)
1,50¢

1,291

117
(54%)

86<

$ 2,37¢

In 2010, Union National Bank withdrew a total ofd®2000 from the cash GSE had on deposit with them @artial guarantee against

ESA's line of credit.

Depreciation. Depreciation expense totaled $579,000 and $804i@r the years ended December 31, 2010 and 266pectively. Th
higher 2010 depreciation expense is primarily gsult of the Company’s capital purchases of newpeders for new hires and upgraded servers.

Amortization of definite-lived intangible assetdmortization expense related to definitead intangible assets totaled $102,000 and &
the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, readgctAs part of the Company’acquisition of TAS in 2010, the Company recoritangible

assets totaling approximately $740,000 with eseémhdives of one to ten years.

Operating Income (Loss) The Company had an operating loss of $1.2 mil{x6% of revenue) in the year ended Decembe2@I0), a
compared with operating income of $563,000 (1.4%evknue) for the year ended December 31, 200@. vBhiances were due to the fac

outlined above.
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Interest Income, Net The Companyg interest income, net totaled $19,000 and $56{00the years ended December 31, 2010 and
respectively.

At December 31, 2010, the Company had two sepaestaving credit agreements for revolving linesooédit with BOA which wer
scheduled to expire on May 31, 2012. The firse lof credit was in the principal amount of up to.O8&illion and was guaranteed by
U.S. Exportimport Bank. The second line of credit was in grcipal amount of up to $2.5 million. The Compatid not borrow any func
against either BOA line of credit, although theeBrhad been utilized to collateralize letters eflirwhich had been issued as performance bonds.

The deferred financing costs incurred when the Bi@és of credit were first established in 2008 waneortized over the original twgeal
term of the lines of credit. Amortization beganAipril 2008 and ended March 31, 2010. The defefimehcing costs incurred in conjunction w
the extension of the BOA lines of credit until May, 2012 were being amortized over the 25 montiogesf the lines of credit beginning as
April 1, 2010. However, in conjunction with thevigions to the Compang’revolving credit agreements discussed beloweritfuidity section, w
expensed the remaining balance as of Decembe030, 2Amortization totaled $92,000 and $46,000 tbe twelve months end
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company hadajpately $179,000 and $336,000, respectively,ashcin Certificates of Depo
with BOA that were being used as collateral foriaas performance bonds. The Company recordedeistténcome of $18,000 and $61,000 f
the Certificates of Deposit in for the twelve mantdnded December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The Company had $17.0 million and $150,000 depasite a money market account with BOA on December2810, and 200
respectively. Interest income earned on the BOAeyanarket account totaled $84,000 and $0 for da@s/ended 2010 and 2009, respectively.

In May 2007, the Company deposited $1.2 millionoird restricted, interestearing account at the Union National Bank in
United Arab Emirates as a partial guarantee fostte8 million credit facility that UNB had exterdleo ESA. GSE recorded approximately $0
$26,000 interest income in the years ended DeeeBth 2010 and 2009, respectively. In 2009, then@my determined that its investment in E
was impaired. As such, the Company establishedll agserve for the amount in restricted cash arh@snof December 31, 2009. Any inte
income earned from this account in 2010 was nairdsd in interest income but was credited to tisemee balance. In 2010, Union National B
withdrew a total of $294,000 from the cash GSE badieposit with them as a partial guarantee ag&i8st's line of credit; at December 31, 2!
the Company had $1.0 million remaining in the UNBa@unt.

The Company had other interest income in the yede@ December 31, 2010 of $9,000 and $11,000 iggheended December 31, 2009.

Gain (Loss) on Derivative Instrumentslhe Company periodically enters into forward foregxchange contracts to manage market
associated with the fluctuations in foreign curserexchange rates on foreigienominated trade receivables. As of Decembe2@l0), th
Company had foreign exchange contracts outstanding@pproximately 1.6 million Pounds Sterling, 1l€n8lion Euro, and 865.2 millic
Japanese Yen at fixed rates. The contracts egpirarious dates through February 2014. The Cognpad not designated the contracts as he
and had recognized a loss on the change in theatst fair value of the contracts of $745,000 ffier tivelve months ended December 31, 2010.
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At December 31, 2009, the Company had foreign enghacontracts outstanding of approximately 2 millidounds Sterling, 3 millic
Euro, and 759 million Japanese Yen at fixed rafbg. contracts expire on various dates through Fehr2014. The Company had not design
the contracts as hedges and had recognized a igdive @hange in the estimated fair value of thereots of $851,000 for the twelve months er
December 31, 2009.

The estimated fair values of the contracts at Déegr1, 2010 and 2009 were a net asset of $81d®&12,000, respectively, and w
recorded on the balance sheets as follows:

December 31

(in thousands) 2010 2009
Asset derivative
Prepaid expenses and other currenta: $ 208 $ 51¢
Other assets 117 39¢€
32t 911
Liability derivatives
Other current liabilitie: (204) (34)
Other liabilities (40) (65)
(244) (99)
Net fair value $ 81 % 81z

The foreign currency denominated trade receivadtesunbilled receivables that are related to thetanding foreign exchange contr:
at December 31, 2010 are remeasured at the endcbf geriod into the functional currency using therent exchange rate at the end of
period. For the years ended December 31, 20102808, the Company incurred a $168,000 loss and08$88loss, respectively, from 1
remeasurement of such trade and unbilled receisable

Other Income (Expense), NefThe Company recognized $83,000 of other incareefor the year ended December 31, 2010. In ast
the Company recognized $397,000 of other experdpnthe same period in 2009. The major comptnehother income (expense), net incl
the following items:

The Company accounted for its investment in ESAgighe equity method. In accordance with the gquoiethod, the Compa
eliminated 10% of the profit from this contractthe training simulators are assets that have bemrded on the books of ESA, and the Com
was thus required to eliminate its proportionatarshof the profit included in the asset value. H$gan to amortize the training simula
effective January 1, 2009 over a four year lifegaadingly, GSE began to amortize the deferred pinfJanuary 2009 and recognized incom
$181,000 for the year ended December 31, 2009. eMexy in conjunction with the Compasytetermination that its investment in ESA
impaired as of December 31, 2009, GSE wrote ofélance of the deferred profit, recognizing addisl income of $543,000. See the discus
above inESA related charges.
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For the year ended December 31, 2009, the Compagnized a $615,000 equity loss on its investimeBSA. However, in conjunctic
with the Companys determination that its investment in ESA was imguzhas of December 31, 2009, it wrote off the bedaof its investment
ESA, recognizing an additional equity loss of $D0D, See the discussion abov&BA related charges.

The Company had other miscellaneous income in ¢aesyended December 31, 2010 and 2009 of $83,@D6f&87,000, respectively.

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company files in the United States federakligtion and in several state and foreign jurisdicd. Because of the net operating
carryforwards, the Company is subject to U.S. fadend state income tax examinations from yeard B9l forward and is subject to foreign
examinations by tax authorities for years 2005 famdbard. Open tax years related to state and dargirisdictions remain subject to examina
but are not considered material to our financiaifpan, results of operations or cash flows.

As of December 31, 2010, there have been no mhbtd@dages to the liability for uncertain tax pasits. Furthermore, the Company is
aware of any tax positions for which it is reasdpgipssible that the total amounts of unrecogniteedbenefits would significantly decrease
increase within the next twelve months.

The Companys tax provision in 2010 was $206,000 and consistek9,000 state income taxes, $382,000 foreignrmetaxes incurred |
the Company’s foreign subsidiaries, and a $185r@8Qredit for foreign income tax withholding orvegal nonU.S. contracts. In the first quar
2010, the Company reversed a $400,000 accruabfergn income tax withholding on a contract thatdimpleted in China. Partially offsetting 1
credit were withholding taxes totaling approximgt$215,000 on various contracts completed in Mex8muth Korea and Canada.

The Companys tax provision in 2009 was $917,000 and consisfei29,000 U.S. federal income taxes, $80,000 stateme taxe:
$569,000 foreign income taxes incurred by the Camisaforeign subsidiaries, and $239,000 foreigrome tax withholding on several ndhS.
contracts.

The Company had a full valuation allowance on ifS.land Scottish net deferred tax assets at Dece3tb2010.

Liquidity and Capital Resources.
As of December 31, 2011, GSE had cash and cashadepiis of $20.3 million versus $26.6 million atd@enber 31, 2010.

Cash From Operating Activities.For the year ended December 31, 2011, net cashdeby operating activities totaled $1.6 mill
which was an decrease of $864,000 as compareé ety ended December 31, 2010.

Significant changes in the Company’s assets abiditias in the year ended December 31, 2011 iretiad

+ A $2.1 million increase in the Company’s contraseivable. The Compargtrade receivables, net of the allowance for dol
accounts, increased from $5.7 million at Decemie2810 to $8.1 million at December 31, 2011. Tigio February 29, 2012, i
Company collected 72% of the gross trade receivahtstanding as of December 31, 2011. The Compausbilled receivable
increased by $726,000 to $12.2 million at Decen¥ie2011. The increase in the unbilled receivalideslue to the timing i
contracted billing milestones of the Compangurrent projects. In January and February 2B2Company invoiced $784,000 of
unbilled amounts; the balance of the unbilled an®isexpected to be invoiced and collected withiie year. At December 31, 20
trade receivables outstanding for more than 90 daysled $278,000 versus $318,000 at December®X,2excluding th
$1.6 million due from ESA which had been fully ressl at December 31, 2010 and completely writféatoDecember 31, 201

¢ A $1.5 million increase in prepaid expenses ancemifissets. The increase is primarily attributablethe reclassifications
Certificates of Deposit from restricted cash toestburrent assets totaling $1.8 million. The rssiféications represent the expiratiot
performance bonds and the release of collateraticsns associated with the Compasyterminated BOA line of credit. Ti
increase was offset by a reduction in the Compaighie Added Tax (“VAT”)receivable of $298,000 at December 31, 201
compared to the prior year. VAT is included in ments the Company makes to Siemens for the DC@myBeing provided to
Slovak utility.

¢ A $855,000 decrease in accounts payable, accruetpemsation and accrued expenses. The Compabgcember 31, 20
subcontractor accrual decreased $750,000 as th@&@gmnmade several large payments to subcontragtmirsg 2011 which had be
accrued at December 31, 2010. In addition, the izmy's accounts payable, and accrued liabilities alsvedsed $650,000 of whi
$358,000 was accrued at December 31, 2010 relatihe tCompany acquisition efforts. At December 31, 2011, tleenPany had $
accrued related to its acquisition efforts. Ofisgtthe decreases above, accrued compensatiarasen $600,000 primarily due tc
increase in the Compa’s headcount and incentive compensation targets frecember 31, 2010 to December 31, 2(

+ A $856,000 increase in billings in excess of rewerarned. The increase is due to the timing ofraoted billing milestones of t
Compan’s current projects
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For the year ended December 31, 2010, net casldebby operating activities totaled $2.4 millioiieh was an increase of $2.1 mill
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2068ifiG&nt changes in the Compasyassets and liabilities in the year ended DeceBibe201!
included:

¢ A $903,000 increase in the Company’s contractsiveb&e. The Compang’ trade receivables, net of the allowance for dal
accounts, decreased from $6.4 million at DecembeP@09 to $5.7 million at December 31, 2010. T@empanys unbillec
receivables increased by $2.0 million to $11.5iomllat December 31, 2010. The increase in thelledhieceivables was due to
timing of contracted billing milestones of the Caang’s projects. In January and February 2011, the @omnmvoiced $2.9 millio
of the unbilled amounts; the balance of the untidlenounts was invoiced and collected within one.yéd December 31, 2010, tre
receivables outstanding for more than 90 daysedt&B818,000 versus $1.4 million at December 319268cluding the $1.6 millic
due from ESA which had been fully reserved at mdtes. In January 2011, the Company receivedpavetok order from NuSca
Power (“NuScale”). NuScale’primary investor was a defendant in a lawsuitight by the Securities and Exchange Commissiol
has ceased funding NuScaeurrent operations. As such, the Company ineckés bad debt reserve approximately $400,00C
December 31, 201!

¢ A $922,000 increase in prepaid expenses and offsetsa The Company’s Value Added Tax (“VAT&ceivable increased $250,(
at December 31, 2010 as compared to the prior YAl is included in payments the Company makeSi@nens for the DCS syst
being provided to a Slovak utility. GSE has fileat a refund of the VAT paid. In addition, prepdioreign income taxes a
employee advances have increased a combined $40@g00 2009

+ A $932,000 increase in accounts payable, accrusghensation and accrued expenses. The Compaagbunts payable and acct
liabilities had increased $358,000 due to the cosatcrued related to the Compasy’acquisition efforts as
December 31, 2010. Additionally, accrued compeéosancreased $305,000 primarily due to an incréagshe Companys headcoul
from December 31, 2009 to December 31, 2|

+ A $1.7 million increase in billings in excess offeaue earned. The increase was due to the tinfingraracted billing milestones
the Compan’s projects

50




For the year ended December 31, 2009, net caslideby operating activities totaled $326,000 amzteased $1.9 million as compa
to 2008. Significant changes in the Company’s assets abditias in 2009 included:

¢ A $5.1 million increase in the Company’s contractseivable. The Compars/trade receivables increased from $7.3 mi
(including $1.6 million due from ESA) at Decembdr, 2008 to $8.2 million at December 31, 2009 (idalg the same $1.6 millic
due from ESA). The Compars/unbilled receivables increased by $5.5 millioi$%5 million at December 31, 2009. The increa
the unbilled receivables is due to the timing ohtcacted billing milestones of the Compasmycurrent projects. In January
February 2010, the Company invoiced $1.3 milliorth& unbilled amounts. At December 31, 2009, trageivables outstanding
more than 90 days totaled $3.0 million versus $2ilBon at December 31, 2008; $1.6 million of theeodue amount was due fri
ESA at both dates. Approximately $300,000 of trerc90 day balance at December 31, 2009 had beeiveel as of the end
February 2010. At a meeting of the three ESA diwders held at ESA on February 17, 2010, the $lodders reached agreemen
significantly reduce costs and begin to exploreamst up to and including the selling of ESA. Adtiogly, the Company increased
bad debt reserve from $2,000 at December 31, 2008 {7 million at December 31, 2009 mainly to resethe overdue receival
from ESA.

¢ A $4.1 million increase in accounts payable, actruempensation and accrued expenses. The Congpaggbunts payable &
accrued liabilities had increased due to matenistipases and the utilization of subcontractors ereal of the Compang’curren
projects.

¢ A $1.4 million decrease in billings in excess ofesue earned. The decrease was due to the tirhicmptracted billing milestones
the Compan’s projects

Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activitiefor the year ended December 31, 2011, net cash insa@w/esting activities we
$6.7 million.

The increase is primarily the result of BOA’'s ammreahts to the Compargrevolving credit agreements effective March 1,2, whict
required the Company to cash collateralize alltingsand future letters of credit. At December 211, the Company had $4.4 million
restricted cash. This balance represents a $4libmincrease from December 31, 2010.

The Company made capital expenditures of $520,0@d0capitalized software development costs of $888,0Cash used as collateral
standby letters of credit, bank guarantees andgiom@uirrency contracts increased by $4.0 million.

Effective January 4, 2011, GSE Systems Inc., comglthe acquisition of EnVision Systems, In&r{Vision). The purchase price tote
$4.0 million with $1.2 million paid in cash at clog. The balance is deferred until the first, secand third anniversaries of the closing daty
the second quarter of 2011, the Company made pdgroéf74,000 to EnVisios’shareholders related to billed receivables iredugh the Closir
Date balance sheet. An additional payment of $l®to the EnVision shareholders was made duriagsétond quarter of 2011 related ta
working capital true-up provisions of the purchageeement. GSE acquired approximately $550,0@ash through the acquisition of EnVision.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Compaade an additional equity contribution totaling5$,000 to GSHJINIS
Simulation Technology Co., Ltd. (“GSE-UNIS”). GSENIS is 51% owned by Beijing UNIS Investment Cad.Land 49% owned by GSE. Per
joint venture agreement, the Company will make ddlitaonal contribution to GS-UNIS of approximately $450,000 in January 2012.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, net cashimsedesting activities was $1.3 million. The Cpamy made capital expenditure:

$519,000 and capitalized software development afs©03,000. Cash used as collateral for stanelitgrs of credit, bank guarantees and for
currency contracts decreased by $841,000.
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Effective April 26, 2010, GSE Systems Inc., throutghwholly owned subsidiary GSE Systems, Ltd. (Q8£), completed the acquisiti
of TAS Holdings Ltd. The purchase price totalegragimately $2.3 million with approximately $500@@aid in cash at closing, $683,000 |
postclosing in GSE common stock, approximately $100,8@8 paid during September 2010, and the balaniegreld until the first and seco
anniversary of the closing date. TAS had approteiga568,000 cash on their balance sheet as aidfuisition date.

On the closing date, TAS entered into a sale aaskleack agreement with the former TAS shareholterder the terms of the agreem
the TAS shareholders purchased the building ocdupie TAS for approximately $377,000 in cash and Té&8ered into a fiverear lease f
approximately $31,000 per year, payable in equaithip installments. TAS may terminate the leagerafpril 26, 2013 upon six months writi
notice.

On July 28, 2010, GSE-UNIS Simulation Technology,Ctd. (“GSE-UNIS”), a limited liability company, received a formal buss:
license from the Chinese government. GSE-UNIS1& wned by Beijing UNIS Investment Co., Ltd. (“UN) and 49% owned by GSE.
October 1, 2010, the Company contributed $587,00@dsh, as its initial investment to GSBHS. In September 2010, UNIS contribL
approximately $600,000 in cash as its initial inwesnt to GSE-UNIS.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, net casldpobby investing activities was $1.2 million. TBempany made capital expenditt
of $361,000, increased its investment in ESA by,®1@, and capitalized software development cost$86fL,000. $2.5 million of cash usec
collateral for letters of credit, bank guaranterd foreign currency contracts was released in 2829, million of which related to a performal
bond for ESA which expired in October 2009.

Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing ActivitiesFor the year ended December 31, 2011, net caat insfinancing activities totali
$1.1 million. The Company repurchased 824,374eshaf the Compang’ common stock at an aggregate cost of $1.6 mifoorthe year end¢
December 31, 2011.

In 2011, the Company released $600,000 held irsticted certificate of deposit, in conjunction kvihe termination of the Company’
BOA lines of credit. In December 2011, the compamgde a $167,000 payment in relation to the ligbitiassified contingentensideratio
associated with the acquisition of TAS. Additidpathe Company received $143,000 from the issuaffceommon stock from the exercise
warrants and employee stock options and spent $240 deferred financing costs in conjunction wfita Susquehanna line of credit agreement.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, net cashdpby financing activities totaled $94,000. T®empany received $176,000 fr
the issuance of common stock from the exercise aframts and employee stock options and spent $82000deferred financing costs
conjunction with the Bank of America lines of criedi

For the year ended December 31, 2009, net cashideb\by financing activities totaled $15.4 millio@n September 4, 2009,
Company raised $15.0 million through the sale &frillion shares of its common stock, $.01 par eaher share. The shares were sold un
shelf registration statement which was declaredcéffe by the Securities and Exchange CommissioAugust 21, 2009. On September 23, 2
the Company raised an additional $2,250,000 wherCibmpany’s underwriter exercised an oakotment option in full to purchase an additic
375,000 shares of the Company’s common stock apthic offering price of $6.00 per shar€he aggregate net proceeds received b
Company from the two transactions was approxima®dly.9 million. The Company received $121,000 fribra issuance of common stock
employee stock options and warrants exercised gluhia year ended December 31, 2009. In accordaitbethe amendment to the Compasny
terminated $2.5 million BOA line of credit effect\Way 5, 2009, the Company placed $600,000 intaictsd certificate of deposit. The certific
of deposit was included in the borrowing base dat@n to determine the amount of funds that then@any can utilize under its termina
$2.5 million line of credit. In the year ended Baetber 31, 2009, the Company spent $20,000 on defdimancing costs in conjunction with
terminated Bank of America lines of credit.
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Credit Facilities

At December 31, 2011, the Company had a Master lavah Security Agreement and Revolving Credit NotthvBusquehanna. T
Company and its subsidiaries, GSE Power Systernas, amd GSE EnVision Inc., were jointly and sevgréibble as coborrowers. The Lo
Agreement provides a $7.5 million revolving lineavédit for the purpose of (i) issuing staoygl{etters of credit and (ii) providing working d&p.
Working capital advances bear interest at a ratalelg the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate of Irggrfloating with a floor of 4 12%. The twgeal
agreement is to expire on November 1, 2013.

As collateral for the Company’obligations, the Company granted a first lien aadurity interest in all of the assets of the Cany
including but not limited to, accounts receivalie/entory, proceeds and products, intangibles etraatks, patents, intellectual property, machi
and equipment.

Initially, all (i) issuances of stand-by letters afedit and (ii) advances of working capital (cotieely referred to as the “Advancés”
required that the Company maintain cash balandes “@ash Balance Requirement) the Bank in an amount equal to the Advanced) e
minimum of $3.0 million at all times. The Cash 8ate Requirement was to be reduced to the minimuouat if the Companyg consolidated n
income after taxes (exclusive of (a) gains anddssm derivatives and (b) stock option expensejiefised (“Net Income”)was positive for th
year ending December 31, 2011. Thereafter, thé Batance Requirement will remain at the minimunoant as long as the Compasyjuarterl
Net Income commencing for the quarter ending M&th2012, remains positive and the Company is mpt@nce with the covenants. If -
Companys quarterly Net Income, is negative or the Comgampot in compliance with the covenants, the Caalace Requirement will revert
the amount of the Advances, until the Company radtgiositive Net Income for two consecutive quartdiise credit agreements contained ce
restrictive covenants regarding future acquisitjcarsd incurrence of debt. In addition, the credjteements contained financial covenants
respect to the Comparyy’cash flow coverage ratio, minimum tangible cdpitase, quick ratio, and tangible capital baseorafit
December 31, 2011 and throughout all of 2011, then@any had not paid any interest or principal paysieelated to any borrowings for over
year. As such the cash flow coverage ratio isapplicable at December 31, 2011.

As of
Covenan December 31, 201
Minimum tangible capital bas Must Exceed $26.0 millio $31.3 million
Quick ratio Must Exceed 2.00 : 1.C 2.71:1.0C
Tangible capital base rat Not to Exceed .75 : 1.C .64 :1.0C

As the Companyg' Net Income for the year ended December 31, 2@d4 positive, the Company currently will only beyuied tc
maintain cash balances of $3.0 million at the BaAk.December 31, 2011, the Company had $200,008dwances, all of which consisted
outstanding stand-by letters of credit.

Common Stock Offering

On September 4, 2009, the Company raised $15.wmihrough the sale of 2.5 million shares of itsntnon stock, $.01 par value
share. The shares were sold under a shelf rdipstratatement which was declared effective by $leeurities and Exchange Commissior
August 21, 2009. On September 23, 2009, the Coypaised an additional $2,250,000 when the Commanyiderwriter, exercised an over-
allotment option in full to purchase an additio8@b,000 shares of the Compasmgommon stock at the public offering price of $6p@r share. Tl
aggregate net proceeds received by the Companytfrertwo transactions was approximately $15.9 amilliThe Company paid the underwrit:
fee in the amount of 6% of the gross proceeds veddiy the Company from the offering ($1,035,00@) paid 339,000 in other transaction fees.

Contractual Cash Commitments

The following summarizes the Company’s contracttedh obligations as of December 31, 2011, andeffext these obligations ¢
expected to have on its liquidity and cash floviuture periods:
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Payments Due by Perioc
(in thousands)
Less than 1
Contractual Cash Obligations Total year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years After 5 Years
Long Term Debt $ -1 $ - $ -1 $ -1 $ -
Subcontractor and Purchase Commitment: $ 7,48( | $ 7,214 $ 26€ | $ -1$ -
Net Future Minimum Lease Payments $ 4,145 | $ 917 | $ 1,301 $ 987 | $ 94(C
Total $ 11,628 | $ 8,131 | $ 156i| $ 987 | $ 94(

As of December 31, 2011, the Company was contimgéable for ten standby letters of credit andethisurety bonds totaling $5.6 mill
which represent bid and performance bonds on aightracts. The Company has deposited the fullevalfieight standby letters of cre
$4.2 million, in Certificates of Deposit, which hfebeen restricted in that the Company does not hesess to these funds until the related leti
credit has expired. The cash has been recordédeo@ompanys balance sheet at December 31, 2011 as restdagtd An additional two lette
of credit have been collateralized using the Comisdime of credit.

At December 31, 2011, the Company has $926,000resticted, interest-bearing account at the Urational Bank (“UNB”)in the
United Arab Emirates as a partial guarantee forghe.8 million credit facility that UNB has extertdéeo ESA. The Company established a
reserve against the restricted cash account aseoérbber 31, 2010. Any interest income earned fitoisr account in 2011 and 2010 was
recorded in interest income but was credited tordserve balance. In 2011 and 2010, Union Nati®@zalk withdrew a total of $78,000 &
$294,000, respectively from the account.

2012 Liquidity Outlook

At December 31, 2011, the Company had cash andezpskalents of $20.3 million and $7.3 million dedie under its line of credit.
addition, the Company has $4.4 million of restidctash, and $1.8 million of unrestriced certifisaté deposit. The Company expects $5.3 mi
of these certificates of deposit to mature and edntw cash during 2012. In November 2011 the Gomentered into a Master Loan and Sec
Agreement and Revolving Credit Note with Susqueba®ank (“Susquehanna’)The Loan Agreement provides a $7.5 million revalvime of
credit for the purpose of (i) issuing stabgietters of credit and (ii) providing working dtg. Working capital advances bear interest i@ta equz
to the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate of Interféssting with a floor of 4 %2%. The two year agremmhis to expire on November 1, 2013s the
Companys Net Income for the year ended December 31, #@Kklpositive, the Company currently will only leguired to maintain cash balan
of $3.0 million at the Bank. At December 31, 20ttle Company had $200,000 in Advances, all of tvltiansisted of outstanding stabgetter:
of credit.

The Company has entered into 2011 with $51.5 milbd backlog; $35.3 million of which is expecteddonvert to revenue in 2012. 1
Company anticipates that its normal operations gélherate all of the funds necessary to fund itsaldated operations during the next tw
months. The Company believes that it will havdisigit liquidity and working capital without ad@inal financing. However, notwithstanding
foregoing, the Company may be required to lookddditional capital to fund its operations if then@many is unable to operate profitably
generate sufficient cash from operations. Thenebgano assurance that the Company would be stict#sgising such additional funds.
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Foreign Exchange.

A portion of the Company's international sales nesehas been and may be received in a currency ttae the currency in which t
expenses relating to such revenue are paid. Acggyl the Company periodically enters into forwdodeign exchange contracts to manage
market risks associated with the fluctuations imifgn currency exchange rates.

Off-balance Sheet Obligations

The Company has no offfalance sheet obligations as of December 31, 284cEpt for its operating lease commitments andtadéng
letters of credit and surety bonds. &mmtractual Cash Commitmerdbove.

New Accounting Standards.

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Statel&oard (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Upbiate2011-08 Intangibles—
Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) — Testing Goodwdt fmpairment(“*ASU 2011-08"), to allow entities to use a qualitative approaches
goodwill for impairment. ASU 20108 permits an entity to first perform a qualitatagsessment to determine whether it is more littelp not the
the fair value of a reporting unit is less thanciésrying value. If it is concluded this is theseait is necessary to perform the currently pibsc
two-step goodwill impairment test. Otherwise, thve-step goodwill impairment test is not requird&U 201108 is effective for the Company -
interim and annual periods ended during 2012, wi#hlier application permitted. The Company doet expect its pending adoption of t
guidance to have a material impact on the Comparorisolidated financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standargdadte No. 2011-04Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measureame
Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and Intermati¢-inancial Reporting Standards (Topic 8:— Fair Value MeasuremefitASU 2011-04),
to provide a consistent definition of fair valueda@nsure that the fair value measurement and dis@orequirements are similar between
generally accepted accounting principles and latgsnal Financial Reporting Standards. ASU 20#%1ehanges certain fair value measurel
principles and enhances the disclosure requirenpamtiularly for Level 3 fair value measuremenésSU 201104 is effective for the Company
interim and annual periods ended during 2012 atidbeiapplied prospectively. The Company doesaxpiect its pending adoption of this guide
to have a material impact on the Company’s conat#idi financial statements.

Other Matters .

Management believes inflation has not had a maienj@act on the Company's operations.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

The Companys market risk is principally confined to changedareign currency exchange rates. During the yealed December 3
2011, 44% of the Comparg/revenue was from contracts which required paysniena currency other than U.S. Dollars, princip&lros (13%
Japanese Yen (12%), British Pounds Sterling (12)nese Renminbi (5%) and Swedish Krona (2%). Reryears ended December 31, 201C
2008, 44% and 33%, respectively, of the Compamgivenue was from contracts which required paysnena currency other than U.S. Doll;
principally Euros, Swedish Krona, British Pounderfitg and Japanese Yen.

In addition, during the years ended December 31120010 and 2009, 18%, 13% and 13%, respectivéijnpe Companys expenses we
incurred in Swedish Krona. The Company’s exposaréoreign exchange rate fluctuations arises irt fram intercompany accounts in whi
costs incurred in one entity are charged to otmdities in different foreign jurisdictions. The @pany is also exposed to foreign exchange
fluctuations as the financial results of all foreigubsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollarsansolidation. As exchange rates vary, those ts
when translated may vary from expectations andraélieimpact overall expected profitability.

The Company utilizes forward foreign currency exd® contracts to manage market risks associatdd thét fluctuations in foreic
currency exchange rates. The principal curren@esvhich such forward exchange contracts are emhtieite are the Pound Sterling, the Euro
the Japanese Yen. It is the Company's policy ¢osush derivative financial instruments to prosegainst market risk arising in the normal co
of business in order to reduce the impact of tregmsures. The Company minimizes credit exposurdéinijing counterparties to nationa
recognized financial institutions.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had foreigchaxge contracts outstanding of approximately 3liiom Pounds Sterling
12.0 million Euro, and 383.5 million Japanese Yefix@d rates. The contracts expire on variougsiairough May 2016. The Company hac
designated the contracts as hedges and has recghed on the change in the estimated fair vafube contracts of $73,000 for the year er
December 31, 2011. The estimated fair value @ttintracts was a net asset of $169,000 at Dece3@h&011. The Company recognized a lo:
$745,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010aaain of approximately $851,000 for the year erldedember 31, 2009, on the changes ir
value of its forward currency exchange contraé{sl0% fluctuation in the foreign currency exchamgtes up or down as of December 31, &
would have increased/decreased the change in ¢stirfer value of the contracts by $16,900.

56




ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page
GSE Systems, Inc. and Subsidiarie

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimg -- Internal Control over Financial Reporting F-1
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimgn -- Consolidated Financial Statements F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,881 2010 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeraded December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomssjlfor the years ended December 31, 2011, 208®R @00 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockhol&epsity for the years ended December 31, 2011, 284 2009 F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yaaled December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 F-7
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-8

57




Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm — Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
GSE Systems, Inc.:

We have audited GSE Systems, Inc. and subsididties™Company”)internal control over financial reporting as of [Bewer 31, 2011, based
criteria established imternal Control — Integrated Framewoi&sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway Commissi
(COSO0). The Company's management is responsibleantaining effective internal control over fingcreporting and for its assessment of
effectiveness of internal control over financiapoeting, included in the accompanying ManagenseReport on Internal Control over Finan
Reporting Item 9A(b). Our responsibility is to egps an opinion on the Company's internal contrel fimancial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversight ®o@Jnited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaiasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordgwer financial reporting, assessing the risk 8
material weakness exists, and testing and evalu#tie design and operating effectiveness of intevoatrol based on the assessed risk. Our
also included performing such other procedures easonsidered necessary in the circumstances. Vievbahat our audit provides a reason
basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtiis a process designed to provide reasonableasgsuregarding the reliability of financ
reporting and the preparation of financial statetséor external purposes in accordance with gelyeaatepted accounting principles. A compa
internal control over financial reporting includésse policies and procedures that (1) pertairhéorhaintenance of records that, in reasot
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transawcsi and dispositions of the assets of the comp@hprovide reasonable assurance that transa
are recorded as necessary to permit preparatiinasfcial statements in accordance with generalbepted accounting principles, and that rec
and expenditures of the company are being made innkccordance with authorizations of managemedtdirectors of the company; and
provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, ,ugedisposition of the company's assets
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtover financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or th:
degree of compliance with the policies or procegunay deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over figal reporting as of December 31, 2011, b
on criteria established iinternal Control — Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohshe Treadwa
Commission (COSO). We also have audited, in acoare with the standards of the Public Company Acting Oversight Board (United State
the consolidated balance sheets of @a@mpany as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 and th&edeconsolidated statements of operat
comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockisléguity and cash flows for each of the yearshia threeyear period ended December
2011, and our report dated March 8, 2012 expressadhqualified opinion on those consolidated finalrgtatements.

/sl KPMG LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 8, 2012

F-1




Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm — Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
GSE Systems, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of GSE Systems, Inc. and subsidiarie§ Recember 31, 2011 and 2010, anc
related consolidated statements of operations, oelmpsive income (loss), changes in stockholdsgaity and cash flows for each of the yea
the three-year period ended December 31, 2011seTbensolidated financial statements are the redpbty of the Companys management. C
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesesotidated financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBo(United States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obteeasonable assurance about whether the finastééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, onsa Ibasis, evidence supporting the amounts andodisi@s in the financial statements. An ¢
also includes assessing the accounting principdesl @and significant estimates made by managementeh as evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaereferred to above present fairly, in all maferespects, the financial position
GSE Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decenihe&03.1 and 2010, and the results of their operatamd their cash flows for each of the yea
the three-year period ended December 31, 201 1nfoouity with U.S. generally accepted accountinmgples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@ynited States), the Compasyhterna
control over financial reporting as of December 111, based on criteria establishedrternal Control—Integrated Framewoiiksued by th

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TremdwWommission (COSO), and our report dated MarcR08,2 expressed an unqualil
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s imaécontrol over financial reporting.

/sl KPMG LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 8, 2012
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)
December 31

2011 2010
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 20,32¢ $ 26,577
Restricted cas 3,50¢ 17¢
Contract receivables, n 20,35¢ 17,20:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,73: 1,992
Total current asse 47,92( 45,94¢
Equipment and leasehold improveme 5,20¢ 4,727
Accumulated depreciation (4,10%) (3,667%)
Equipment and leasehold improvements, 1,101 1,06(
Software development costs, | 1,81t 1,79(C
Goodwill 4,46 2,60¢
Intangible assets, n 1,207 637
Long-term restricted cas 897 794
Other assets 1,41% 778
Total assets $ 58,81t $ 53,61«
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 4,077 % 4,94¢
Accrued expense 1,581 1,75
Accrued compensation and payroll ta 2,75¢ 2,05:
Billings in excess of revenue earr 5,261 4,26¢
Accrued warrant' 2,30( 1,68(
Other current liabilities 1,707 1,21(
Total current liabilities 17,68( 15,90¢
Other liabilities 2,352 79¢
Total liabilities 20,03: 16,70¢
Commitments and contingenci - -
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock $.01 par value, 2,000,000eshanthorized, shares issued
andoutstanding none in 2011 and 2( - -
Common stock $.01 par value, 30,000,000 start®rized, shares issued
19,254,681 in 2011 and 19,171,855 in 2 19z 19z
Additional pait-in capital 70,167 69,29¢
Accumulated defici (29,069 (31,869
Accumulated other comprehensive | (86%) (720)
Treasury stock at cost, 824,374 shares in ,28drie in 2010 (1,649 -
Total stockholders' equity 38,78 36,90¢
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 58,81¢ $ 53,61«

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statemer
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share d¢

Contract revenu
Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Operating expense
Selling, general and administrati
ESA related charge
Depreciatior

Amortization of definit-lived intangible asser

Total operating expenses
Operating income (los:

Interest income, ne

ESA related charge

Gain (loss) on derivative instruments,
Other income (expense) , net
Income (loss) before income ta>
Provision (benefit) for income taxes

Net income (loss

Basic income (loss) per common share

Diluted income (loss) per common share

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statemer

Years ended December 3:

2011 2010 2009
51,12¢ $ 47,210 $ 40,06(
34,78 36,08 29,73
16,34 11,13: 10,32+
12,67: 11,68: 7,74¢

- - 1,50¢
497 57¢ 504
94¢ 102 -

14,117 12,36+ 9,761
2,22¢ (1,237) 562
131 19 56

- - (865)
(68) (919) 762
72 83 (397)
2,36: (2,049) 12¢
(43¢) 20€ 917
2,801 $ (2,249 $ (797)
0.1F $ .12 $ (0.05)
0.1 $ 0.12) $ (0.05)




GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
(in thousands

Years ended December 3:
2011 2010 2009

Net income (loss $ 2801 % (2249% (797
Foreign currency translation adjustment (14E%) 27C 224
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 265€ 3% (1,979 % (573

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statemer




Balance, December 31, 20C

Stock-based compensation
expenst

Issuance of common sto

Common stock issued for
options exercise

Common stock issued for
warrants exercise

Common stock issued for
services provide

Foreign currency translation
adjustmen

Net loss

Balance, December 31, 20C

Stock-based compensation
expense

Common stock issued for
optionsexercisec

Common stock issued for
warrants exercise

Common stock issued for
services provide

Common stock issued for
TAS acquisitior

Foreign currency translation
adjustmen

Net loss

Balance, December 31, 201

Stock-based compensation
expenst

Common stock issued for
options exercise

Common stock issued for
warrants exercise

Foreign currency translation
adjustmen

Treasury stock at co

Net income

Balance, December 31, 201

GSE SYSTEMS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS'

(in thousands

Accumulated

EQUITY

Common Additional Other Treasury
Stock Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Stock
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Shares ~ Amount Total
15,96¢ $ 16C $ 50,57: $ (28,819 % (1,219 - - $20,70(
- - 90¢€ - - - - 90¢€
2,87t 29 15,84" - - - - 15,87¢
58 - 10z - - - - 10z
10 - 18 - - - - 18
19 - 113 - - - - 113
- - - - 224 - - 224
- - - (797) - - - (797)
18,93( $ 18¢ $ 67,55¢ $ (29,619 % (990 - 8 - $37,14:
- - 807 - - - - 807
57 2 95 - - - - 97
45 - 79 - - - - 79
17 - 76 - - - - 76
12z 1 682 - - - - 682
- - - - 27C - - 27C
- - - (2,249 - - - (2,249
19,17: % 19z ¢ 69,29¢ $ (31,869 $ (720 - % - $36,90¢
- - 721 - - - - 727
77 1 132 - - - - 13¢
6 - 10 - - - - 10
- - - - (145) - - (145)
- - - - - (829 (1,649 (1,649
- - - 2,801 - - - 2,801
19,25¢ $ 19 $ 70,167 $ (29,069 $ (865) (829 $ (1,649 $38,78:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statemer
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands
Years ended December 3:

2011 2010 2009

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss $ 2,801 $ (2,249 $ (797)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rsthc

provided by operating activitie

Depreciatior 497 57¢ 504
Amortization of definit-lived intangible asse 94¢ 10z -
C apitalized software amortizatic 81: 97¢ 482
Amortization of deferred financing cos 2 92 46
Change in fair value of contingent considera (322) 147 -
Stocl-based compensation expel 7217 88:< 1,01¢
Equity loss on investment in G-UNIS Simulation Technology Co. Lt 41 13 -
A mortization of deferred profit on Emirates SimuatiAcademy, LLC contrac - - (729
Equity loss on investment in Emirates Simulatiorademy, LLC - - 732
Reserve on cash collateral for Emirates Simulaticademy, LLC line of credi - - 1,291
(Gain)/loss on derivative instrumer 68 913 (763)
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Contract receivable (2,099 (903 (5,100)
P repaid expenses and other as (1,499 (922) 15t
Accounts payable, accrued compensation and acexphse: (85E) 932 4,14¢
Billings in excess of revenues earr 85¢€ 1,66¢ (1,42))
Accrued warranty reservi 62C 407 207
Other liabilities (1,03%) (20€) 54¢€
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,56¢ 2,432 32€
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditure (520 (519 (361)
Capitalized software development cc (83¢) (903 (861)
Investment in GS-UNIS Simulation Technology Co. Lt (45€) (587) -
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir (830) (54¢) -
Restrictions of cash as collateral under lettersredit (5,66¢) - (2,547%)
Release of cash as collateral under letters oftc 1,713 1,13t 5,02¢
Drawdown of cash collateral on Emirates Simulaé@ademy, LLC line of cred (798) (294) -
Proceeds from sale/leaseback transac - 377 -
Investment in Emirates Simulation Academy, LLC - - (14)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activitie (6,67%) (1,340 1,24¢
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common si 14z 17¢ 15,99°
Treasury stock purchas (1,649 - -
Payments of the liabili-classified contingent consideration arrangem (167) - -
Release (restriction) of cash for credit faciliflateral 60C - (600)
Deferred financing costs (24) (82 (20
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activitie (1,097 94 15,37"
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (49) 121 45
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivake (6,25)) 1,307 16,99¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of yei 26,571 25,27( 8,27¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of peric $ 20,32« $ 26,577 $ 25,27(

Supplemental cash flow disclosure
Non-cash financing activitie
Issuance of 122,617 shares of common stockdoiee TAS Holdings Ltd. $ - % 68 $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statemer
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009

1. Business and Basis of Presentation

GSE Systems, Inc. ("GSE Systems", “GS&” the "Company") provides training simulators asdlcational solutions to the enel
process, manufacturing and government sectors.

The Companys operations are subject to certain risks and taiogies including, among others, rapid technolabahanges, success of
Companys product development, marketing and distributitrategies, the need to manage growth, the needtainrkey personnel and prot
intellectual property, and the availability of atiginal financing on terms acceptable to the Company

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of consolidatio

The accompanying consolidated financial statemémthide the accounts of the Company and its whollyred subsidiaries. #
intercompany balances and transactions have besimaied.

Accounting estimate

The preparation of financial statements in confoymith accounting principles generally acceptedttie United States of Ameri
requires management to make estimates and assuasitiat affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities and disclosure afontingent asse
and liabilities at the date of the financial stagers and the reported amounts of revenues and sapeluring the reporting period. On an ong
basis, the Company evaluates the estimates usaddimg but not limited to those related to revemaeognition, the allowance for doubi
accounts receivable, estimates of future warraoggs; impairments of goodwill and other intangidsets, valuation of intangible assets acq
and contingent consideration to be paid in busiaegsiisitions, and income taxes. Actual resultddctdiffer from these estimates.
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Revenue recognitic

The majority of the Compang’revenue is derived through the sale of uniquekighed systems containing hardware, software #mel
materials under fixed-price contracts. In accocgamith U.S. generally accepted accounting priesplthe revenue under these fixeite
contracts is accounted for on the percentage-ofpbetion method. This methodology recognizes reveandk earnings aswork progresses on t
contract and is based on an estimate of the revendesarnings earned to date, less amounts reeaimzrior periods. The Company base
estimate of the degree of completion of the comntbgcreviewing the relationship of costs incurreddiate to the expected total costs that wi
incurred on the project. Estimated contract easiiag reviewed and revised periodically as the wodgresses, and the cumulative effect of
change in estimate is recognized in the period lirckwvthe change is identified. Estimated lossescherged against earnings in the period
losses are identified. The Company recognizesnigxarising from contract claims either as incomasan offset against a potential loss
when the amount of the claim can be estimatedhigliand realization is probable and there is allbgais of the claim.

As the Company recognizes revenue under the pageimfeompletion method, it provides an accrual for eatad future warranty co:
based on historical and projected claims experiefitee Company'’s long-term contracts generally evor a onegear warranty on parts, lat
and any bug fixes as it relates to software emigtddthe systems.

The Company'’s system design contracts do not ndymedvide for “post customer support servic®GsS) in terms of software upgrac
software enhancements or telephone support. Iera obtain PCS, the customers must normally @mseha separate contract. Such
arrangements are generally for a greer period renewable annually and include custaupport, unspecified software upgrades, and mzamia
releases. The Company recognizes revenue frora tuegracts ratably over the life of the agreements

Revenue from the sale of software licenses whicmatorequire significant modifications or custontiaa for the Company modelin
tools are recognized when the license agreemesigigd, the license fee is fixed and determinatidivery has occurred, and collectior
considered probable.

Revenue for contracts with multiple elements isogeized in accordance with ASC 605-Bevenue Recognitiodultiple Elemer
Arrangements

Revenues from certain consulting contracts aregmeized on a time-and-material basis. For time+aaderial type contracts, revenu
recognized based on hours incurred at a contréaibed rate plus expenses.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hashdhighly liquid investments with maturities of éler months or less at the datt
purchase.

The Company had $8.2 million deposited in a moneyket account with Susquehanna Bank on Decemb&031, The Company h
$17.0 million deposited in a money market accodittt Bank of America on December 31, 2010. Thereewm other cash equivalents.
Contract receivables

Contract receivables include recoverable costsammued profit not billed which represents reveremognized in excess of amot
billed. The liability “Billings in excess of revee earned” represents billings in excess of reveacegnized.
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Billed receivables are recorded at invoiced amaouifitee allowance for doubtful accounts is basethistorical trends of past due accou
write-offs, and specific identification and reviefvpast due accounts. The activity in the alloveaftc doubtful accounts is as follows:

(in thousands As of and for the
Years ended December !
2011 2010 2009
Beginning balanc $ 2,04 $ 1,74 $
Current year provisio (230 29 1,74
Current year write-offs (1,674 - -
Ending balance $ 13 $ 2,04 $ 1,74

At a meeting of Emirates Simulation Academy, LLCESA") three shareholders held at ESA on Febrd&rn2010, in response to ESA’
deteriorating financial condition, the shareholderached agreement to significantly reduce codlisbegin to explore options up to and incluc
the selling of ESA. Accordingly, the Company irased its allowance for doubtful accounts by $1.Manifor the outstanding trade receiva
from ESA as of December 31, 2010. In 2011, tharx related to ESA was written off.

Equipment and leasehold improvements,

Equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated usiagstraightine method with estimated useful lives rangingnirahree to te
years. Leasehold improvements are amortized dwelife of the lease or the estimated useful hfbjchever is shorter, using the straidjhe
method. Upon sale or retirement, the cost ande@ldepreciation are eliminated from the respectiveounts and any resulting gain or los
included in operations. Maintenance and repairshaeged to expense as incurred.

Software development costs

Certain computer software development costs aréatizpd in the accompanying consolidated balarfoeets in accordance with U
generally accepted accounting principles. Capasilbn of computer software development costs lsegpon the establishment of technolog
feasibility. Capitalization ceases and amortizatibeapitalized costs begins when the software yebid commercially available for general rele
to customers. Amortization of capitalized compwweftware development costs is included in cosewénue and is determined using the straight:
line method over the remaining estimated econoif@éof the product, not to exceed three years.
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Development expenditur

Development expenditures incurred to meet custapecifications under contracts are charged to aohtosts. Company sponsc
development expenditures are charged to operatisnscurred and are included in selling, general administrative expenses. The amo
incurred for Company sponsored development aciwitelating to the development of new products serdices or the improvement of exist
products and services, were approximately $1.8onjll$1.6 million, and $1.3 million, for the yeaesded December 31, 2011, 2010, and =
respectively. Certain of these expenditures wapétalized as software development costs. See 8l@eftware development costs.

Impairment of lon-lived assets

Long-ived assets, such as property, plant, and equipneapitalized computer software costs subjectrtmréization, and intangibl
subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairin@henever events or changes in circumstancesateltbat the carrying amount of an asset
not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets tddédd and used is measured by a comparison of algicg amount of an asset to estimi
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be géeetiby the asset. If the carrying amount of @etasxceeds its estimated future cash flow
impairment charge is recognized at the amount bglwthe carrying amount of the asset exceeds thedale of the asset. Assets to be dispos
would be separately presented in the balance simebteported at the lower of the carrying amounfagrvalue less costs to sell, and woulc
longer be depreciated.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Companys intangible assets include amounts recognizedimection with business acquisitions, includingteoer relationship
contract backlog and software. Intangible assetsritially valued at fair market value using geally accepted valuation methods appropriat
the type of intangible asset. Amortization is gtiaed on a straighire basis over the estimated useful life of theamgible assets, except
contract backlog and contractual customer relatipsswhich are recognized in proportion to the tezlgprojected revenue streams. Intan
assets with definite lives are reviewed for impa&nmnif indicators of impairment arise. Except fggodwill, the Company does not have
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.

Goodwill represents the excess of costs over falues of assets of businesses acquirethe Company reviews its goodwill annuz
on November 30, for impairment, or more frequeitftlgvents and circumstances indicate that the anggtt be impaired. An impairment los:
recognized to the extent that the carrying amoxoeeds the assstfair value. For goodwill, the impairment detemation is made at the report
unit level and consists of two steps. First, tleenPany determines the fair value of a reportind and compares it to its carrying amount. Sec
if the carrying amount of a reporting unit excedédsfair value, an impairment loss is recognized day excess of the carrying amount of
reporting units goodwill over the implied fair value of that geatl. The implied fair value of goodwill is deteined by allocating the fair value
the reporting unit in a manner similar to a purehpsce allocation The residual fair value after this allocation ig timplied fair value of tt
reporting unit goodwill. No impairment losses weeeognized in 2011, 2010 or 2009.
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Foreign currency translatio

Balance sheet accounts for foreign operationsranslated at the exchange rate as of the balamet dhte, and income statement acce
are translated at the average exchange rate fguehied. The resulting translation adjustmentsiactuded in accumulated other compreher
income (loss). Transaction gains and losses,tregitom changes in exchange rates, are recordegerating income in the period in which t
occur. For the years ended December 31, 2011,, 2844 2009, foreign currency transaction gainss@e¥y were approximately $(136,0(
$(297,000), and $130,000, respectively.

Warranty

As the Company recognizes revenue under the pageimfeompletion method, it provides an accrual for eatad future warranty co:
based on historical experience and projected claifie activity in the warranty accounts is asdof:

(in thousands As of and for the
Years ended December !
2011 2010 2009

Beginning balanc $ 1,68 $ 127 $ 1,06t
Current year provisio 987 71¢ 60%
Current year claim (352) (330) (407)
Currency adjustment (15) 19 1C
Ending balance $ 230C$ 168 $ 1,27:

Income taxe

Income taxes are provided under the asset anditjaliethod. Under this method, deferred incomeetaare determined based on
differences between the financial statement andémes of assets and liabilities using enactedatas in effect for the year in which the differeg
are expected to reverse. Valuation allowancegstablished, when necessary, to reduce deferrezist®ets to the amounts expected to be rea
A provision is made for the Company's current ligbfor federal, state and foreign income taxed #&re change in the Company's deferred inc
tax assets and liabilities.

Stock-based compensation

Compensation expense related to share based aiwamtgnized on a pro rata straidine basis based on the value of share award
are scheduled to vest during the requisite sergi@od. During the twelve months ended DecembefB11, 2010, and 2009 the Comp
recognized $727,000, $807,000 and $906,000, rasphctof pre-tax stoclbased compensation expense under the fair valubotheAs o
December 31, 2011, the Company had $1.7 milliourocognized compensation expense related to thested portion of outstanding st
option awards expected to be recognized throughreMder 2016.
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Income (Loss) per sha

Basic income (loss) per share is based on the tezighverage number of outstanding common shardghdqgreriod. Diluted income (lo:
per share adjusts the weighted average sharesamditsg for the potential dilution that could ocdustock options, or warrants were exercised.
number of common shares and common share equisaleatl in the determination of basic and dilutedrime (loss) per share was as follows:

(in thousands, except for share and per share ansd
Years ended December !

2011 2010 2009
Numerator:
Net income (loss) attributed to common stoddés $ 2,801 $ (2,249 $ (797)
Denominator
Weightec-average shares outstanding for biearnings per sha 18,952,40 18,975,00 16,938,39
Effect of dilutive securities
Employee stock options and warrants 170,50: - -
Adjusted weighted-average shares outstandidgaasumed conversions
for diluted earnings per share 19,122,90 18,975,00 16,938,39
Shares related to dilutive securities exclubdechuse inclusion would be adtiutive 1,701,79 1,679,90 1,791,75

Conversion of outstanding stock options and wasramts not assumed for the years ended Decemb203Q0,and 2009 because the im|
was antidilutive. Included in the shares related to dilatsecurities excluded from the diluted earningsgbare calculation for the years en
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, werednrtoney options and warrants totaling 518,546eshaind 641,631 shares, respectively.
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Concentration of credit risk

The Company is subject to concentration of cradk with respect to contract receivables. Credik on contract receivables is mitige
by the nature of the Company's worldwide custonseband its credit policies. The Company's custeraee not concentrated in any spe
geographic region, but are concentrated in theggniedustry. The following customers have providedre than 10% of the Compasyevenue fc
the indicated period:

Years ended December !

2011 2010 2009
Slovenské elektrarne, a 10.% 22.(% 13.5%
Emerson Process Managem 6.8% 11.1% 12.1%
Titan-2 Concerr 0.€% 5.C% 10.7%

Fair values of financial instrumen

The carrying amounts of current assets and culigilities reported in the consolidated balanceeth approximate fair value due to t
short term duration.

Deferred financing fee
The Company amortizes the cost incurred to obtaht dinancing using the straighite method over the term of the underly

obligations. The amortization of deferred finamcoosts is included in interest expense. Defelirehting costs are classified within other asst
the consolidated balance sheets.
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Derivative instrument

The Company utilizes forward foreign currency exd® contracts to manage market risks associatdd thét fluctuations in foreic
currency exchange rates. It is the Company's patiayse such derivative financial instruments totget against market risk arising in the nor
course of business in order to reduce the impatttexfe exposures. The Company minimizes creditsexpdy limiting counterparties to nationi
recognized financial institutions.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had foreigchaxge contracts outstanding of approximately 3liiom Pounds Sterling
12.0 million Euro, and 383.5 million Japanese Yefixed rates. At December 31, 2010, the Compaany foreign exchange contracts outstan
of approximately 1.6 million Pounds Sterling, 1é8lion Euro, and 865.2 million Japanese Yen atdixates. The contracts expire on various
through May 2016. The Company had not designdtedfdreign exchange contracts as hedges and hattegcthe estimated fair value of
contracts in the consolidated balance sheet asifsil

December 31

(in thousands) 2011 2010
Asset derivative
Prepaid expenses and other current a $ 39 $ 20¢
Other assets 9C 117
483 32E
Liability derivatives
Other current liabilitie: (25¢) (209)
Other liabilities (56) (4C)
(314) (244)
Net fair value $ 16¢€ $ 81

The changes in the fair value of the foreign exgeacontracts are included in gain (loss) on dekigainstruments in the consolida
statement of operations.

The foreign currency denominated trade receivahiebilled receivables, billings in excess of revemarned and subcontractor acct
that are related to the outstanding foreign exchammgntracts are remeasured at the end of eachdpet@the functional currency using the cur
exchange rate at the end of the period. The gaiossrresulting from such remeasurement is aldaded in gain (loss) on derivative instrument
the consolidated statement of operations.

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 ar] #2® Company recognized a net gain (loss) odeitavative instruments as outlir
below:

Years ended December
(in thousands) 2011 2010 2009

Foreign exchange contracts- change in fair value $ 73 $ (745 $ 851

Remeasurement of related contract receivables ilimg)b in excess
of revenue earned (147) (16€) (88)

$ (68) $ (919 $ 767
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New accounting standart

In September 2011, the Financial Accounting Statsl®oard (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Upbtiate2011-08ntangibles—
Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) — Testing Goodwidlt fmpairment(*ASU 2011-08"), to allow entities to use a qualitative approachtes
goodwill for impairment. ASU 20108 permits an entity to first perform a qualitatagsessment to determine whether it is more litkelp not the
the fair value of a reporting unit is less thanciésrying value. If it is concluded this is theseait is necessary to perform the currently pibsc
two-step goodwill impairment test. Otherwise, tive-step goodwill impairment test is not requird&U 201108 is effective for the Company -
interim and annual periods ended during 2012, wdhlier application permitted. The Company does axqiect its pending adoption of t
guidance to have a material impact on the Compagrisolidated financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standargdatie No. 2011-04Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value Measureane
Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and Intermatié-inancial Reporting Standards (Topic 8:— Fair Value MeasuremefitASU 2011-04),
to provide a consistent definition of fair valueda@nsure that the fair value measurement and dis@orequirements are similar between
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAPRdalnternational Financial Reporting Standards.UAR®1104 changes certain fair va
measurement principles and enhances the disclosgu@ements particularly for Level 3 fair value asarements. ASU 20104 is effective for th
Company for interim and annual periods ended du2Bitg and will be applied prospectively. The Compdoes not expect its pending adoptic
this guidance to have a material impact on the Goms consolidated financial statements.

3. Acquisition
EnVision Systems, Inc.

On January 4, 2011, (the “Closing Datethe Company completed the acquisition of all oudidag common stock
EnVision Systems, Inc. (“EnVision™)acquiring 100% ownership in EnVision. EnVision headquartered in Madison, NJ and has an
subsidiary based in Chennai, India. EnVision'stials and simulation models serve the eignel training market for the oil & gas, refiningnc
specialty chemicals industries. EnVision operatesa wholly-owned subsidiary of GSE and has beeraneed GSE Envision, Inc. On the Clos
Date, GSE paid $1.2 million in cash to the shaméal of EnVision. In addition, if EnVision attainsrtain revenue targets for the four year pe
ending December 31, 2014, the shareholders of EmVeould receive up to an additional $3.0 millijgayable over four years.

On the first anniversary of the Closing Date, ti/Eion shareholders are entitled to receive $380,00n the second, third and fou
anniversaries, EnVision shareholders are entitlegt¢eive $500,000. These payments are contingmnt EnVision meeting or exceeding cer
revenue targets during those periods, as defindldeipurchase agreement. The EnVision sharehotderalso entitled to the amount by which
aggregate payments received by the Company fronll Slobal Solutions International, B.V. (“Shell"after the Closing Date and prior
March 31, 2014 exceed $3.0 million, provided thhe tamount payable to the EnVision shareholders wdit exceed $1.0 million. At
December 31, 2011, the Company has accrued appr@lim$310,000 and $2.0 million of short term andd term contingent considerati
respectively, based on its estimate of the fain@af the potential contingent consideration pagablthe EnVision shareholders.

EnVision's shareholders are entitled to receive an amowmldq 30% of the cash collected prior to MarchZ&113 from the bille
receivables which were included on the Closing Dtlance sheet related to Shell. Seventy perdetieacash collected prior to March 31, 2
relating to the recoverable costs and accruedtprofibilled amounts which appeared on the Clo8ate balance sheet will be paid to the EnVi
shareholders. Payments to the EnVision sharel®fdercash collections relating to the billed reebiles and recoverable costs and accrued
not billed amounts will occur in three yearly payrneeending in 2013. EnVision shareholders coutetire up to approximately $687,000 of
trade receivables and recoverable costs and acproétinot billed amounts included on the Closagte balance sheet, contingent on the colle
of cash. In the second quarter of 2011, the Compaade payments of $74,000 to EnVis®sghareholders related to billed receivables ireziuok
the Closing Date balance sheet.

At Closing, the EnVision shareholders were entitledeceive all the cash of the business excep$460,000. Additionally, the EnVisir
shareholders were credited for any prepaid expearsg@sissumed any existing liabilities from the @igdDate balance sheet. Based on the Cl
Date balance sheet, a $109,000 payment was malde EnVision shareholders in the second quartgdaf.

Of the $4.0 million gross purchase price, the Camypccrued approximately $2.0 million of contingeahsideration based on its estin
of the fair value of the potential contingent calesation payable to the EnVision shareholders foe ffour year period endi
December 31, 2014. The Company will estimate #iealue of the recorded amount of contingent ®ration on a quarterly basis and
subsequent adjustments based on actual paymemnevised estimates are recognized in the sellingeigd, and administrative expenses of
consolidated statement of operations during théogesf adjustment. The contingent considerationakied using significant inputs that are
observable in the market which are defined as L&weputs pursuant to fair value measurement adgugin
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The estimated fair value of the purchase pricerdsmbby the Company consisted of the followingtliousands):

Cash paid at closin $ 1,20C
Present value of estimated future paym 1,99¢
Payable to EnVision Sharehold«- contracts receivab 687
Working capital retained by EnVision Shareholdecash 10¢

Total estimated purchase price $ 3,994

The Company’s purchase price allocation for theassets acquired was as follows (in thousands):

January 4, 201

(unaudited)

Cash $ 552
Contract receivable 1,12¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 62
Property, plant and equipment, | 22
Receivable from EnVision sharehold 321
Intangible asset 1,50¢
Goodwill 1,854

Total assets acquired 5,44~
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritied 42¢
Billings in excess of revenue earr 46
Deferred tax liability 97€

Total liabilities assume 1,451

Net assets acquire $ 3,994

The Company recorded intangible assets as a @stié acquisition. Contractual customer relatiops acquired totaled $438,000 and
being amortized in proportion to the projected rewe streams of the related contracts over threesyddoneontractual customer relationst
acquired totaled $433,000 and are being amortizgadportion to the projected revenue streams e@fréated relationships over eight years.
Company acquired intangible assets of $471,00@ectk®D developed technology which are being amedltizsing the straight line method ove
eight year period. The Company also acquired IEPof inprocess research and development intangible asbéth are being amortized o
eight years in proportion to the projected revestreams of the related process research and development. Additionall$,CRD related f
domain names and other marketing related intangibkre obtained and are being amortized usingtthiglst line method over an estimated us
life of three years. The intangible assets andugctcontingent consideration for EnVision wereorded at estimated fair value.
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EnVision’s results of operations are included ia tonsolidated financial statements for the pebeginning January 4, 2011.

Pro forma results . Our consolidated financial statements include dperating results of EnVision as of the dateanfussition. For th
twelve months ended December 31, 2011 and 2010unhedited pro forma financial information belowsasies that our material busin
acquisition of EnVision occurred on January 1, 2010

(in thousands except per share de (unaudited)
Twelve Months ende
December 31

Pro forma financial information including the acsjtion of EnVision 2011 2010

Revenue $ 51,12¢ $ 50,41(

Operating income (los! 2,59 (708

Net income (loss 3,16. (1,711

Earnings (loss) per common share — basic $ 017 $ (0.09

Earnings (loss) per common share — basic $ 017 $ (0.09
TAS Holdings Ltd.

Effective April 26, 2010, GSE Systems Inc., throuigh wholly owned subsidiary GSE Systems, Ltd. (E58®K”), completed th
acquisition of TAS Holdings Ltd. (“TAS")a provider of engineering consulting, specializingelectrical system design, instrumentation
controls engineering and automation engineerin§E ®K acquired 100% of the outstanding common stifckAS. The purchase price for
common stock of TAS was equal to (i) the consoéidatet asset value of TAS as of April 26, 2010 raximately $600,000, and (ii) four times
adjusted consolidated pre-tax income of TAS for Hear ended September 30, 2009, approximately $illién (the “Adjusted Profi
Consideration”), for a total of approximately $2adlion in cash, GSE Systems, Inc. common stock @rdingent consideration.

Approximately $500,000 of the consolidated net tagakie was paid on the closing date and the ren@Bi00,000 of the consolidated
asset value was paid during the third quarter 2@0.the closing date, the TAS Shareholders wetidezhto receive approximately $683,000 (4
of the Adjusted Profit Consideration) payable inEs&mmon stock. Based upon the formula agreedytthé parties, the TAS Shareholc
received 122,617 shares of GSE common stock.

During 2011, the Company paid the TAS Shareholdt87,000 based on the results of TAS for the nirentm period endir
December 31, 2010. The Company has accrued apmatedy $70,000 at December 31, 2011 to satisfyeatlaining obligations under the purctk
agreement. The Company recorded a $677,000 reduictithe fair value of the contingent consideratielated to the TAS purchase agreet
during 2011. This adjustment is recognized insbléing, general, and administrative expenses@ttnsolidated statement of operations.

On April 26, 2010, the Company recorded intangiatsets as a result of the acquisition, totaling5§X®. These intangible as:
included contractual and namontractual customer relationships, customer bagckitcmdemarks, domain names, and other marketitagec
intangibles. These assets are being amortized avestimated useful life of one to ten years20a1, the Company accelerated the amortiz
related to one of their contractual customer refethips due to the completion of TAS's contrachwiiite customer. The Company recogn
approximately $116,000 of additional amortizatienaaresult of this acceleration during 2011.

TAS’ results of operations are included in the adidsited financial statements for the period beigigipril 26, 2010.

F-18




4. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for flears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 were aw${in thousands):

Net book value at December 31, 2( $ 1,73
2010 Activity
Acquisitions 86
Foreign currency translation

Net book value at December 31, 2( 2,60
2011 Activity
Acquisitions 1,85
Foreign currency translation ¢

Net book value at December 31, 2( $ 4,46

Intangible Assets Subject to Amortization

As part of the Compang’ acquisition of TAS in 2010, the Company recoritgdngible assets totaling approximately $735,00th
estimated lives of one to ten years. The Compistyracorded intangible assets of $1.5 million veihimated lives of three to eight years as pi
the EnVision acquisition in 2011.

The following table shows the gross carrying amoamd accumulated amortization of definliteed intangibles related to continui
operations:

(in thousands) As of December 31, 201
Gross
Carrying Accumulatec
Amount Amortization Net
Amortized intangible asset
Customer relationshig $ 64 $ (545) $ 102
Nor-contractual customer relationsh 911 (305) 60¢
Developed technolog 471 (59 412
In process research and developn 152 (84) 68
Contract backlo 36 (36) -
Trade names and oth 29 13 16
Foreign currency translation 12 (8) -
Total $ 2251 $ (1,050 $ 1,207
As of December 31, 201
Gross
Carrying Accumulatec
Amount Amortization Net
Amortized intangible asset
Customer relationshig 20¢ 43 $ 16€
Nor-contractual customer relationsh 47¢ (32 44¢
Contract backloy 35 (24) 12
Trade names and oth 14 3 10
Foreign currency translation 4 - (4)
Total $ 73¢ $ (102 $ 637
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Amortization is recognized on a straitjhe basis over the estimated useful life of themgible assets, except for contrac
customer relationships and contract backlog, wilischecognized in proportion to the related projdatevenue streams. In 2011, the Com,
accelerated the amortization expense related t@mbA@dS’ customer relationships due to the completbf TAS' contract with the customer. T
acceleration resulted in an additional $116,000amiortization expense in 2011. The Company revispecific definitelived intangibles fc
impairment when events occur that may impact thaline in accordance with the respective accourginigance for londived assets. There we
no impairment charges recorded for the years ebdgegmber 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009.

Amortization expense related to definitged intangible assets totaled $948,000 and $DPf6r the years ended December 31, 201’
2010, respectively. The following table shows éstimated amortization expense of the defilited intangible assets for the next five years
thereafter:

(in thousands
Fiscal year ending

2012 $ (312
2013 (207
2014 (14C
2015 (12¢
2016 (121
Thereafter (29¢

$ (1,207

5. Contract Receivables

Contract receivables represent balances due fronoad base of both domestic and international cwsts. All contract receivables .
considered to be collectible within twelve montRecoverable costs and accrued profit not billedesgnt costs incurred and associated |
accrued on contracts that will become billable uftnre milestones or completion of contracts. Thenponents of contract receivables ar
follows:

(in thousands) December 31
2011 2010
Billed receivablet $ 8,25¢ $ 7,738
Recoverable costs and accrued profit not b 12,23¢ 11,50¢
Allowance for doubtful accounts (13€) (2,040
Total contract receivables, net $ 20,35¢ $ 17,20:
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6. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets cohtist following:

(in thousands) December 31
2011 2010
Prepaid expenst $ 671 $ 41¢€
Employee advance 50 96
Deferred income tax- current 127 35
Value added tax receivak - 71¢€
Unrestricted certificates of depo 1,76¢ -
Other current assets 1,115 727
Total $ 3,73:. $  1,99:

7. Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Equipment and leasehold improvements consist ofale@ving:

(in thousands) December 31
2011 2010
Computer equipmet $ 3,83t $  3,44¢
Leasehold improvemen 181 53:
Furniture and fixtures 1,19( 74¢
5,20¢ 4,727
Accumulated depreciation (4,105 (3,667)

Equipment and leasehold improvements, $ 1,101 $  1,06(

Depreciation expense was $497,000, $597,000, abdl, 330 for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2002009, respectively.
8. Software Development Costs

Software development costs, net, consist of tHeviahg:

(in thousands) December 31
2011 2010
Capitalized software development cc $ 322¢ $ 2,59
Accumulated amortization (1,417) (809)
Software development costs, net $ 1,81t $  1,79(

Software development costs capitalized were $888,$903,000, and $861,000 for the years ended Deeefi, 2011, 2010, and 20
respectively. Amortization of software developmeoosts capitalized was $813,000, $978,000, and ,$883 for the years end
December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively waas included in cost of revenue. In the fourtlarter of 2010, the Company wrote off
remaining capitalized value of four generic tragngimulators totaling $317,000.
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9. Investment in Emirates Simulation Academy, LLC

On November 8, 2005, the Emirates Simulation AcaddrhC (“ESA”), headquartered in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emiratess forme:
to build and operate simulation training acaderiridhe Arab Gulf Region. The members of the limitiadhility company include Al Qudra Holdit
PJSC of the United Arab Emirates (60% ownershim,Gentre of Excellence for Applied Research araining of the United Arab Emirates (3!
ownership) and GSE (10% ownership). The Companguated for its investment in ESA using the equitgtinod. For the year ended Decen
31, 2009, the Company recognized a $615,000 etps$yon its investment in ESA. The equity loss vea®rded in other income (expense), net.

In January 2006, GSE received a $15.1 million @attirom ESA (the “ESA Contracttp supply five simulators and an integrated traj
program. The Company received change orders totaling $Ul®mifrom ESA which increased the total order alto $16.9 million. |
accordance with the equity method of accounting,Glompany eliminated 10% of the profit from the ESéntract as the training simulators w
assets that had been recorded on the books of &&Athe Company was thus required to eliminatpriportionate share of the profit include:
the asset value. ESA assigned a four year lifehto simulators and began to amortize the trainimyulstors on their books effecti
January 1, 2009. Accordingly, on January 1, 2@SE began to amortize the deferred profit to otheome over a four year period, recogni:
income of $181,000 in the year ended December(®19.2

The Company has provided a partial guarantee of b0%SA’s credit facility with Union National BanKUNB”); $1.2 million wat
deposited into a restricted interest-bearing actwith UNB in 2006. The interest earned on thérieted cash is part of the pledged deposit.

At December 31, 2010, ESA had borrowed a total BDA36.4 million ($9.9 million) from its credit fddy with UNB, including accrue
interest payable. ESA was delinquent in payindhwtncipal and interest (a total of AED 5.3 milli@r $1.5 million) and in January 2010, U
drew upon the guarantees of the three partnersayo gif the delinquency, withdrawing $145,000 fronBEs restricted cash account.
February 2010, GSE was notified that ESA had missedher loan payment and that 10% of the amouat(§24,000) would be withdrawn frc
the Company’s restricted cash account.

At a meeting of ESAS three shareholders held at ESA on February 11Q,20e shareholders reached agreement to sigmtifjceeduc
costs and begin to explore options up to and irictuthe selling of ESA.
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Accordingly, based upon these events, the Compatgrmined that its remaining investment in ESA at&nber 31, 2009 was impai
and established reserves for the $1.6 million tradeivable due from ESA at December 31, 2009 andhe cash that GSE has on deposit
UNB as a partial guarantee for ESACredit facility. Partially offsetting these chasgwas the reversal of the remaining deferred tpreifited to th
Companys sale of five simulators to ESA in prior years dimel remaining agent fee that was due upon payofehe final outstanding receivak
The charges recorded and the presentation indlensént of operations for the year ended Decenthe2(9 were as follows:

Year ende(
(in thousands) December 31, 200
Trade receivabl $ 1,60
Accrued agent fee (96)
Operating expense 1,50¢
Restricted cash- bank guarantee and accrued
interest incomt 1,291
Investment in ES/ 117
Deferred profit (549)
Other expense, net 86&
Total $ 2,37%

In 2011 and 2010, Union National Bank withdrew talt@f $78,000 and $294,000, respectivélgm the cash GSE had on deposit 1
them as a partial guarantee against E3ive of credit. Any interest income earned fritnis account in 2011 and 2010 was not recordedteres
income but was credited to the reserve balanceDekember 31, 2011 the Company had $926,000 remgginithe restricted UNB account wh
was fully reserved.

10. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

ASC 820Fair Value Measurements and Disclosudedines fair value as the exchange price that wbeldeceived for an asset or pai
transfer a liability (an exit price) in the printgpor most advantageous market for the asset bitityain an orderly transaction between ma
participants on the measurement date. ASC 820eatablishes a fair value hierarchy which require®matity to maximize the use of observi
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inpdisn measuring fair value.

The levels of the fair value hierarchy establishgd\SC 820 are:

Level 1: inputs are quoted prices, unadjustediciive markets for identical assets or liabilitieat the reporting entity has the ability
access at the measurement date.

Level 2: inputs are other than quoted prices uwetl within Level 1 that are observable for the tsseliability, either directly ¢
indirectly. A Level 2 input must be observable $abstantially the full term of the asset or liéhil

Level 3: inputs are unobservable and reflect @porting entityS own assumptions about the assumptions that mpakgtipants woul
use in pricing the asset or liability.
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The Company considers the recorded value of cedhiits financial assets and liabilities, which s primarily of cash and ce
equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts fEgytabtapproximate the fair value of the respectissets and liabilities at December 31, 2011
December 31, 2010 based upon the short-term natthe assets and liabilities.

The Company had $8.2 million deposited in a moneyket account with Susquehanna Bank on Decemb&031, The Company h
$17.0 million deposited in a money market accoditit BOA on December 31, 2010.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company was contimgéable for ten standby letters of credit andethisurety bonds totaling $5.6 mill
which represent bid and performance bonds on aghtracts. The Company has deposited the fullevaiieight standby letters of credit
certificates of deposit, $4.2 million, which haveeb restricted in that the Company does not havesacto these funds until the related lette
credit have expired. The cash has been recordéleo@ompany’s balance sheet at December 31, 201dsticted cash and logrm restricte
cash depending on the expiration date of the @matd of deposit. An additional two letters ofditehave been collateralized using the Comp:
line of credit.

The following table presents assets and liabilittesasured at fair value at December 31, 2011:

Quoted Price: Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Asset: Inputs Inputs
(in thousands) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Money market fun $ 8,16: $ - $ - 8,16:
Certificates of depos 5,97¢ - - 5,97¢
Foreign exchange contracts - 482 - 482
Total assets $ 14,13¢ $ 48: $ - $ 14,62:
Foreign exchange contracts $ - $ (319 $ - $ (314
Total liabilities $ - 3 (3149 $ - 8 (319
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The following table presents assets and liabilitiesasured at fair value at December 31, 2010:

Quoted Price: Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservabl
Identical Asset: Inputs Inputs
(in thousands) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Money market func $ 17,017 $ - % - 17,017
Certificates of depos 77¢ - - 77¢
Foreign exchange contracts - 32k - 32t
Total assets $ 17,79¢ $ 328 % - % 18,12:
Foreign exchange contracts $ - $ (249 $ - $ (244)
Total liabilities $ - % (244 $ - % (244)

For the years ended December 31, 2011 ah@, 20e Company did not have any transfers betfaenmalue Level 1 and Level 2.

11. Long-Term Debt

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company hadnmgpterm debt.
Line of Credit

At December 31, 2011, the Company had a Master lazah Security Agreement and Revolving Credit Notth vBusquehanna Ba
(“Susquehanna”). The Company and its subsidiaf&&t Power Systems, Inc., and GSE EnVision Increvj@ntly and severally liable as co-
borrowers. The Loan Agreement provides a $7.5amiltevolving line of credit for the purpose of (§suing standy letters of credit and (
providing working capital. Working capital advandasar interest at a rate equal to the Wall Streetnal Prime Rate of Interest, floating wit
floor of 4 12%. The two-year agreement is to expimeNovember 1, 2013.

As collateral for the Company’obligations, the Company granted a first lien aadurity interest in all of the assets of the Cany

including but not limited to, accounts receivalieentory, proceeds and products, intangibles etraatks, patents, intellectual property, machi
and equipment.
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Initially, all (i) issuances of stand-by letters afedit and (ii) advances of working capital (cotieely referred to as the “Advancés”
required that the Company maintain cash balandes “@ash Balance Requirement]) the Bank in an amount equal to the Advanced) e
minimum of $3.0 million at all times. The Cash 8ate Requirement was to be reduced to the minimuouat if the Companyg consolidated n
income after taxes (exclusive of (a) gains anddssm derivatives and (b) stock option expensejiefised (“Net Income”)was positive for th
year ending December 31, 2011. Thereafter, thé Batance Requirement will remain at the minimunoant as long as the Compasyjuarterl
Net Income commencing for the quarter ending M&th2012, remains positive and the Company is mpt@nce with the covenants. If -
Companys quarterly Net Income, is negative or the Comgampot in compliance with the covenants, the Caalace Requirement will revert
the amount of the Advances, until the Company radtgiositive Net Income for two consecutive quartdise credit agreements contained ce
restrictive covenants regarding future acquisitjcarsd incurrence of debt. In addition, the credjteements contained financial covenants
respect to the Compary’cash flow coverage ratio, minimum tangible cédpitase, quick ratio, and tangible capital baseorafit
December 31, 2011 and throughout all of 2011, then@any had not paid any interest or principal paysieelated to any borrowings for over
year. As such the cash flow coverage ratio isapplicable at December 31, 2011.

As of
Covenan December 31, 201
Minimum tangible capital bas Must Exceed $26.0 millio $31.3 million
Quick ratio Must Exceed 2.00 : 1.C 2.71:1.0C
Tangible capital base rat Not to Exceed .75 : 1.C .64 :1.0C

As the Company’s Net Income for the year endedebder 31, 2011 was positive, the Company currevitlyonly be required to
maintain cash balances of $3.0 million at Susquehait December 31, 2011, the Company had $200r0B8dvances, all of which consisted of
outstanding stand-by letters of credit.

12. Income Taxes

The consolidated income (loss) before income taxeslomestic and foreign sources, is as follows:

(in thousands) Years ended December i

2011 2010 2009
Domestic $ 1,20¢ $ (3119 $ (2,11Y
Foreign 1,15¢ 1,071 2,23¢

Total $ 2,36% $ (2,049 12(C
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The provision for income taxes is as follows:

(in thousands) Years ended December
2011 2010 2009
Current:
Federa $ 62 $ - % 29
State 181 9 80
Foreign 33€ 233 512
Subtotal 57¢ 242 621
Deferred:
Federal (1,002) 0 0
Foreign (147) (36) 29€
Subtotal (1,149 (36) 29€
Total $ (569 $ 20€ $ 917

The Company is entitled to a deduction for fedematl state tax purposes with respect to employs&egk option activity. As ¢
December 31, 2011, the Company had $5.7 millionrwécognized excess tax deductions related to casagien for stock option exercises wt
will be recognized when the net operating lossyéarwards are fully utilized and those excess tardiits result in a reduction to income te
payable.

The effective income tax rate differed from thediary federal income tax rate due to the following

Effective Tax Rate Percentage (

Years ended December !

2011 2010 2009
Statutory federal income tax re 34.0% 34.(% 34.(%
State income taxes, net of federal tax ber 5.C (0.5 44.1
Effect of foreign operation (12.0 (4.6) (157.9)
Change in valuation allowan: (68.9) (38.9) 669.€
Other, principally permanent differences 17.2 (0.2 173.5
Effective tax rate (23.9)% (10.7) % 764.2%

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary diffeesnbetween the tax bases of assets and liab#gitidstheir reported amounts in
financial statements. A summary of the tax eftddhe significant components of the deferred inedax assets (liabilities) is as follows:
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(in thousands) December 31

2011 2010 2009
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 485( $ 589: $ 5,65(
Capital loss carryforwarc 2,351 2,47z 2,44
Accruals and reserve 13t 12¢ 251
Expenses not currently deductible for tax purpt 1,49¢ 1,35¢ 1,15:
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwar 16€ 16€ 16€
Other 1,44¢ 1,162 66C
Total deferred tax ass 10,44¢ 11,17¢ 10,32
Valuation allowance (6,869 (8,662) (8,375
Total deferred tax asset less valuation allowance 3,75¢ 2,51¢ 1,94¢
Deferred tax liabilities
Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidii (1,950 (2,790 (1,319
Software development cos (690 (677) (724)
Other (1,145 (427) (87)
Total deferred tax liability (3,78%) (2,88¢) (2,124
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ 209) $ (372 $ 17€

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax @sseanagement considers whether it is more likey not that some or all of 1
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The @terrealization of deferred tax assets is dependaorh the generation of future taxable inc
during the periods in which those temporary diffexes become deductible. Management considershigelsled reversal of deferred tax liabili
and projected future income in making this asseestme

Management believes that the Company will achieeéitpble operations in future years that will eleathe Company to reco\
the benefit of its deferred tax assets. Howevérermthan for a portion of the deferred tax asdes dre related to the Compasyhdian subsidiar
the Company presently does not have sufficientativje evidence to substantiate the recovery ofitferred tax assets. Accordingly, the Comj
has established a full $6.9 million valuation aliowe on its U.S. and Scottish deferred tax asséde@mber 31, 2011. The valuation allow:
for deferred tax assets decreased by $1.8 milfic?0ilL1, increased by $287,000 in 2010 and increlag&d 16,000 in 2009.

At December 31, 2011, the Companldrgest deferred tax asset of $4.9 million prilpaelates to a U.S. net operating |
carryforward of $13.2 million which expires in vamis amounts between 2017 and 2030. The amouniSflbss carryforward which can be u
by the Company each year is limited due to chamgéise Company’s ownership which occurred in 2008us, a portion of the Compamsyfos:
carryforward may expire unutilized.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The Company, through its acquisition of EnVision &amuary 4, 2011, recorded $320,000 of unrecogniaedenefits as well as
receivable from the EnVision shareholders for taene amount as indemnity for this tax position. iBgir2011, the Company also recor
$126,000 of unrecognized tax benefits in 2011 &tain foreign tax contingencies. These liab#it@re included in other current liabilities
the consolidated balance sheet. The Company redoterest and penalties associated with unceté&irpositions as a component of income
expense. As of Deceber 31, 2011, the Companydwased $10,000 of interest and penalties.
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13. Capital Stock

The Companys Board of Directors has authorized 32,000,000 sttares of capital stock, of which 30,000,000designated as comm
stock and 2,000,000 are designated as preferreH. sithe Board of Directors has the authority ttalelish one or more classes of preferred ¢
and to determine, within any class of preferredlstthe preferences, rights and other terms of slags.

On September 4, 2009, the Company raised $15.wmihrough the sale of 2.5 million shares of itsntnon stock, $.01 par value
share. The shares were sold under a shelf rdipstratatement which was declared effective by $leeurities and Exchange Commissior
August 21, 2009. On September 23, 2009, the Coynpaised an additional $2,250,000 when the Commamyiderwriter, exercised an over-
allotment option in full to purchase an additio8@b,000 shares of the Compasmgommon stock at the public offering price of $6p@r share. Tl
aggregate net proceeds received by the Companytfrertwo transactions was approximately $15.9 amilliThe Company paid the underwrit:
fee in the amount of 6% of the gross proceedsveddiy the Company from the offering ($1,035,00@) paid $339,000 in other transaction fees.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company has resen838863 shares of common stock for issuance: F880shares upon exercise
outstanding stock options; 138,867 shares uporcieseeof outstanding warrants; 747,746 shares fordéugrants under the Company’s 1995 Long-
Term Incentive Plan; and 166,667 shares upon eseerfi warrants that the Company is obligated toeisa the event of a default under its <
2007 common stock sale.

Share Repurchase Pl

On March 21, 2011, the Board of Directors authatitee purchase of up to $3.0 million of the Compamyommon stock in accordai
with the safe harbor provisions of Rule 1D®-of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Dutihg year ended December 31, 2011 the Corr
repurchased 824,374 shares at an aggregate ckik6ofillion .

Preferred Stock Righ

On March 21, 2011, the Board of Directors of thenpany declared a dividend, payable to holders @drebas of the close of business
April 1, 2011, of one preferred stock purchase triggh "Right") for each outstanding share of comnstock, par value $0.01 per share, of
Company (the "Common Stock"). In addition, the @amy will issue one Right with each new share om8mn Stock issued. In connecl
therewith, on March 21, 2011, the Company entemed ia Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement (aermled from time to time, t
Rights Agreement) with Continental Stock Transferi&st Company, as Rights Agent, which has a tefrthiee years, unless amended by
Board of Directors in accordance with the terms tbé Rights Agreement. Upon approval of both anepahdent committee of t
Board of Directors and the Board of Directors, Rights Plan can be extended for up to three yelng. Rights will initially trade with and |
inseparable from the Common Stock and will notWidenced by separate certificates unless they be@ercisable. Each Right entitles its hc
to purchase from the Company omendredth of a share of participating preferredlsteaving economic and voting terms similar to @@mmor
Stock at an exercise price of $8.00 per Right,exttp adjustment in accordance with the term$iefRights Agreement, once the Rights bec
exercisable. Under the Rights Agreement, the Rigetome exercisable if any person or group acs@idé6 or more of the Common Stock o
the case of any person or group that owned 20%ooe of the Common Stock as of March 21, 2011, uperacquisition of any additional she
by such person or group. The Company, its sub#diaemployee benefit plans of the Company or @niys subsidiaries and any entity hold
Common Stock for or pursuant to the terms of arghqlan are excepted. Upon exercise of the Rightcordance with the Rights Agreement
holder would be able to purchase a number of shafré&mmon Stock from the Company having an agdesgaarket price (as defined in
Rights Agreement) equal to twice the then-curremr@se price for an amount in cash equal to tem-turrent exercise price. In addition,
Company may, in certain circumstances and purdoatie terms of the Rights Agreement, exchangdrights for one share of Common Stoc
an equivalent security for each Right or, altewsyi, redeem the Rights for $0.001 per Right. Rights will not prevent a takeover of
Company, but may cause substantial dilution toragrethat acquires 20% or more of the Company’s idomStock.
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14. Stock-Based Compensation
Lonc-term incentive plau

During 1995, the Company established the 1995 Lbagr Incentive Stock Option Plan (the “Planihich permits the granting of stc
options (including incentive stock options and naaldied stock options) stock appreciation righiesstricted or unrestricted stock awards, pha
stock, performance awards or any combination ofeh® employees, directors or consultants. Opttonpurchase shares of the Company’
common stock under the Plan expire in either s@reen years from the date of grant and becomecisedale in three, five, or seven installme
with a certain percentage of options vesting onfite anniversary of the grant date and additiomgtions vesting on each of the subsecg
anniversaries of the grant date, subject to aci@ber under certain circumstances. The Plan exmireJune 30, 2018; the total number of sl
that could be issued under the Plan is 5,500,8@00f December 31, 2011, 3,340,583 stock optionsewmitstanding under the Plan, w
747,746 stock options remained to be granted uthgePlan.

The Company recognizes compensation expense oro aapa straight-line basis over the requisite seryperiod for stocloase:
compensation awards with both graded and cliffimgsierms. The Company recognizes the cumulafifeztof a change in the number of aw:
expected to vest in compensation expense in thiedef change. The Company has not capitalizedpamntfon of its stock-based compensation.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 201028606, the Company recognized $727,000, $807,0606806,000, respectively,
pre-tax stock-based compensation expense undé@ithalue method.

Stock option and warrant activity

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coyngeemted stock options to purchase 1,463,000 shafreommon stock to G
directors, officers, and employees. No warranfsuechase shares of common stock were issued ih 201

Information with respect to stock option and watractivity as of and for the year ended Decembef811 is as follows:

Weighted
Aggregate Average
Number Weighted Intrinsic Remaining
of Average Value Contractual Life
Shares Exercise Pricc  (in thousands (Years)
Shares under option and warrant, December 31, 2,274,120 $ 4.3
Options grante: 1,463,00 1.9
Options exercise (77,17¢€ 1.7
Warrants exercise (5,65C 1.7
Options forfeitec (61,85¢ 4.9
Warrants expired (112,994 1.7
Shares under option and warrant, December 311, 201 3,479,45! 3.4 $ 29 4.9
Options expected to vest 2,040,69 2.9 $ 13 6.4
Options and warrants exercisable at Decembe2(Bl1, 1,438,76! $ $ 2.7
S 4.2¢ 15¢€
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A summary of the status of the Companyonvested options as of and for the year endexdmiger 31, 2011 is presented below.
outstanding warrants were vested prior to 2011.

Weighted
Number Average
of Share: Fair Value
Nonvested options at December 31, 2 902,29 $ 3.1
Options grante: 1,463,00 0.9
Options vested during the peri (262,74¢ 3.0
Options forfeited (61,85¢ 3.4
Nonvested options at December 31, 2 2,040,69 $ 15

The fair value of the options granted in 2011, 2@hd 2009 were estimated on the date of grant usiBack-Scholes optiopricing
model with the following assumptions:

Years ended December !

2011 2010 2009
Risk-free interest rate 1.0€-2.28% .57%- 2.93% 1.71%- 3.04%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Expected life 3.75- 6.98 year: 2.5- 6.5 years 5.5- 7.0 years
Volatility 49.49- 60.24% 37.2- 63.8% 65.9%- 78.22%
Weighted average volatilit 55.04% 55.38% 67.85%

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had $1.7 anilbf unrecognized compensation expense relateitheounvested portion
outstanding stock options expected to be recognimecdh prorata straight line basis over a weighted averageai@ng service period
approximately 6.5 years.

The Company received cash for the exercise prisecied with stock options exercised of $132,3%%,000, and $103,000 during

years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 200%atégsgy. The total intrinsic value realized byrt@pants on stock options exercised
$103,000, $159,000 and $213,000 during the yeatsceBecember 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively
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15. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company is obligated under certain noncancelalperating leases for office facilities and equepin Future minimum lea
payments under noncancelable operating leases@esceimber 31, 2011 are as follows:

(in thousands Gross Futur
Minimum Lease
Payment:

201z $ 91
201z 7€
201¢ 52
201¢ 4¢
201€ 5(
Thereafter 8¢

Total $ 4,04

Total rent expense under operating leases foré¢hesyended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 wesxapately $1.1 million, $942,000, and
$867,000, respectively.

Standby Letters of credit, bank guarantees, surehds and performance bonds

As of December 31, 2011, the Company was contigéable for ten standby letters of credit andethisurety bonds totaling $5.6 mill
which represent bid and performance bonds on aightracts. The Company has deposited the full value of eigahdby letters of cred
$4.2 million, in certificates of deposit, which tealzeen restricted in that the Company does not Aewess to these funds until the related lette
credit have expired. The cash has been recordéldeoBompanys balance sheet at December 31, 2011 as restcagdbd An additional two lette
of credit have been collateralized using the Comisdime of credit.

The Company has provided a partial guarantee of ADEGA’s credit facility with Union National Bank; $1.2 ifion was deposited into
restricted interedbearing account with UNB in 2006. The interesnhedron the restricted cash is part of the pledggubsit. In January 2010,
Company was notified by UNB that ESA was delinquanhaking principal and interest payments on thtstanding borrowings from their cre
facility and that UNB had drawn upon the guarantekthe three partners to pay off the delinquentiie Company established a full rest
against the $1.3 million restricted cash accountfa3ecember 31, 2010. In 2011 and 2010, Unioriddat Bank withdrew a total of $78,000 ¢
$294,000, respectively, from the cash GSE had pogiewith them as a partial guarantee against E3A¢é of credit. Any interest income ear
from this account in 2011 and 2010 was not recomdécterest income but was credited to the resbalance. At December 31, 2011 the Com|
had $926,000 remaining in the restricted UNB acterich was fully reserved.

Contingencies

Various actions and proceedings are presently pgnidi which the Company is a party. In the opingdrmanagement, the aggrec
liabilities, if any, arising from such actions aret expected to have a material adverse effecherinancial position, results of operations orh
flows of the Company.

In 2009, the Company entered into a contract witlvéhské elektrarne, a.s. (“SE”) to provide a fidbpe simulator for a two unit reactor
plant in Slovakia. To date, the Company has re@egh$21.0 million of revenue under the terms ofdietract. In September 2011, the Company
received a $3.0 million change order for this cacitwhich increased its total contractual valug26.8 million. $2.1 million of the $3.0 million
change order related to compensation provided bio3fie Company for a nine and half month delaysediby SE.

In November and December 2011 and January 2018p8fied the Company of various alleged breachas®ftcontract. In the
notification, SE claimed a contractual penaltydetay in the amount of $1.0 million related to @empany'’s failure to complete Factory
Acceptance Testing (“FAT”) for the simulator andspacified potential damages for other alleged lreaof the contract.
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Based upon the schedule for the completion of Féftained in the contract, which currently doestake into account the acknowledged
nine and a half month delay caused by SE, the Coyngl@aes not believe that it was responsible fordtblay in FAT completion. After engaging in
discussions with SE, the Company formally resportdeall of the claims in January 2012. The Compamng SE are currently discussing a
resolution of all of their outstanding issues. Hueme at December 31, 2011, the Company has $5l@mdf recoverable costs and accrued profit
not billed, and a $2.9 million performance bongiace to secure completion of the contract.

16. Employee Benefits

The Company has a qualified defined contributioanpthat covers substantially all U.S. employeeseunBlection 401(k) of tt
Internal Revenue Code. Under this plan, the Coryipastipulated basic contribution matches a portibthe participants' contributions based L
a defined schedule. The Company's contributionghto plan were approximately $271,000, $245,00@ &f097,000 for the years ent
December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009, respectively.

17. Segment Information

The Company has one reportable business segmenprihades simulation solutions and services to thelear and fossil fuel pow
industry, and to the chemical and petrochemicalstries. Contracts typically range from 10 monththree years.

For the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, ab@, B0%, 72%, and 73%, respectively, of the Comfmuognsolidated revenue v
from customers in the nuclear power industry, respely. The Company designs, develops and delibessness and technology solutions tc
energy industry worldwide. Revenue, operating inedloss) and total assets for the Compatynited States, European, and Asian subsidias
of and for the years ended December 31, 2011, 20402009 are as follows:

(in thousands) Year ended December 31, 2(
United State: Europe Asia Eliminations  Consolidatec
Contract revenu $ 37,58° % 12,447 % 1,09¢ $ - $ 51,12¢
Transfers between geographic locations 1,37¢ - 41€ (1,795 -
Total contract revenue $ 38,96¢ $ 12,44 % 151z $ (1,799 $ 51,12¢
Operating income $ 745 $ 1,29: % 19C $ - $ 2,22¢
Total assets, at December 31 $ 78,90C $ 13,42¢ 3% 1,00z $ (34,5160 $ 58,81t

(in thousands) Year ended December 31, 2(
United State! Europe Asia Eliminations  Consolidatec
Contract revenu $ 37,190 $ 9,69¢ $ 317 % - $ 47,21
Transfers between geographic locations 352 79€ (1,150 -
Total contract revenue $ 37,54¢ % 9,69¢ $ 1,11t $ - % 47,218
Operating income (loss) $ (2,39) $ 1,157 $ 8 $ - % (1,232
Total assets, at December 31 $ 70,78 $ 12,68¢ $ 35 % (30,21) $ 53,61«

(in thousands) Year ended December 31, 2C
United State! Europe Asia Eliminations  Consolidatec
Contract revenu $ 34,05¢ $ 6,00 $ - % - % 40,06(
Transfers between geographic locations 322 30 604 (957) -
Total contract revenue $ 34,37¢  $ 6,03 $ 604 $ (957 $ 40,06(
Operating income (loss) $ (536) $ 1,018 $ 81 $ - % 562

Approximately 66%, 71%, and 65% of the Compar3011, 2010, and 2009 revenue, respectively, wased from international sales
its products and services from all of its subsidir
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18. Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Informatin

(in thousands)

Year ended December &

2011

2010 2009

Cash paid
Interest $

Income taxes $

81: $

54t ¢ 20¢€

19. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The Company’s quarterly financial information had been audited but, in managemsmtpinion, includes all adjustments necessary

fair presentation.

(in thousands, except per share d¢

Year ended December 31, 2011 Quarterly [

First Seconc Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Contract revenu $ 12,32: % 11,257 $ 12,54¢ % 14,99¢
Operating income (los: (287) 24¢ 97t 1,292
Net income (|OSS 1,01 (244) 85¢& 1,174
Basic income (loss) per common share  $ 0.0t $ (0.00) $ 0.0t $ 0.0¢€
Diluted income (loss) per common share $ 0.0t $ (0.00) $ 0.0t $ 0.0¢€

Year ended December 31, 2010 Quarterly [

First Seconc Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Contract revenu $ 11,20¢ $ 11,770 $ 11,90 $ 12,32¢
Operating income (los! 458 751 (328 (2,10¢)
Net income (loss 44¢ 37¢ (54¢) (2,520
Basic income (loss) per common share  $ 0.0z $ 0.0z $ (0.09) $ (0.13)
Diluted income (loss) per common share $ 0.0z $ 0.0z $ (0.09 $ (0.13

20. Subsequent Events

During the period January 1, 2012 through March(3,2, the Company repurchased an additional 15GB&s of its common stock a
aggregate cost of $280,102. These purchases wade i accordance with the provisions of the shaprirchase plan as authorized by
Board of Directors on March 21, 2011. As of Ma6;t2012 the Company has repurchased a total of68¥4shares at an aggregate co:

$1.9 million. Subsequent events have been evaldhteugh the date of the independent auditor'srtep
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC.
FORM 10-K
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

The Company maintains disclosure controls and phaes that are designed to ensure that informaéiquired to be disclosed by it in
reports filed or submitted pursuant to the Seasifixchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exch&wtj, is recorded, processed, summar
and reported within the time periods specifiedhia Securities and Exchange Commissioniles and forms and that information requirede
disclosed by the Company in its Exchange Act repast accumulated and communicated to managemealiding the Compang
Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”), who is its prin@pexecutive officer, and Chief Financial OfficéEFQO”), who is its principal financial officer,
allow timely decisions regarding required disclesuAt the end of the period covered by this repart evaluation was performed under
supervision and with the participation of our masragnt including our CEO and our CFO, of the effextess of the design and operation of
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to ReHi5(e) of the Exchange Act. Based on the evaluatfaur disclosure controls and proced:
as of December 31, 2011, our Chief Executive Offiged Chief Financial Officer concluded that, assath date, our disclosure controls
procedures were effective.

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Controlover Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing emaihtaining adequate internal control over finahaigporting as defined
Exchange Act Rule 1385(f). Our internal control processes and procesiare designed to provide reasonable assuraraliregthe reliability c
financial reporting and the preparation of our adidsited financial statements in accordance withtédhStates generally accepted accoul
principles.

Under the supervision and with the participationnenagement, including our CEO and CFO, we conduateevaluation of interr
control over financial reporting as of December®111 based on the criteria set forth by the Cotemivf Sponsoring Organizations of
Treadway Commission imnternal Control—Integrated Framework.Based upon our evaluation, we concluded that oternal control ove
financial reporting was effective as of DecemberZil1.

The effectiveness of the Compasyhternal control over financial reporting as afd@mber 31, 2011 has been audited by KPMG LL
independent registered public accounting firm, veheport appears in Iltem 8 of this Annual ReporForm 10-K.
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(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reprting

The Company has made no changes in its internatatsrover financial reporting during the quartaded December 31, 2011 that h
materially affected or are reasonably likely to enetly affect our internal control over financi@porting.

(d) Limitation of Effectiveness of Controls

Internal control over financial reporting has ingr@r limitations. Internal control over financiaporting is a process that involves hui
diligence and compliance and is subject to lapsepidgment and breakdowns resulting from humarurfed. Internal control over financ
reporting also can be circumvented by collusioninoproper management override. Because of suchaliimns, there is a risk that mate
misstatements will not be prevented or detected timely basis by internal control over financieporting. However, these inherent limitations
known features of the financial reporting procesberefore, it is possible to design into the pssceafeguards to reduce, though not eliminat
risk.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE.

The information required by this item, includingrits 401, 405 406 and 407 of Regulatiol,S$s incorporated by reference to the sec
captioned “Directors and Executive Officersin the definitive Proxy Statement for the Compan012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders
incorporated herein by reference or will be prodidean amendment to this Annual Report on ForniK10-

The Company has adopted a Conduct of BusinessyPlat applies to its directors, officers and ergples, including its princip
executive officer, and principal financial officefhe Conduct of Business Policy is available om @ompanys website at www.gses.com.
addition, the Company has adopted a Code of Efbici#s principal executive officer and senior firidal officers which is also available on
Companys website. The Company will post on its websit®rimation about any amendment to, or waiver fromy provision of the Code
Ethics that applies to its principal executive @i, principal financial officer, or principal aagating officer.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this item will eithe bet forth under theExecutive Compensatidrsection in the definitive Proxy Statem
for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders anarporated herein by reference or will be providedn amendment to this Annual Repor
Form 10-K.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.

ITEM 12.

The information required by this item will be eithget forth under the sections captione®¥dting Securities and Principal Holde
Thereof,”and “Executive Compensatidnin the definitive Proxy Statement for the 2012 AahMeeting of Shareholders and incorporated h
by reference or will be provided in an amendmerhi® Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this item will be eitteet forth under the Directors and Executive Officerssection in the definitive Pro:
Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Sharehslé@d incorporated herein by reference or wilpbavided in an amendment to this Anr
Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this item will be eitteet forth under the Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-A&btvices”
section in the definitive Proxy Statement for tiid2 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and incorporatéin by reference or will be provided ir
amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) (1) List of Financial Statements
The following financial statements are includedtém 8:
GSE Systems, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimgn — Internal Control over Financial Reporti

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimg — Consolidated Financial Stateme

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,801 201(

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaded December 31, 2011, 2010, and -

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive IncomssjlLfor the years ended December 31, 22010, and 200
Consolidated Statements of Changes in StockholBgtsty for the years ended December 31, 22010, and 200
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yaaied December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem
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(a) (2) List of Schedules

All other schedules to the consolidated finandatesnents are omitted as the required informasagither inapplicable or presented in
consolidated financial statements or related notes.

(a) (3) List of Exhibits

The Exhibits which are filed with this report or ish are incorporated by reference are set forthénExhibit Index hereto.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report to be signe
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly aigbkd.

GSE Systems, Inc.
By: /s/ JAMES A. EBERLE

James A. Eberle
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiestAis,report has been signed by the following pessa the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: March 8, 2012 / s/ JAMES A. EBERLE

James A. Eberle, Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 8, 2012 / s/ JEFFERY G. HOUGFH
Jeffery G. Hough, Senior Vice Presidi
and Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Date: March 8, 2012 (Jerome I. Feldman, ChairnfaheoBoard ) By: /s/JEFFERY G. HOUG}

(Dr. Sheldon L. Glashow, Direct: ) Jeffery G. Hougt
(Jane Bryant Quinn, Direct ) Attorney-in-Fact
(Dr. Roger Hagengruber, Direct )
)
)

(Joseph W. Lewis, Directc
(Orrie Lee Tawes lll, Directc

A Power of Attorney, dated February 29, 2012 autiny Jeffery G. Hough to sign this Annual Repartform 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2011 on behalf of certain ofliteetors of the Registrant is filed as Exhibit2# this Annual Report.
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Exhibit

Description of Exhibit

11

2.1

2.2

2.4

Underwriting Agreement

Underwriting Agreement, dated August 31, 2009 betwéhe Company and Roth Capital Partners, LLCvi®usly filed ir
connection with Form & as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimissn September 1, 2009 and incorporated h
by reference.

Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement,ifjuidation, or successior

Share Purchase Agreement relating to TAS Holdibigs, dated April 26, 2010, by and between John Msgén, Anthor
Maplesden, and John Easton and GSE Systems, Ltds&kSystems, Inc. previously filed with ForniK8as filed with thi
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 300201

Contract for the Sale and Leaseback of Land anddiBgs at 37-39 Norton Road, Stockton-bees TS18 2BU betwe
TAS Holdings Ltd. and John Maplesden, Anthony Magen and John Easton, dated April 26, 2010, prslyofiled with
Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on April 30, 2010.

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Januaryll, @thong GSE Systems, Inc., Toshi Shinohara, Santoshi, Hide
Shinohara, and EnVision Systems, Inc. Previousy fwith Form 8K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comiiit
on January 10, 2011.

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2@idden Santosh Joshi and EnVision Systems, Pieviously filed witl
Form 8-K as filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on January 10, 2011.
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3(0)

3(ii)

4.1

4.2

4.4

Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws

Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incapon of the Company. Previously filed in connestiwith the
GSE Systems, Inc. Form DEF 14A as filed with thecusiéies and Exchange Commission on November 207 28n(
incorporated herein by reference.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company. Ruskidiled in connection with Form DEF 4A as filedth the Securitie
and Exchange Commission on November 20, 2007 amdgorated herein by reference.

Instruments Defining Rights of Security Holders, irtluding Indenture .

Specimen Common Stock Certificate of the CompamgviBusly filed in connection with Amendment No. t8 the
GSE Systems, Inc. Form BRegistration Statement as filed with the Se@sgiind Exchange Commission on July 24, 199!
incorporated herein by reference.

Form of Warrant to Purchase 166,667 shares of CamBtack of GSE Systems, Inc. dated as of JuneQ®,.2Previously file
in connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Forik 8led with the Securities and Exchange CommissionJune 18, 2007 a
incorporated herein by reference.

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of JUBe2007 by and between GSE Systems, Inc. andafdhle Investors to sell
total of 1,666,667 shares of GSE Common Stockvidusly filed in connection with the GSE Systems;.IForm 8K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 18n2007 and incorporated herein by reference.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Jun@Q®/ by and between GSE Systems, Inc. and eachthe
Investors. Previously filed in connection with tI&SE Systems, Inc. Form KB-filed with the Securities and Exchar
Commission on June 18, 2007 and incorporated hbeseirference.

Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement, datedf &sawch 21, 2011, by and between GSE Systemsaimt.Continental Stoi

Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agent; FornRifhts Certificate and Form of Election to Exerciseluded in Exhibit /
to the Stockholder Protection Rights Agreementiandrporated herein by referen:
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10.

10.1

10.z

10.c

10.4

10.t

10.€

10.7

10.¢

10.¢

Material Contracts

Agreement among ManTech International Corporatidational Patent Development Corporation, GPS Teldgies, Inc.
General Physics Corporation, Vattenfall EngineeAiyand GSE Systems, Inc. (dated as of April 134)9Previously filed i
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Forrh Registration Statement as filed with the Seasiind Exchange Commiss
on April 24, 1995 and incorporated herein by rafese

GSE Systems, Inc. 1995 LoAgrm Incentive Plan, amended as of June 1, 201dvidsly filed in connection with tl
GSE Systems, Inc. Formi-as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimiissn June 1, 2011 and incorporated here
reference. *

Form of Option Agreement Under the GSE Systems,1885 LongTerm Incentive Plan. Previously filed in connentigith
the GSE Systems, Inc. Form KOas filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimis®n March 22, 1996 and incorpore
herein by reference. *

Memorandum of Association of Limited Liability Cormpy dated November 8, 2005 by and between Al Qhidtding PJSC
Centre of Excellence for Applied Research and Tinginand GSE Systems, Inc. Previously filed in ramtion with th
GSE Systems, Inc. Form 1D/ filed with the Securities and Exchange Comnaisson October 4, 2006 and incorpor:
herein by reference.

Supply Agreement Contract by and between Emiratesul@tion Academy, LLC and GSE Power Systems, Idatec
January 3, 2006. Previously filed in connectiothvthhe GSE Systems, Inc. Form Q@A filed with the Securities and Exchal
Commission on October 4, 2006 and incorporatedmérereference.

License and Technology Transfer Agreement by andw®&mn GSE Power Systems, Inc. and Emirates Simo
Academy, LLC dated January 3, 2006. Previoushdfiin connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. ForrQ1A filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on October@g aad incorporated herein by reference.

Office Lease Agreement between 1332 Londontown, lan@ GSE Systems, Inc. (dated as of February 28)20Previousl|
filed in connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Fo&K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimissor
March 11, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

$3,500,000 Ex-Im Banksuaranteed Transaction Specific Revolving Line ofd, dated as of March 28, 2008. Previo
filed in connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. F&# as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimisen April 3, 200
and incorporated herein by reference.

Security Agreement by and among GSE Systems, IB&GE Power Systems, Inc and Bank of America, N.A. d:

March 28, 2008. Previously filed in connectioniwihe GSE Systems, Inc. FornK8as filed with the Securities and Excha
Commission on April 3, 2008 and incorporated helgimeference.
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10.1¢

10.11

10.1%

10.1:

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

Borrower Agreement by and among GSE Systems, IGSE Power Systems, Inc. and Bank of America, N.Ate¢
March 28, 2008. Previously filed in connectioniwihe GSE Systems, Inc. FornK8as filed with the Securities and Excha
Commission on April 3, 2008 and incorporated helsimeference.

$1,500,000 Domestic Revolving Line of Credit datad of March 28, 2008. Previously filed in conneatiwith the
GSE Systems, Inc. Formi-as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimisen April 3, 2008 and incorporated hereir
reference.

Security Agreement by and among GSE Systems, ®8E Power Systems, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A&ted as ¢
March 28, 2008 (Domestic Revolving Line of CrediBreviously filed in connection with the GSE Sys$e Inc. Form & as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissieipril 3, 2008 and incorporated herein by refeeenc

Continuing and Unconditional Guaranty by GSE Precslutions, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A. dated al
March 28, 2008. Previously filed in connectiontwihe GSE Systems, Inc. FornK8as filed with the Securities and Excha
Commission on April 3, 2008 and incorporated helgimeference.

Continuing and Unconditional Guaranty by MSHI, laad Bank of America, N.A. dated as of March 28&0Previously file
in connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Forik 8s filed with the Securities and Exchange Comioiisen April 3, 2008 ar
incorporated herein by reference.

Pledge Agreement by and among the Company, MSkEI, @GSE Power Systems, Inc., GSE Process Solufienisand Bank ¢
America, N.A. dated as of March 28, 2008. PreVipfited in connection with the GSE Systems, Inoria 8K as filed witt
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Ap&i0B8 and incorporated herein by reference.

First Amendment to $1,500,000 Domestic RevolvingeLof Credit, dated May 5, 2009. Previously filrdonnection with th

GSE Systems, Inc. Form 1D-as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cominrissn May 11, 2009 and incorporated he
by reference.
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10.1%

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2(

10.21

10.22

10.2:

10.2¢

First Amendment to Security Agreement by and an®8¢ Systems, Inc., GSE Power Systems, Inc. and BaAknerica N./
(Domestic Revolving Line of Credit), dated as ofyMg 2009. Previously filed in connection with tB&E Systems, Inc. Fo
10-Q as filed with the Securities and Exchange Casion on May 11, 2009 and incorporated hereingbgrence.

Ratification of Guarantee by GSE Process Solutibits, and MSHI, Inc. (Ex-Im Banksuaranteed Transaction Spec
Revolving Line of Credit), dated May 5, 2009. Roesly filed in connection with the GSE Systems,. IForm 10Q as filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Mgy2009 and incorporated herein by reference .

Second Amendment to Loan AgreemenEx-Im BankGuaranteed Transaction Specific Revolving Line oéd) date
March 29, 2010. Previously filed in connection witle GSE Systems, Inc. FormK8as filed with the Securities and Excha
Commission on April 2, 2010 and incorporated helgimeference.

Second Amendment to Loan Agreement (Domestic Réwplhine of Credit) dated March 29, 2010. Previguled in
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Form 8-Kilas fwith the Securities and Exchange Commissiopril 2, 2010 an
incorporated herein by reference.

Ratification of Guaranty (Ex-Im Ban®&uaranteed Transaction Specific Revolving Line ofredt) date
March 29, 2010. Previously filed in connectioniwihe GSE Systems, Inc. FornK8as filed with the Securities and Excha
Commission on April 2, 2010 and incorporated helgimeference.

Ratification of Guaranty (Domestic Revolving Liné ©@redit) dated March 29, 2010. Previously fileddonnection with tk
GSE Systems, Inc. Formias filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimisen April 2, 2010 and incorporated hereir
reference.

Consulting Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2018vieen John V. Moran and GSE Systems, Inc. Prewidilstl in connectio
with the GSE Systems, Inc. Forrmk8as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimisen April 30, 2010 and incorpora
herein by reference.

Employment Agreement dated as of November 1, 204tlvden GSE Systems, Inc. and James Eberle. Psdyidiled in

connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Forid Bled with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarNovember 1, 2010 a
incorporated herein by reference.*
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14.

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.27

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.3(

10.31

10.32

10.3¢

10.3¢

10.3¢

10.3¢

14.1

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20Meleen GSE Systems, Inc. and Cloinr Jerry Jen. Previously filed
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. For{ 8s filed with the Securities and Exchange Cominis®n February 2, 20:
and incorporated herein by reference. *

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20idelee GSE Systems, Inc. and Jeffery G. Hough. iGusly filed ir
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Forr 8s filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimis®n February 2, 20:
and incorporated herein by reference. *

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20fMeem GSE Systems, Inc. and Michael D. FeldmamviBusly filed ir
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. FormKl@s filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimisen March 14, 201
and incorporated herein by reference. *

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20fMelea GSE Systems, Inc. and Gill Grady. Previofild in connectio
with the GSE Systems, Inc. FormK8-filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissimm February 11, 2011 a
incorporated herein by reference.*

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20Melem GSE Systems, Inc. and Lawrence Gordon. &usli filed ir
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. FormKl@s filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimisen March 14, 201
and incorporated herein by reference. *

Third Amendment to Loan Agreement (Ex-Im BaBkaranteed Transaction Specific Revolving Line akdlt) date
March 14, 2011. Previously filed in connectiontwihe GSE Systems, Inc. Form Kas filed with the Securities and Excha
Commission on March 14, 2011, and incorporatedihéngreference.

Third Amendment to Loan Agreement (Domestic RevajviLine of Credit) dated March 14, 2011. Previguled in
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. FormKl8s filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimisen March 14, 201
and incorporated herein by reference.

Ratification of Guaranty (Domestic Revolving Liné @redit) dated March 14, 2011. Previously fileddonnection with tk
GSE Systems, Inc. Form X0-as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimis®n March 14, 2011, and incorpore
herein by reference.

Employment Agreement dated as of January 1, 20hMieleemn GSE Systems, Inc. and Jerome |. Feldmanvidesdy filed ir
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. Ford 8led with the Securities and Exchange CommissionFebruary 2, 2011 a
incorporated herein by reference. *

E mployment Agreement dated as of October 12, 20idmn GSE Systems, Inc. and Phillip M. PolefroReeviously filed ii
connection with the GSE Systems, Inc. FormQ.@iled with the Securities and Exchange CommissinonNovember 9, 20:
and incorporated herein by reference. *

Master Loan and Security Agreement dated Nover2BeP011, by and among GSE Systems, Inc., GSE kEnVisc. an
Susquehanna Bank. Previously filed in connectigh the GSE Systems, Inc. Formk8Hed with the Securities and Exchai
Commission on November 29, 2011 and incorporateeitnéy reference.

$7,500,000 Revolving Credit Note, dated November2P21 incorporated herein by reference. Prewofikdd in connectio
with the GSE Systems, Inc. FormK8{filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiss@n November 29, 2011 a
incorporated herein by reference.

Code of Ethics

Code of Ethics for the Principal Executive Officand Senior Financial Officers. Previously filed dannection with th

GSE Systems, Inc. Form 10-filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissoon March 31, 2006 and incorpora
herein by referenct
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21.

23.

24.

31.

32.

211

23.1

24.1

311

31z

32.1

Subsidiaries.

List of Subsidiaries of Registrant at December28l,1, filed herewith.

Consents of Experts and Counse

Consent of KPMG LLP, filed herewith.

Power of Attorney

Power of Attorney for Directors’ and Officers’ Sigures on SEC Form 10-K, filed herewith.

Certifications

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Cgany pursuant to Securities and Exchange Act RBdel#(a)/15(dt4(a), a
adopted pursuant to Section 302 and 404 of theaBagOxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Carany pursuant to Securities and Exchange Act Redel¥(a)/15(d-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 and 404 of theaBagOxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

Section 1350 Certifications

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and ChiEfnancial Officer of the Company pursuant to 18 .G.SSection 1350 :
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002, file herewith.

* Management contracts or compensatory plansiredjto be filed as exhibits pursuant to Item IYofcthis report
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Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT AT DECEMBER 31, 2011

The companies listed below are directly or indiseotvned 100% by GSE Systems, Inc. and are inclunléd consolidated financial statements.
«GSE Engineering Systems (Beijing) Company Ltd., GBldite Software, Inc., GSE Power Systems AB, G8&ktess Solutions, Inc., GSE
Services Company L.L.C., MSHI, Inc., GSE Systents,LTAS Engineering Consultants Ltd., Teesside Aation Services Ltd., GSE
EnVision, Inc., and EnVision Systems (India) Pwd.|.are wholly owned subsidiaries of GSE Systdnts,

+«GSE Government & Military Simulation Systems, ligca wholly owned subsidiary of GSE Power Systdnrs,which is a wholly owned
subsidiary of MSHI, Inc

«EnVision Systems (India) Pvt. Ltd. is a wholly owngubsidiary of GSE EnVision, Inc.

«Teesside is a wholly owned subsidiary of GSE TA8i®ering Consultants Ltd.

Name Place of Incorporation or Organizati
GSE Engineering Systems (Beijing) Company, Peoples Republic of Chir
GSE Erudite Software, In State of Delawar

GSE Power Systems A Sweder

GSE Process Solutions, Ir State of Delawar

GSE Services Company L.L. State of Delawar

MSHI, Inc. State of Virginia

GSE Systems Ltc United Kingdom

GSE Government & Military Simulation Systems, | State of Delawar

GSE Power Systems, Ir State of Delawar

TAS Engineering Consultants Lt United Kingdom
Teesside Automation Services L United Kingdom

GSE EnVision, Inc State of New Jerse

EnVision Systems (India) Pvt. Lt India



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Director
GSE Systems, In

We consent to the incorporation by reference inréggstration statements No. 333-138702 and No-13®249 on Form 8-and registratic
statements No. 333-161121, No. 333-147537, No.13B®23, No. 333-143199, No. 333-134569 and No. BB%72 on Form 8- of GSE
Systems, Inc. of our reports dated March 8, 201th respect to the consolidated balance sheetsS&f Systems, Inc. as of December 31, 201:
2010, and the related consolidated statements exfatipns, comprehensive income (loss), changewakisolders’equity and cash flows, for ec
of the years in the thregear period ended December 31, 2011, and the wfeesss of internal control over financial repagtias of December &
2011, which reports appear in the December 31, 20tLial Report on Form 10-K of GSE Systems, Inc.

/sl KPMG LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 8, 2012



Exhibit 24.1

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persoroat signature appears below constitutes and agptantes A. Eberle a
Jeffery G. Hough, and each of them, with full pow&substitution and reconstitution and each with fower to act for him and without the ott
as his true and lawful attorneydaet and agent, for him and in his name, place stedd, in any and all capacities, to sign any alt
amendments to this Annual Report on FormKl@nd to file the same, with all exhibits therated all documents in connection therewith, witr
Securities and Exchange Commission or any staéatigg unto said attorneys-faet and agents, and each of them, full power arldoaity to dc
and perform each and every act and thing requasitbnecessary to be done in and about the prenaisdslly to all intents and purposes as
she might or could do in person, hereby ratifyimgl @onfirming all that said attorneysfimet and agents, or any of them, or their, his e
substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or cateske done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Security Exghakct of 1934, this Annual Report on Form HGras been signed by the follow
persons in the capacities and on the date indicated

Date: February 29, 2012 /sl James A. Eber
James A. Eberl
Chief Executive Officer and Direct
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: February 29, 2012 /sl Jeffery G. Houg
Jeffery G. Hougt
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Date: February 29, 2012 /sl Jerome |. Feldme

Jerome |. Feldma
Chairman of the Boar

Date: February 29, 2012 /s/ Dr. Sheldon L. Glasho
Dr. Sheldon L. Glashoy
Director

Date: February 29, 2012 /s/ Dr. Roger Hagengrub

Dr. Roger Hagengrub
Director

Date: February 29, 2012 /sl Joseph W. Lewi

Joseph W. Lewi
Director

Date: February 29, 2012 /sl Jane Bryant Quin

Jane Bryant Quin
Director

Date: February 29, 2012 /sl O. Lee Tawes, lI

O. Lee Tawes, Il
Director




Exhibit 31.1
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer

I, James A. Eberle, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forn-K of GSE Systems, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitéde a material fact necessary to mak
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuntiech such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,aher financial information included in this amhuweport, fairly present in all mater
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant, as of, andthe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesld procedures (as definec
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) aretriat control over financial reporting (as definadExchange Act Rules 13eb(f) anc
15c¢-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and proceduries tiesigned under our supervis
to ensure that material information relating to tagistrant, including its consolidated subsidisris made known to us by others wii
those entities, particularly during the period inieh this report is being prepare

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipg; or caused such internal control over finahcéporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtide reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registianlisclosure controls and procedures and presémtdds report are conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prors] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsainternal control over financial reporting thadcurred during the registrastfourtt
quarter that has materially affected or is reashriéddely to materially affect, the registré's internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrans other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxhon our most recent evaluation of internal abmtver financial reporting,
the registrar' s auditors and the audit committee of regis’s board of director

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesse the design or operation of internal controkio¥inancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmancial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéatin the registrand’ interna
control over financial reporting

Date: March 8, 201 /s/ James A. Eber!
James A. Eberl
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer

I, Jeffery G. Hough, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forn-K of GSE Systems, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitéde a material fact necessary to mak
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuntiech such statements were made, not misleaditigrespect to the period covered by
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,atiner financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respe
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant, as of, and for, teeqas presented in this repc

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsible éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contesld procedures (as definec
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) aretriat control over financial reporting (as definadExchange Act Rules 13eb(f) anc
15c¢-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and proceduries tiesigned under our supervis
to ensure that material information relating to tagistrant, including its consolidated subsidisris made known to us by others wii
those entities, particularly during the period inieh this report is being prepare

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipg; or caused such internal control over finahcéporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtide reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registmudtisclosure controls and procedures and presémtdds report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prors] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regitsainternal control over financial reporting thad¢curred during the registrastmos
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabr® that has materially affected or is reasondikily
to materially affect, the registré' s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrans other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxhon our most recent evaluation of internal amtver financial reporting,
the registrar' s auditors and the audit committee of regis’s board of directors

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknes$e the design or operation of internal controko¥inancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmancial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significé@tin the registrand’ interna
control over financial reporting

Date: March 8, 201 Is/ Jeffery G. Houg
Jeffery G. Hougt
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fGSE Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) for the yeadexhDecember 31, 2011 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the datehghe “Report”), |, James A. Eberle, Chief ExaeetOfficer of the Company, and I, Jeffery
G. Hough, Senior Vice President and Chief Finar©ificer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectiorb@3as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that,

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

2. To my knowledge, the information contained in thepBrt fairly presents, in all material respects, financial condition and results
operations of the Compan

Date: March 8, 2012 /sl James A. Eber /sl Jeffery G. Houg
James A. Eberl Jeffery G. Hougt
Chief Executive Office Senior Vice President and Ch

Financial Officer



